A Peptide Array for Bovine-Specific Kinome Analysis: Comparative Analysis of Bovine Monocytes Activated by TLR4 and TLR9 agonists

> A Thesis Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree of Master of Science In the Department of Biochemistry University of Saskatchewan By Shakiba Jalal

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis as partial fulfillment of the requirements for a postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any matter, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes, may be granted by the professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that copying or publication of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any materials in my thesis.

Request for permission to copy or to make use of other materials in this thesis, in whole or in part, should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Biochemistry University of Saskatchewan 107 Wiggins Road Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, S7N 5E5

ABSTRACT

As phosphorylation represents the pivotal mechanism for regulation of biological processes, kinases belong to one of the most biologically significant enzyme classes. The development of analytical techniques for characterization of kinase activity, in particular at a global scale, is a central priority for proteomic and cell biology researchers. In order to facilitate global analysis of cellular phosphorylation, a new paradigm of microarray technology which focuses on analysis of total cellular kinase activity, kinome, has emerged in the past few years. As the specificity of many kinases is dictated primarily by recognition of residues immediately surrounding the site of phosphorylation a logical methodology is to employ peptides representing these immediate sequences as experimental substrates. Microarray chips carrying hundreds of such substrate targets have been developed for human kinome analysis, however, lack of similar tools for species outside research mainstream has limited kinome analysis in these species.

Based on sequence alignment of orthologous phosphoproteins from mammalian species, conservation of amino acid identity is reported to be 80 %. Accordingly, the potential exists to utilize phosphorylation sequence databases to extrapolate phosphorylation sites in other species based on their genomic sequence information. Peptides representing these proposed phosphorylation sites can then be utilized as substrates to quantify the activity of the corresponding kinase. Based on these principles, a bovine microarray of 300 unique peptide targets was constructed. The bovine phosphorylation targets were selected to represent a spectrum of cellular events but with focus on processes related to innate immunity.

Initial application and validation of the bovine peptide arrays was carried out for kinome analysis of bovine blood monocytes stimulated with either lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or CpG-ODNs; ligands for Toll-like receptors (TLR) 4 and 9, respectively. The arrays confirmed activation of the known TLR signaling pathway as well as identifying receptor-specific phosphorylation events. Phosphorylation events not previously attributed to TLR activation were also identified and validated by independent bioassays. This investigation offers insight into the complexity of TLR signaling and more importantly verifies the potential to use bioinformatics approaches to create tools for species-specific kinome analysis based on genomic information.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is with great pleasure that I take this opportunity to first thank my supervisor, Dr. Scott Napper. I was very fortunate to have such a tremendous source of guidance and support. Thank you for allowing me to be part of your lab and for your continued advice and encouragements.

I would like to acknowledge with heartfelt gratitude the members of my committee: Drs. Philip Griebel, Ramji Khandelwal, Rob Warrington and Ronald Geyer, as well as Vikram Misra, my external examiner. Your guidance and suggestions were greatly appreciated during my graduate work. This also extends to Dr. Bill Roesler for discussing science career options and his encouragements.

I would also like to thank everyone at the Vaccine and Infectious Disease Organization for creating a cooperative and friendly research environment. Before I started my graduate studies, I had the privilege to work with a fantastic group of scientists: Drs. Andrew Potter, Heather Wilson, Philip Griebel and Palok Aich. You made my transition from computer science to natural sciences effortless. Thank you for being such remarkable mentors. Acknowledgements also go to all members of my lab particularly Ryan Arsenault, Yurij Popowych, Jean Potter, Jason Kindrachuck, Robert Brownie and Wayne Conner for their friendship, advice and technical support.

I could have not completed my graduate work without the support of my family and friends. I would like to thank my mom and all my siblings for their steady support and encouragements and all my friends who have constantly cheered me on and helped me through some difficult times. Through your friendship and confidence in me, I have accomplished much more than I ever thought possible.

Finally, I would like to thank my boyfriend and best friend, Shane Giroux. You have inspired me to ask questions and find my true purpose in life. You have brought much joy to my life and I very much appreciate your patience and love during my graduate studies.

For financial support, I would like to thank the College of Medicine, the College of Virtual Biotechnology, the Department of Biochemistry, and the Vaccine and Infectious Disease Organization at the University of Saskatchewan as well as Genome Canada.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USEi	
ABSTRACTii	
ACKNOLEDGEMENTiii	
TABLE OF CONTNETSiv	
LIST OF TABLESvii	
LIST OF FIGURESviii	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSix	
1.0 LITERATURE REVIEW1	
1.1 Kinases and Phosphorylation	1
1.1.1 Kinase Specificity	2
1.2 Methods for Studying Phosphorylation	2
1.2.1 Phosphoproteome Analysis	3
1.2.2 Kinome Analysis	4
1.2.2.1 Peptides as Kinase Substrates	5
1.2.2.2 Peptide Arrays for Kinome Analysis	5
1.2.2.3 Detection of Peptide Array Signals	7
1.2.2.3.1 Quantification of Kinome Activity	9
1.2.2.4 Peptide Array Design	9
1.2.2.4.1 Knowledge-based Peptide Design	9
1.2.2.4.2 Bioinformatics for Sequence Determination	10
1.3 The Innate Immune System	10
1.3.1 Pattern Recognition Receptors	12
1.4 The Toll-like Receptors	12
1.4.1 Members of the Toll-like Receptor Family	13
1.5 Structure of the Toll-like Receptors	18
1.5.1 Extracellular Domain	18
1.5.2 TIR Domain19	
1.6 Cellular Localization of Toll-like Receptors	20

1.6.1 Intracellular Members	20
1.6.1.1 TLR9 and its Oligodeoxynucleotide Ligand	20
1.6.2 Extracellular Members	22
1.6.2.1 TLR4 and its Lipopolysaccharide Ligand	22
1.7 TLR Signal Transduction	23
1.7.1 General TLR Pathway	23
1.7.2 Receptor-specific Pathways	26
1.8 Levels of TLR Signaling Control	29
1.8.1 Regulated Expression of Receptor on Different Cell Populations	29
1.8.1.1 B Cells	29
1.8.1.2 Monocytes	30
1.8.1.3 Dendritic Cells	31
1.8.2 Phosphorylation-Mediated Signal Transduction in TLR Activation	31

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS33	
3.1 Reagents and Chemicals	33
3.2 Bovine Peptide Array Development	33
3.2.1 Peptides Selection Process	33
3.2.2 Designing Bovine Peptides	33
3.2.3 Peptides Synthesis and Spotting	37
3.3 MACS Isolation of Bovine Blood Monocytes	38
3.4 FACS analysis	38
3.5 Treatment of Monocytes	39
3.5.1 CpG-treatment	39
3.5.2 LPS-treatment	39
3.6 Peptide Array Analysis	39
3.6.1 Kinome Analysis of Bovine Monocytes	39
3.6.2 Measuring Signal Intensity for Array Peptides	40
3.6.3 Signal Intensity Calculation	40
3.6.4 Statistical Analysis on Signal Intensities	41

3.7 Western Blot Analysis	41
3.7.1 Detection of Phosphorylated Ekt	41
3.8 Measuring Protein Kinase A Activity	42
3.9 Quantification of Oxidative Burst	. 42
4.0 RESULTS43	
4.1 Development of Bovine Peptide Array	. 43
4.1.1 Available Phosphorylation Motifs for Human Proteins	43
4.1.2 Comparison of Human Phosphorylation motifs to Bovine Proteins	. 43
4.2 Phosphorylation Activity Detection in LPS and CpG Treated Monocytes	44
4.2.1 FACS Analysis of Isolated Monocytes	44
4.2.2 Bovine Peptide Array Results	44
4.2.2.1 Activation of NF-kB pathway	53
4.2.2.2 Activation of Receptor-specific Pathways	57
4.3 Physiological Responses of LPS and CpG Treated Monocytes	59
4.3.1 Western Blot with Phospho-Etk Antibody	59
4.3.2 Measuring Protein Kinase A Activity	.59
4.3.3 Oxidative Burst	60
5.0 DISCUSSION	
5.1 Kinome and Phosphoproteome	64
5.2 Design of a Bovine Peptide Array	64
5.2.1 Non-Specific Peptides	64
5.2.2 Non-Reacting Peptides	65
5.3 Biological Relevance of LPS and CpG Treated Monocytes	.66
5.3.1 Activated Signaling Pathways	.66
5.3.2 Biological Rationale for Distinct TLR Responses	.69
5.4 Advantages and Disadvantages of Peptide Arrays	.70
5.5 Future Direction	.72
6.0 REFERENCES75	
7.0 APPENDICES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. List of selected chemicals, reagents and their supplies	34
Table 4.1. Analysis of bovine peptides as compared to human homologs	44
Table 4.2. Phosphorylation of substrate peptides by kinases in LPS and CpG ODN stin	mulated
monocytes	50
Table 5.1. A list of non-specific peptides	67
Table 5.2. A list of non-reacting peptides.	68
Table A1. Protein names and target amino acids for peptides on the bovine array	100
Table A2. Peptide sequences printed on the bovine peptide array	102
Table A3. All data for the peptide arrays with CpG and LPS treated monocytes	104

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Methods of phosphorylation detection	.8
Figure 1.2. Common TLR signaling pathway	.24
Figure 1.3. Receptor specific TLR signaling pathways	27
Figure 4.1. FACS analysis of purified bovine CD14 ⁺ monocytes	46
Figure 4.2. Pseudo images of peptide arrays for LPS, CpG and media stimulated cells	.47
Figure 4.3. Altered phosphorylation events following LPS and CpG stimulation	.48
Figure 4.4. Signaling pathway for known phosphorylation events of TLR4 and TLR94	49
Figure 4.5. Etk phosphorylated due to LPS stimulation of CD14 ⁺ human monocytes	58
Figure 4.6. PKA activity in bovine monocytes following LPS and CpG stimulation	61
Figure 4.7. Superoxide production in LPS and CpG stimulated monocytes	63
Figure A1. Mapping of the Bovine Peptide Array) 9

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AP-1	activating protein 1
APC	antigen presenting cell
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
Btk	Bruton's tyrosine kinase
Casp8	caspase 8
cDC	conventional dendritic cell
cDNA	complementary DNA sequence
COX-2	cyclo-oxygenase-2
CpG	cytosine-phosphate-guanosine
DD	death domain
dsRNA	double-stranded RNA
DTT	dithiothreitol
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
EGTA	ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	extracellular regulated MAP kinase
EST	expressed sequence tag
FADD	Fas-associated death domain
FAK	Focal Adhesion Kinase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
GPI	glycosyl phosphatidylinositol
H. pylori	Helicobacter pylori
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HRP	Horse radish peroxidase
HSV	herpes simplex virus
IFN	Type I Interferon
IKK	IkB kinase

IL	interleukin
IL-1R	interleukin-1 receptor IRAK interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase
iNOS	nitric oxide synthetase
IRF	interferon regulatory factor
IκB	inhibitor of kappaB
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
L. pneumophil	a Legionella pneumophila
LBP	lipopolysaccharide binding protein
LP	lipoprotein/lipopeptide
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LRR	leucine-rich repeat
LTR	long terminal repeat
MAP3K	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MHCI/II	major histocompatibility complex class I/II
MMTV	mouse mammary tumor virus
MyD88	myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B
NK	natural killer cell
NVOC	nitroveratryloxycarbonyl- γ -amino butyric acid
ODN	oligodeoxynucleotide PAMP pathogen-associated molecular pattern
ORNs	synthetic oligoribonucleotides
PAMPs	pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PBSA	phosphate-buffered saline
PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PD	phosphodiester
pDC	plasmacytoid dendritic cell
РКА	protein kinase A
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride
poly(I:C)	polyriboinosinic:polyribocytidylic acid

PRR	pattern recognition receptor
РТО	phosphorothioate
RNase	RNA endonuclease
RSV	respiratory syncytial virus
SAM	self assembled monolayer
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
SPR	surface plasmon resonance
ssRNA	single-stranded RNA
TBST	Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20
TICAM-1	Toll-IL-1 receptor domain containing adaptor molecule-1
TIR	Toll/interleukin-1 receptor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TLR-/-	TLR knockout
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TRAF	TNF-receptor-associated factor
Y. pestis	Yersinia pestis

1.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Kinases and Phosphorylation

The reversible modification of proteins through the enzymatic addition of phosphoryl groups to the hydroxyls of specific amino acids such as tyrosine, serine and threonine is speculated to occur on up to half of the human proteome (Zhang *et al.*, 2002). While the phosphohydroxyl linkages are chemically stable, they are readily reversed through the action of opposing phosphatase enzymes. The net phosphorylation status of the phosphoproteome, therefore, represents the collective influences of the protein kinases and phosphatases.

An estimated 2% of the genes within the human genome code for either protein kinases or phosphatases (Hunter, 1995; Manning *et al.*, 2002; Alonso *et al.*, 2004). This corresponds to over 500 distinct kinases, only a fraction of which have been characterized with respect to their substrate targets and physiological functions. The frequency of protein phosphorylation is matched by its functional importance. Phosphorylation serves to regulate a variety of critical aspects of protein behavior including activity, stability, cellular localization and interacting partners. Regulation of protein function through phosphorylation is observed in virtually every cellular process including metabolism, cell division, apoptosis and signal transduction. As important players in signal transduction pathways, protein kinases play roles in transducing, amplifying or integrating upstream signals.

There are two main groups of kinases: protein serine/threonine and tyrosine kinases. Such classification is based on the substrate specificity of kinases. Eukaryotic protein kinases belong to a single superfamily of protein kinases (ePKS) and within their catalytic domains, share extensive sequence and structural homologies. The kinase catalytic domain consists of 11 subdomains (Hanks and Hunter, 1995) and is folded into a smaller N-terminal and a larger C-terminal lobe. While the N-terminus is the ATP binding site and contains a glycine rich loop (P-loop), the C-terminus is considered the activation lobe and consists of a conserved activation loop (T-loop) which is regulated by phosphorylation. A substrate binds to the cleft between the N and C-terminal lobes (Kobe *et al.*, 2005). Human kinases, in addition to the catalytic domain, carry other functional domains. To date, 83 different domains have been reported in the human kinome (Krupa and Srinivasan, 2002; Manning *et al.*, 2002). These domains are involved in

other aspects of kinase functions such as molecular interactions, localization and regulation. For example, Src homology 2 (SH2) and SH3 domains are two commonly encountered kinase domains (Manning *et al.*, 2002).

1.1.1 Kinase Specificity

Cellular signaling accuracy and integrity depends highly on kinase specificity. Two critical elements determine kinase specificity: 1) Identity of phosphorylation target and residues around it and 2) recruitment of substrate.

Binding of protein kinases to their substrates have been investigated through the analysis of the three-dimensional structures of protein kinases bound to peptide substrates. It is been reported that both classes of kinases bind their substrates in an extended conformation with the same orientation of the substrate peptide chain relative to the protein kinase (Hubbard *et al.*, 1997; Brinkworth *et al.*, 2003). Early investigations into the kinase specificity were focused on the importance of phosphorylation sites and residues around it (Tessmer *et al.*, 1977; Kemp *et al.*, 1990) leading to the subsequent tabulation, compilation of databases and rationalization of phosphorylation motifs (Kreegipuu *et al.*, 1998).

The second factor that plays an important role in kinase specificity is recruitment of substrate by the kinase which plays a critical role in determining substrate preference. Substrate recruitment is any process that can bring a kinase and a substrate in close proximity, thus increasing the effective concentration of the substrate and the chance of forming the enzyme–substrate complex. Some of the mechanisms of substrate recruitment inclue binding of the substrate to the regulatory domain of a kinase, or to a site distinct from the active site on the catalytic domain of the kinase (Lee *et al.*, 2004); binding of the kinase and substrate to the substrate to the same scaffolding protein (Faux and Scott, 1997); or co-localization of the enzyme and the substrate to a small subregion of the cell.

1.2 Methods of Studying Phosphorylation

While a variety of experimental approaches have been developed for analysis of cellular phosphorylation, they can be functionally divided into two categories, kinome and phosphoproteome analysis. The distinction is based upon whether the focus is on the protein kinases that mediate cellular phosphorylation events, the kinome, or the protein targets of these enzymes, the phosphoproteome. While these terms are often used interchangeably, they represent distinct experimental approaches, albeit to the same biological phenomena.

The value of either kinome or phosphoproteome analysis is determined by the ability to accurately describe the underlying biology of cellular phosphorylation. Phosphoproteome and kinome investigations are generally comparative in nature with interest in characterizing differential patterns of phosphorylation in response to a particular stimulus or cellular event. Within this context there are a number of questions that are typically of interest: 1) Which proteins are phosphorylated and at what sites? 2) Under what conditions are particular proteins differentially phosphorylated? i.e under what conditions are the associated kinases activated? 3) Which kinases mediate these phosphorylation events? and 4) What are the functional consequences of phosphorylation both to individual proteins being modified as well as to the overall cellular response? There is no one analytical technique that can single-handedly address all these questions, but through the application of the complimentary approaches of phosphorylation.

While the analytical capabilities for the description of the phosphorylation status of a single protein, or the quantification of the enzymatic activities of a single kinase, are becoming increasingly routine, the major challenge to both phosphoproteome and kinome analysis is for the development of capabilities for global characterization. This reflects a growing trend in biological investigations towards more systems approach to more fully appreciate the context and interplay of biological responses.

1.2.1 Phosphoproteome Analysis

The objective of phosphoproteome analysis is to define the members of this subpopulation of proteins and to identify their specific points of modification. While this shares many of the challenges associated with traditional proteomic analysis, it is experimentally complicated by the scarcity of many of the members of the phosphoproteome, the dynamic nature of this entity and the tendency of the remainder of the proteome to overwhelm, or actively suppress, detection of the phosphoproteome.

One of the most significant challenges to phosphoproteome analysis is the low abundance of phosphoproteins relative to the proteome. This consists of two elements. Firstly, while a significant fraction of the proteins undergoes phosphorylation, many of these proteins, in particular those which are involved in signal transduction, are expressed at very low levels. Therefore the proteins that are of greatest interest are among the most poorly represented. This is exasperated by the fact that many of these low abundance proteins are phosphorylated in substoichiometric levels such that only a small fraction are modified at any given time. It is estimated that only 1-2% of the total amount of an individual member of the phosphoproteome is present in the phosphorylated form (Schlessinger, 1993; Mann *et al.*, 2002; Kalume *et al.*, 2003; Raggiaschi *et al.*, 2005).

As a consequence of their low abundance, one of the central challenges and prerequisites for phosphoproteome analysis is the ability to discriminate these modified proteins from the remainder of the proteome. This can be achieved either through enrichment of phosphorylated proteins on the basis of the post-translational modification, prior to experimental analysis, or by separation of all the members of the proteome with subsequent phosphorylation-specific detection methods. In either strategy, the techniques employed need to be reproducible, specific for phosphorylation, but generally applicable to different types of phosphorylation. A number of experimental approaches have been employed to this end, most notably two-dimensional electrophoresis, antibody microarray and mass spectrometry.

1.2.2 Kinome Analysis

While the well-defined and highly conserved chemistry of phosphorylation reactions make it straightforward to characterize the enzymatic activity of an isolated kinase and its substrate, the challenge is in the application to global models. There are two primary obstacles to the development of a technology that permits global analysis of kinase activity. These are the creation of appropriate kinase substrates and the expansion of scale to permit simultaneously evaluation of hundreds of kinases to thousands of phosphorylation sites. Assays for the evaluation of the activity of a single kinase enzyme are relatively straight-forward provided an appropriate substrate molecule is available. The challenge of expansion of scale parallels those encountered in gene expression analysis in the transition from Northern blot analysis of selected genes to analysis of global patterns of gene expression. Not surprisingly, as array technology permits global analysis of gene expression, arrays have similar potential for investigations of protein-based biological events.

1.2.2.1 Peptides as Kinase Substrates

For many protein kinases, recognition of phosphoacceptor substrates has been shown to be dependent on amino acid residues surrounding the site of phosphorylation rather than higher order tertiary structure effects (Kemp *et al.*, 1975). Synthetic peptides modeled on the site of phosphorylation can be excellent kinase substrates with values of Vmax and Km approaching that of the natural substrate (Zetterquist *et al.*, 1976; Kemp *et al.*, 1977).

Utilization of such peptides has various advantages over complete protein sequences: they are easily synthesized and manipulated, are inexpensive to produce and highly stable. Preparation of arrays having hundreds to thousands of immobilized peptides offers an unprecedented opportunity for investigating the activities of hundreds of kinase enzymes and serve as valuable tools for profiling cellular activities.

In some cases peptide substrates may not serve as ideal ligands for the corresponding protein kinase. There is the danger for the assignment of false positives as a result of phosphorylation of a particular peptide by a kinase other than the one that mediates cellular phosphorylation. For this reason it is important to verify kinomic results through alternative methodologies that permit direct characterization of phosphorylation status such as phosphosphorspecific Western blots. That the peptides are recognized by the correct protein kinase, but with lower efficiency than when the sequence is in the context of an intact protein, also presents the danger for false negatives where the activity of a kinase may be underestimated. For this reason it is difficult to make quantitative comparisons of the levels of activities of different kinases based upon the extents of phosphorylation of their corresponding peptides substrates. It is more appropriate to make comparison of the relative levels of activity of a particular kinase under different experimental conditions.

1.2.2.2 Peptide Arrays for Kinome Analysis

Array technology is being applied to monitor protein-based biomolecular interactions, including protein-substrate interactions (Blackburn and Hart, 2005), receptor-ligand interactions, antibody-antigen recognition (Kukar *et al.*, 2002), determination enzymatic activities (Zhu *et al.*, 2003), and specificities (Kim *et al.*, 2005). Not surprisingly, it appears as though similar application of array technology will permit the advancement of kinome analysis.

One of the earliest applications of array technology for kinome analysis was screening the majority of kinases of yeast against a limited number of selected substrates. In this investigation full-length proteins were printed onto the arrays and evaluated for their ability to act as substrates for the yeast kinases (Zhu *et al.*, 2000). While these arrays were simple relative to the total proteome, this was a pivotal study for demonstrating the potential for array technology to permit rapid screening of substrates for determination of kinase specificity.

Synthetic peptide libraries have served as valuable tools for investigation of kinase specificity determinants (Till et al., 1994; Songyang et al., 1995). A critical outcome of these investigations was the demonstration of the ability for peptides, specifically in the context of arrays, to function as comparable ligands as the natural protein targets. Through the marriage of peptides as protein kinase substrates, and the application of array technology, it becomes feasible to construct an array that will permit large scale evaluation of the kinome. The potential for such an approach was first demonstrated by Houseman and Mrksich with an array constructed with peptides substrates to a non-receptor tyrosine kinase c-Src (Houseman and Mrksich, 2002). It was verified that this tool could be used to quantitatively evaluate kinase activity. Hence, in principle, an array exhibiting specific consensus sequences for protein kinases across the entire kinome would allow a comprehensive detection of signal transduction events in whole cell lysates. The application of peptide arrays for studying signal transduction events that are associated with specific stimuli or cellular events have been reported. One of the earliest reports involved generation of the first comprehensive description of the temporal kinetics of phosphorylation events induced by LPS. This methodology identified a novel kinase whose involvement in Toll-like signaling was not previously suspected and the results were confirmed through more traditional forms of analysis (Diks et al., 2004). Peptide arrays also proved a powerful tool for investigation of effects of glucocorticoid on insulin signaling pathways. An array with 1176 different kinase consensus substrates was employed to demonstrate inhibitions of the insulin receptor and several downstream signaling intermediates in response to glucocorticoid treatment. Importantly these effects were transcriptionalindependent and would have been undetectable by traditional genomic analysis (Lowenberg et al., 2005b). In a related investigating the application of the same peptide array was able to demonstrate that the immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids are mediated through the tyrosine kinases Lck and Fyn (Lowenberg et al., 2005a).

1.2.2.3 Detection of Peptide Array Signals

A number of strategies are available for the detection and quantification of the incorporated phosphoryl groups to immobilized peptides. These include radiolabeling, fluorescent antibodies and chelators as well as surface plasmon resonance (**Figure 1.1**).

Radioisotopes: When $[\gamma^{-32}/^{33}P]$ -ATP is added to the kinase reaction mix, transfer of a radiolabeled phosphoryl group is catalyzed to a threonine, tyrosine or serine residue of the consensus sequences on the array (MacBeath and Schreiber, 2000; Falsey *et al.*, 2001; Diks *et al.*, 2004). Phosphorylation can be detected and quantified by exposing the array to a Phosphor Imager screen (Falsey *et al.*, 2001; Diks *et al.*, 2004).

Care must be taken in employing $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP with peptides spotted on cellulose supports as the high peptide densities can create electrostatic traps for ATP, in particular with cationic peptides, creating false positives. Glass slides are more amenable to radioactive detection methods as their peptide density are approximately six orders of magnitude lower. Even though the usage of isotopes provides a very sensitive way to measure phosphorylation, due to the risk of handling and usage of radioactive material, researchers are turning to alternative techniques.

Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging: Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) imaging is a well established technique for studying molecular interactions (Rich and Myszka, 2000). However, it is still in its infancy for use with peptide array technology. An SPR biosensor characterizes interaction of molecules on a solid surface and a solution. The solid surface of a peptide array is required to be coated with gold or other noble metals (Wegner *et al.*, 2002). As a proof-of-concept Wegner et al. monitored interaction of peptides on a microarray with antibodies in solution (Wegner *et al.*, 2002). Inamori's group established a new method: capturing phosphorylated residues of peptides with biotinylated zinc (II) complex and detecting them with streptavidin by SPR technique (Inamori *et al.*, 2005). This detection method is independent of the amino acid residues so that detection all phosphorylated peptides on an array is possible using a single-probe complex. This system is quantitative for phosphorylation efficiency.



Figure 1.1. Summary of methods for detection of phosphorylated peptides. A) ATP labeled with an isotope such as ^{32/33}P is added during the kinase reaction and phosphorylation is detected with a Phospho-Imager. B) Fluorescently labeled Phosphorylation-specific antibodies are added after the kinase reaction is complete, and phosphorylated peptides are detected by a fluorescence scanner. C) A labeled phosphoamino acid chelator is added after the kinase reaction is complete. Surface plasmon resonance, MALDI-TOF and MS is used for detection D) Phosphorylation-specific antibodies are added first to bind to phosphorylated residues and then fluorescently labeled antibodies are added to bind phosphorylation-specific antibodies. Adapted from Jalal 2007.

Fluorescence: This technique relies on fluorescently-labeled antibodies or chelators that bind to phosphorylated residues. Lesaicherre *et al.* were the first to develop this detection method (Lesaicherre *et al.*, 2002). After the kinase reaction is completed, fluorescently-tagged antibodies are added onto the slide to bind the phosphorylated residues of the peptides. Binding of antibodies to the peptides is very sensitive; as little as femtomol antibodies of phosphorylated epitopes can be recognized by the antibodies (Lesaicherre *et al.*, 2002). A fluorescence scanner is used to scan an image of the array. Unlike the radioisotope based technique, this method is safe and phosphorylation can be detected immediately after antibody binding.

The concerns associated with antibodies for detection of phosphorylation events parallel those presented with the application of phosphospecific antibodies in 2D-gels. A recent investigation examined the ability for phosphospecific antibodies to recognize their epitopes in the context of a peptide array. While monoclonal antibodies to phosphotyrosine residues demonstrated a high degree of specificity, antibodies for phosphoserine residues gave high rates of false positives and phosphothreonine antibodies showed concerning levels of cross-reactivity with the phosphoserine residues (Panse *et al.*, 2004).

1.2.2.3.1 Quantification of Kinome Activity

While the extent of phosphorylation of a particular peptide is readily quantified, comparative analysis across different peptides is problematic as the ability for individual kinases to recognize and act on the appropriate sequences in the context of a peptide array will be unique for each kinase. Therefore while the absolute activities of the kinases cannot be determined, it is possible to report relative levels of activities of individual kinases under different physiological conditions.

1.2.2.4 Peptide Array Design

1.2.2.4.1 Knowledge-based Peptide Design

Online databases such as Phosphosite (<u>www.phosphosite.org</u>) and Phosphobase (phospho.elm.eu.org) are compilations of experimentally reported and manually curated peptide substrates for human, mouse and rat kinases. *In silico* analysis of such online resources can

allow identification of substrates of interest. *In silico* analysis of the Phosphobase enabled identification of consensus amino acid phosphorylation sequences for most kinases present in the mammalian genome (Kreegipuu *et al.*, 1999).

For example, Diks *et al.* produced a peptide array, in which peptides were derived from *in silico* analysis of Phosphobase data. Their analyses revealed that peptides of nine amino acids in length could provide sensitive and specific binding to the kinases of interest. The nanomers were chemically synthesized and covalently immobilized onto glass slides. This array proved of considerable value in characterizing signal transduction events associated with activation of the Toll-like system (Diks *et al.*, 2004).

1.2.2.4.2 Bioinformatics for Sequence Determination

Phosphobase and Phosphosite contain phosphorylation based data for well studied species such as human, rat and mouse. While such data are beneficial to researcher concerned with these species, not much data is available for other species. Our research group is interested in bovine kinomic analysis which requires a bovine-specific array.

To obtain bovine-specific consensus sequences we relied on sequence comparison and homology to collect a list of consensus peptides for bovine kinases of interest. By first identifying human peptides from Phoshobase and Phosphosite and employing the Blastp program from National Center for Biotechnology Information(NCBI) to compare collected human peptides against the NCBI bovine protein database. Blastp was set to retrieve short exact matches.

1.3 The Innate Immune System

A pathogen's detection and disposal, without damage to the host tissue, involves various mechanisms by the host immune system. Given the high molecular diversity of pathogens, and the frequent degree of mutations, the mammalian immune system has evolved mechanisms to meet such challenges. The mammalian immune system has been traditionally divided into two components: the innate and adaptive immunity (Hoffman *et al.*, 1999). Adaptive immunity is responsible for specific responses and long-term memory of encountered immunological challenges while innate immunity responses have broader specificity and are generated within minutes to limit early invasion and spread of pathogens (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004).

The adaptive immune response depends on two types of specialized immune cells, B and T lymphocytes. Each of these lymphocytes displays a structurally unique antigen receptor as a result of random gene rearrangements. The large repertoire of T and B receptors is highly diverse and it is extremely probable that one or more of these receptors will recognize an encountered antigen. Recognition of an antigen by the lymphocyte receptor triggers activation of the lymphocyte. To produce an efficient immune response, clonal expansion of the relevant lymphocytes is necessary. This typically takes 4-7 days, causing a delay in the immune response (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004). Such a delayed response against rapidly replicating pathogens can be detrimental to the host. Hence the innate immune system is in place as the first line of defense against encountered pathogens.

Innate immunity is considered the more evolutionarily ancient arm of the immune defense system. The same molecular modules of innate immunity are conserved across plants and animals indicating that the system existed before the split into these two kingdoms (Hoffman *et al.*, 1999; Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). From insects to large animals, the innate immune system serves as an indispensible component of the immune defense system. While the vertebrates' immune system consists of both innate and adaptive components, invertebrates lack adaptive immunity and rely entirely on the innate immunity (Medzhitov and Janeway, 1997).

An array of chemical, mechanical and cellular elements make up the innate immune system. First, the mechanical elements such as the epidermis and mucosa inhibit early penetration of pathogenic microorganisms. Binding of the pathogen to the host epithelium can trigger alarm signals resulting in the release of chemical elements such as chemokines and recruitment of other cellular elements, such as natural killer cells (NK), phagocytic cells, mast cells etc. These elements function in parallel to mount appropriate immune responses to rapidly eliminate infectious microorganisms. Major functions of the vertebrate innate immune system include: activation of the complement cascade and recruitment of immune cells to the site of infection, up-regulation of cytokines and chemokines expression resulting in inflammation, activation of immune cells to identify the pathogen and activate the adaptive immune system (Murray *et al.*, 2002).

Specific and appropriate engagement of the innate immune system is ensured by targeting highly conserved microbial molecules, pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which are produced by microbes but not by the host organism, such as bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Recognition and response to PAMPs is facilitated primarily through the pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) (Gordon, 2002). PAMPs are invariant between microbes within the same class which allows recognition of a large group of the microbes by a single PRR. All PAMPs are essential for survival of the microorganisms making it difficult to produce mutated PAMPs which can escape recognition by the innate immunity (Ulevitch, 2004).

1.3.1 Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs)

Central to the innate immune recognition mechanism is a set of receptors appropriately termed PRRs. These germline encoded protein structures have evolved over time and have defined specificities for their ligands. A limited number of PRRs exist, although with a broad level of specificity, they can recognize many ligands which share a common molecular pattern such as DNA, RNA, and bacterial lipopolysaccharide.

As the innate immune system recognizes infectious microorganisms in the early stages of an infection, these PRRs are expressed on cells that first encounter pathogens such as surface epithelium, antigen presenting cells (APCs), macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) (Gordon, 2002). In addition, a variety of other PRRs are expressed in intracellular compartments, or secreted into the bloodstream and tissue fluids (Janway and Medzhitov, 2002). PRRs are classified based on their cellular localization, target ligand group or function. For example, Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are the class of PRRs that are categorized based on their target ligands.

1.4 The Toll-like Receptors

The Toll-like nomenclature reflects similarity to Toll, a *Drosophila melanogaster* receptor essential in the establishment of dorsoventral polarity during embryogenesis, which was the first member of the Toll family to be identified (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1988). Analysis of *toll* gene sequence revealed that it encoded a transmembrane protein with a Leucine-rich extracellular domain and a cytoplasmic domain that was similar to the cytoplasmic domain of the mammalian interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R) (Gay and Keith, 1991). Moreover, it was discovered that *D. melanogaster* Toll was required for protection against fungal infection in the

adult fly (Lemaitre *et al.*, 1996), as well as being involved in the Nuclear Factor kappaB (NF- κ B) signaling pathway similar to the mammalian IL-1R (Belvin and Anderson, 1996).

A great deal of research has been directed towards discovering homologues of *D. melanogaster* Toll, referred to as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) in mammals (Medzhitov *et al.*, 1997; Rock *et al.*, 1998). Human Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) was the first TLR recognized to activate the NF- κ B signaling pathway similar to the *D. melanogaster* Toll. TLR4 was also reported to induce expression of cytokines and adaptive immune molecules through the NF- κ B pathway (Medzhitov *et al.*, 1997). Further studies in mice established that TLR4 acted as a receptor and signal transducer for bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to initiate innate immune responses (Poltorak *et al.*, 1998; Hoshino *et a.*, 1999; Qureshi *et al.*, 1999).

Mammalian TLRs belong to type I transmembrane proteins and are involved in recognition of a range of PAMPs (Janeway Jr. and Medzhitov, 2002). A wide variety of biomolecules have been identified which serve as TLR ligands, including microbial DNA for TLR9 (Krieg, 2002a) and LPS for TLR4 (Hoshino *et al.*, 1999). Most of these ligands are conserved microbial products (PAMPs) that indicate the presence of an infectious agent. They share some common characteristics, although each mammalian TLR has a unique function. First, all TLRs recognize one or more structurally unrelated ligands. Second, some TLRs are known to require additional proteins in order to bind their target ligands. Finally, TLRs act as PRRs by recognizing PAMPs as well as prompting activation of the adaptive immune responses (Bowie and O'Neill, 2000; Takeshita *et al.*, 2004).

1.4.1 Members of the Toll-like Receptor Family

To date, thirteen TLR family members have been discovered in mammals, including 11 human, 12 mouse and 10 bovine homologues. Based on expression patterns and activation of cellular functions, TLR members show diversity among mammalian species. TLR1 through 9 are conserved in humans, mice and bovine. TLR10 is expressed in humans and bovine, and a non-functional TLR10 has been detected in mice. TLR11 (also knows as TLR12) and TLR13 are present in mice with a pseudo-gene for TLR11 found in humans (Leulier and Lemaitre, 2008).

TLR1, TLR2, TLR6: These three TLR members belong to a subfamily based on their highly homologous amino acid sequences. Specifically at 66%, TLR1 and TLR6 have the highest amino acid sequence similarity among TLR family members and being located on the same chromosome, the two are thought to have duplicated from the same ancestral gene (Du *et al.*, 2000; Takeda *et al.*, 2003). Expression of TLR2 is seen on innate immune cells, as well as T and B cells (Lien *et al.*, 1999; Borsutzky *et al.*, 2005; Xu *et al.*, 2005; Imanishi *et al.*, 2007). Up-regulation of TLR2 is observed on mononuclear cells during influenza virus infection (Lee *et al.*, 2006), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Pons *et al.*, 2006) and sepsis (Harter *et al.*, 2004).

TLR2 recognizes a repertoire of lipoproteins/lipopeptides (LP) that are present in the cell wall of various micro-organisms. For TLR2 to recognize such a broad range of LP molecules, it has developed the ability to form dimers with TLR1 or TLR6 which prompts its activation. Whether TLR2 binds with TLR1 or TLR6 is dependent on the length and arrangement of fatty acids of the LP (Ozinsky *et al.*, 2000; Takeuchi *et al.*, 2001; Takeuchi *et al.*, 2002; Morr *et al.*, 2002). Reports also indicate that TLR2 activation by some LPs is independent of TLR1 or TLR6 (Buwitt-Beckmann *et al.*, 2005, 2006).

TLR4: TLR4 was the first member of the TLR family to be identified. LPS from Gram negative bacteria is the best studied ligand for TLR4. However, evidence also suggests that several other PAMPs such as fusion protein from respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and the envelope protein from mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) act as TLR4 ligands (Kurt-Jones *et al.*, 2000, Rassa *et al.*, 2002). In addition, host cellular molecules such as heat-shock proteins, hyaluronic acid and β -defensin 2 have also been reported to interact with TLR4 (Ohashi *et al.*, 2000; Biragyn *et al.*, 2002; Termeer *et al.*, 2002).

The immunostimulatory responses induced by LPS include up-regulation of proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-1 (Akira, 2004). If hyperinflammatory responses are produced, tissue injury and damage to the host body can follow. Sepsis is the consequence of hyperactivity of TLR4 and is the leading cause of death in the intensive care units, causing approximately 200,000 deaths in the United States annually (Angus *et al.*, 2001).

TLR5: Smith and colleagues were the first to identify bacterial flagellin as the agonist for TLR5 (Hayashi et al., 2001). Flagellin protein is abundantly expressed in flagella of Gramnegative bacteria which is necessary for locomotion and survival of these micro-organisms (Macnab et al., 1992). In recent years, Smith's group - through mutagenesis experimentsreported a 13 amino acid region of bacterial flagellin as the recognition site for TLR5. They discovered that the 13 amino acid cluster participated in intermolecular interactions within flagellar protofilaments and that were crucial for bacterial locomotion (Smith et al., 2003a). In contrast, the complementary interaction site on TLR5 was not identified until recently. Last year a new study by Smith's research group identified that interaction between TLR5 and its agonist depended on the tertiary structure of the TLR5 (Andersen-Nissen et al., 2007). Furthermore, they refuted previously published work by two research groups who had claimed the interaction to be based on the primary sequence of TLR5 (Jacchieri et al., 2003; Mizel et al., 2003). Two conserved regions that are expressed on the surface regions of TLR5 extracellular domain over a 228 amino acid span are reported as the interaction site between flagellin and TLR5. Binding of flagellin to a beta-sheet structure that is comprised of theses sites, activates TLR5 (Andersen-Nissen et al., 2007).

TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, TLR9: These TLRs are grouped together as they are expressed in intracellular compartments as well as identify nucleic acid ligands. These TLRs specifically identify foreign nucleic acids due to two reasons. First, intracellular localization is suggested to provide cytoplasmic shielding from self nucleic acid and allow recognition of foreign nucleic acids. Endogenous nucleic acids do not enter the endosomal compartment, while pathogens commonly transit through this compartment (Akira, 2006). Second, vertebrate nucleic acids carry several modified nucleosides present in rRNA and tRNA or methylated nucleosides in DNA which inhibits binding by these TLRs (Krieg *et al.*, 1995; Kariko *et al.*, 2005). Nevertheless, some researchers have reported self DNA and RNA causing autoimmune responses (Krieg, 2002b; Leadbetter *et al.*, 2002; Viglianti *et al.*, 2003; Baccala *et al.*, 2007).

TLR3: By recognizing viral double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), TLR3 is reported to initiate immune responses and confer protection against some viral infections (Alexopoulou *et al.*, 2001; Matsumoto *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, it is established that particular sterically and

spatially organized synthetic dsRNAs can act as TLR3 agonists as observed with polyriboinosinic:polyribocytidylic acid (poly(I:C)) (a synthetic analogue of dsRNA). Activated TLR3 signals via the adaptor protein Toll-IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain containing adaptor molecule-1 (TICAM-1) which in turn activates transcription factors such as NF-kB and AP-1 and leads to induced expression of Type I Interferon (IFN), inflammatory cytokine/chemokine production and myloid dendritic cell maturation (Oshiumi *et al.*, 2003; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003b).

TLR3 is predominantly expressed in the endosomal compartment of immune cells such as myeloid DCs and in the endosomal compartments as well as cell surface of fibroblast and epithelial cells (Cario *et al.*, 2000; Muzio *et al.*, 2000; Visintin *et al.*, 2001). Myloid DCs act as antigen presenting cells and activation of TLR3 in myloid DCs is suggested to generate adaptive immune responses, protection and memory against some viral infections (Heath, 2004). The mechanism of dsRNA recognition by TLR3 is still not understood.

TLR7/8: Single stranded RNA (ssRNA) from pathogenic viruses functions as ligand for TLR7/8 in humans as well as TLR7 in mouse (Heil *et al.*, 2004; Forsbach *et al.*, 2007; Hornung *et al.*, 2005; Melchjorsen *et al.*, 2005; Diebold *et al.*, 2006; Wang *et al.*, 2006). Uracil or uracil and guanosine rich ssRNA found in untranslated genomic end regions of RNA viruses are suggested to act as physiological pathogenic ligands for TLR7/8(Heil *et al.*, 2004; Forsbach *et al.*, 2007; Hornung *et al.*, 2005; Diebold *et al.*, 2006). As uracil rich sequences are also present in eukaryotic RNA (Vollmer *et al.*, 2005), it is unclear how TLR7/8 discriminates between self and foreign RNA. Although, some factors playing a role in such specificity of TLRs have been suggested such as the intracellular localization of TLR7/8 (Nishiya *et al.*, 2004, 2005; Sioud *et al.*, 2005) and the ability of cells to rapidly degrade unprotected self RNA in interstitial fluids by cellular RNAase allows discrimination of self from foreign RNA (Barton *et al.*, 2006).

Synthetic oligoribonucleotides (ORNs) containing guanosine and uracil complexed to liposomal or similar formulations have been shown to mimic pathogenic RNA effects and stimulate potent innate immune responses *in vivo* and *in vivo* (Diebold *et al.*, 2004; Heil *et al.*, 2004; Scheel *et al.*, 2004; Forsbach *et al.*, 2007; Vollmer *et al.*, 2005). Studies in mouse models demonstrate that such immune modulatory ORNs are efficient vaccine adjuvants and induce strong innate and adaptive immune responses (Scheel *et al.*, 2004; Bourguin *et al.*, 2007;

Hamm *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, in cancer research some small molecular compounds, imidazoquinolines in particular, induce the antitumor activity of TLR7/8 (Gorden *et al.*, 2005, 2006; Jurk *et al.*, 2006; Ma *et al.*, 2007). While a few compounds are currently applied for topical treatment of skin cancer, others are still in clinical trials (Schon and Schon, 2008)

TLR9: In the year 2000, TLR9 was cloned and identified as a receptor for bacterial and viral DNA rich in unmethylated cytosine-phosphate-guanine dinucleotides (CpG-DNA). TLR9 has evolved to discriminate between the host and pathogenic DNA as CpG-DNA either appears at low frequency or is highly methylated in the vertebrate's DNA (Hemmi *et al.*, 2000). The phosphodiester backbone of the native DNA is the target of cellular nucleases and as such native CpG-DNA is rapidly degraded. To create a more stable CpG-DNA, synthetic CpG-DNA (CpG-ODN) with a phosphorothioate (PTO) backbone is utilized in TLR9 investigations. TLR9 seems to be required for all immune stimulatory responses to synthetic PTO ODN which is supported by a complete loss of activity in mice genetically deficient for TLR9 (Hemmi *et al.*, 2000, 2003; Vollmer *et al.*, 2004a).

Expression patterns of TLR9 on immune cells differ among mammalian species. A limited number of cell types, B cells and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), and monocytes in humans express TLR9. Similar expression of TLR9 is also observed on bovine cells with the exception of monocytes (Griebel *et al.*, 2005). In contrast, B cells, monocytes, and probably all DC subsets express TLR9 in mice (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004). Consequently, TLR9 immune responses vary among different organisms making it unfeasible to extrapolate research conclusions across organisms.

Both innate and adaptive responses are reported via TLR9 activation. For example, while conventional dendritic cells (cDCs) and macrophages produce proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, 1L-12 and TNF- α , pDCs secrete Type I IFNs which in turn activates cytotoxic T cells and helper T cells. Mature DCs activated through TLR9 induce T cells to mount adaptive immune responses (Hemmi *et al.*, 2000, 2003; Liu, 2005; Havenar-Daughton *et al.*, 2006).

Although much data is available for TLR1 - TLR9 and TLR11 regarding their sequence, structure and biological significance, in comparison TLR10 - TLR13 have not been characterized to a significant level. For these TLRs their ligands, expression patterns and signaling pathways are not understood (West *et al.*, 2006).

1.5 Structure of the Toll-like Receptors

The TLRs are type I integral membrane glycoproteins with a high degree of structural conservation in particular in the N-terminal extracellular leucine-rich domain (LRR), a C-terminal intracellular Toll/Interlukin-1 receptor (TIR) domain, and a transmembrane domain. A TLR ligand interacts with the extracellular domain of TLR and intracellular signals are triggered via the transmembrane and TIR domains (Takeda *et al.*, 2003).

1.5.1 Extracellular Domain

The ectodomains of TLRs are situated either outside the cell on the cell surface or in intracellular compartments. LRR motifs are a conserved feature of all TLR ectodomains. TLR ectodomains are comprised of 19-25 repeats of LRR motifs and each LRRs are comprised of 24 amino acid residues. LRRs are categorized according to their primary sequences and conservation of amino acid residues. The consensus sequence for TLR-LRR is $xL^2xxL^5xL^7xxN^{10}x\phi^{12}xx\phi^{15}xxxxF^{20}xxL^{23}x$ where x is any amino acid, L and F are occasionally replaced with other hydrophobic residues, ϕ is any hydrophobic amino acid and N¹⁰ is consistently replaced with C, S or T (Bell *et al.*, 2003).

Despite efforts by a number of research groups to resolve the crystal structures of TLRs, TLR3 is the only solved structure to date. The ectodomain of TLR3 structure reveals that individual LRR form a loop where the first 10 amino acids form a beta-strand and the remaining 14 a.a are an alpha-helix. A tertiary solenoid-structure results from the combination of the 23 LRRs. The conserved hydrophobic amino acids of each LRR form a tight hydrophobic core of the solenoid-structure. While the beta-strands occupy larger space than alpha-helices and give shape to a concave outer surface, the helices come together to form the convex center (Bell *et al.*, 2005, Choe *et al.*, 2005).

Evidence based on the crystal structure of TLR3 suggests a direct interaction between the TLR3 ectodomain and its ligand (dsRNA) (Bell *et al.*, 2005, Choe *et al.*, 2005). The basis of an interaction between a TLR ectodomain and its ligand is suggested to be the LRR motifs. Such an interaction is also reported for human and mouse TLR1, TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 (Mizel *et al.*, 2003; Andersen-Nissen *et al.*, 2007; Jin *et al.*, 2007), as well as murine TLR9 (Cornelie *et al.*, 2004; Rutz *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, other LRR containing proteins such as NACHTLRR in vertebrates and NBS-LRR in plants have displayed similar properties (Kufer *et al.*, 2005, Martinon *et al.*, 2005).

Two other conserved features among TLR ectodomains are the C- and N-caps. These non-LRR components are located at the C and N termini and flank the LRR regions similar to CD42b N-terminus cap. CD42b N-cap forms a β hairpin where disulfide bonds connect the β strands. By covering the hydrophobic core of the first LRR motif, CD42b N-cap stabilizes the solenoid-structure (Huizinga *et al.*, 2002). The C-cap structure unlike the N-cap has conserved sequence among TLRs as well as *Drosophila* Toll. Mutations introduced in the C-cap of Drosophila significantly reduced its activity and it is suggested that the C-cap plays an important role in maintaining Toll conformation (Schneider *et al.*, 1991; Bell *et al.*, 2003).

1.5.2 TIR Domain

Intracellularly the TLRs share considerable homology with the interleukin-1 receptors on the basis of a signaling domain known as the Toll interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) (Bowie and O'Neill, 2000). The primary sequence of TIR domains are composed of 135 to 160 amino acids. Conservation of three sequence regions referred to as Box 1, Box 2 and Box 3 has been identified in all TLRs. Box1 is unique to each TLR; Box 2 forms a loop referred to as "BB loop" which is essential in intracellular signaling activity; and Box 3 contains residues which are also essential for signaling (Xu *et al.*, 2000). Mutations introduced in Box 2 of the *tlr4* gene altered its ability to signal (Poltorak *et al.*, 1998; Qureshi *et al.*, 1999). Another important feature identified in the TIR domain is the "DD loop". A recent investigation reported an interaction between the "DD loop" of TLR2 and the "BB loop" of TLR1 (Gautam et al., 2006). Such interaction is suggested to be the basis for TIR-TIR interaction between TLR-TIR domains and adaptor molecules containing TIR domains such as Myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88 (MyD88) (West *et al.*, 2006).

Through the resolution of TLR1 and TLR2 molecular structures, it is evident that the TIR domain is comprised of a central five-stranded, parallel β -sheet which is surrounded by a total of 5 α -helices on both sides. The core of the TIR domain starts at an (F/Y)DA amino acid motif and ends eight residues C-terminal to a conserved phenylalanine or tryptophan residue, and most of the conserved residues of the TIR domain lie within this hydrophobic core (Xu *et al.*, 2000).

The underlying cellular signaling events are initiated by the TIR domain. As the TIR domain is conserved across different TLRs in different species, it is proposed that similar signaling pathways are conserved across various species (Gay and Keith, 1991).

1.6 Cellular Localization of Toll-like Receptor

Due to the conservation of structural components such as an LRR containing ectodomain, a transmembrane region and a TIR domain among all TLRs, it was initially hypothesized that all TLR family members were expressed on the cell surface. On the contrary, it has been established that while TLR1, -2, -4, -5 and -6 are expressed on the cell surface, TLR3, -7, and -9 are localized in the intracellular endosomal compartments. While TLR8 is often expressed on the cell surface, it is more frequently expressed intracellularly (Matsumoto *et al.*, 2003; Funami *et al.*, 2004; Nishiya and Defranco, 2004).

1.6.1 Intracellular Members

1.6.1.1 TLR9 and Oligodeoxynucleotide Ligand

It has been known for more than two decades that bacterial DNA acts as a key immunostimulatory PAMP (Tokunaga *et al.*, 1984). TLR9, now known as the receptor for bacterial DNA, was not discovered until 2000 (Hemmi *et al.*, 2000). Through sequence comparison of previously discovered TLRs (TLRs 1-6) to expressed sequence tags (ESTs), Hemmi and his colleagues, discovered a high level of sequence similarity between an EST and selected TLRs. After retrieving a full-length complementary DNA sequence (cDNA), they were able to identify the conserved regions including TIR and extracellular domains on the newly discovered *Tlr9* gene. Furthermore, they established that bacterial DNA carried unmethylated CpG motifs which were recognized by TLR9. This was evident from TLR9-deficient (TLR9^T) mice lacking immune responses to CpG DNA (Hemmi *et al.*, 2000). Recent studies show that TLR9 recognizes viral-derived CpG DNA as well (Lund *et al.*, 2003; Krug *et al.*, 2004b). More specifically, activation of TLR9 on pDC cells by mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) (Krug *et al.*, 2004a) herpes simplex virus (HSV) type 1 and type 2 (Lund *et al.*, 2003; Krug *et al.*, 2004b) and adenovirus (Zhu *et al.*, 2007) have been reported to result in production of IFNa and other cytokines.

Short single-stranded oligodeoxynucleotides containing CpG motifs (ODNs) can mimic the immunostimulatory actions of bacterial DNA. While bacterial DNA has a phosphodiester (PD) backbone which can be degraded quickly by cellular nucleases, ODNs have phosphorothioate modified (PTO) backbones with one or more non-bridging backbone oxygen atoms replaced with sulfur. Optimally, ODNs are 8-30 bases in length with the most potent ODNs usually containing two or more CpG motifs (Krieg, 2002a).

ODNs are classified into three subtypes on the basis of their unique immunostimulatory effects, backbone modification targets, and the number and positioning of CpG motifs (Krieg, 2002a). Class-A ODNs, also known as D-type ODNs, are characterized by a phosphodiester backbone CpG motif and phosphorothioate-modified poly G stretches at the 5' and 3' ends (Krieg, 2006). These oligonucleotides elicit production of IFN α by pDCs which subsequently activates natural killer (NK) cells and induce IFN γ secretion (Hemmi *et al.*, 2003). Class-B ODNs, also referred to as K-type, encompasses ODNs that are phosphorothioate-modified throughout their sequences, contain more than one CpG motif, and typically have linear conformations. Their immunostimulatory effects include DC maturation, B cell proliferation and activation resulting in high expression levels of Major Histocompatibility Class II complex (MHCII) (Klinman, 2004). Finally, the sequence for Class-C ODNs is structurally typified by complete phosphorothioate-modified backbone, multiple CpG motifs, and a 5' TCG dimer. Class-C ODNs possess Class-A and Class-B immunostimulatory abilities such as activation of B cells and stimulation of IFN α production (Marshall *et al.*, 2003).

Some characteristics of ODNs, such as positioning of CpG motifs, formation of secondary structures such as hairpin structures, and residues flanking the CpG motifs are reported to dictate some of the immunostimulatory activity of the ODNs (Verthelyi *et al.*, 2001). Hairpin structures on the 5' end of the ODNs greatly affect their immune stimulatory responses but to a lesser extent if located on the 3' end. Given that the three classes of ODNs possess variable sequence properties, each class of ODNs can adopt a unique secondary structure. Although all ODNs can interact with TLR9, Class-specific responses may result from differential mechanisms of cellular localization, sequence/structure difference or unique costimulatory molecules. Species-specific responses to the ODNs are partially attributed to the residues flanking the CpG motif. For example, mouse TLR9 responds best to an ODN containing GACGTT motif because of the purine residues on the 5' side and pyrimidine

residues on the 3' side of the CpG. ODNs containing GTCGTT or TTCGTT are most effective with human TLR9 (Yu *et al.*, 2003). Bovine TLR9 is reported to respond effectively to Class-B ODN 2007 (TCGTCGTTGTCGTTTTGTCGTT) where CpG motifs are flanked by one or more thymine residues (Nichani *et al.*, 2006).

1.6.2 Extracellular Members

1.6.2.1 TLR4 and Lipopolysaccharide Ligand

The first characterized mammalian Toll member was human TLR4. Currently expression of TLR4 is reported in a variety of cell types such as macrophages and DCs in humans, mouse, bovine, rabbit and other species. LPS is the structural component of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria (Tobias *et al.*, 1987). It is composed of a core oligosaccharide linked to an O-antigen, and lipid moieties referred to as lipid A (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002). Lipid A, or endotoxin, unlike other regions of LPS is recognized by TLR4 and elicits innate immune responses.

A high degree of diversity exists among lipid A structures of different Gram-negative bacteria. Common variations include: difference in the number and length of fatty acid side chains, as well as presence of terminal phosphate groups and modifications associate with them. Effective TLR4 recognition and immune responses to different lipid A structures is species specific. Reports indicate that maximal TLR4 stimulation of human cells occurs by hexa-acylated *E. coli* lipid A with 12-14 carbons in length while modification introduced to the side chain reduced the magnitude of the signal (Schromm *et al.*, 1998, 2000; Somerville *et al.*, 1999). Some reports also suggest that variations of lipid A from *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*), *Legionella pneumophila* (*L. pneumophila*) are poor stimulators of human TLR4 (Girald *et al.*, 2003; Smith *et al.*, 2003b). In comparison, mouse TLR4 can recognize a broad range of lipid A structures and mount protection against various human pathogenic bacteria such as *E. coli*, *H. pylori* and *L. pneumophila* (Kawasaki *et al.*, 2000).

Formation of a TLR4 complex with accessory molecules including LPS binding protein (LBP), CD14, MD-2 and TLR4 facilitates recognition of LPS by TLR4 (Gioannini and Weiss, 2007; Miyake, 2007). Initially LBP, a soluble shuttle protein, directly binds LPS and converts oligomeric micelles of LPS to a monomer for delivery to CD14, which is a glycosyl phosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored, high-affinity membrane protein that can also circulate in a

soluble form. Association of LPS to CD14 allows transfer to TLR4/MD-2 receptor complex and positions LPS for recognition by the TLR4 receptor (Wright *et al.*, 1989, 1990; Shimazu *et al.*, 1999).

1.7 TLR Signal Transduction

The primary consequence of TLRs is expression and activation of immune molecules such as cytokines and chemokines, class II Major Histocompatibility complex and activation of transcription factors such as nuclear factor-kB (NF- κ B) which shape the critical immunological response to counter pathogens. With the exception of TLR3, all TLRs signal through the universal adaptor molecule MyD88. Some TLRs recruit other adaptor molecules and trigger activation of receptor-specific pathways. This differential induction pattern depends heavily on cytoplasmic adaptor molecules that can associate with the intracellular region of the TLRs (Akira and Takeda, 2004).

1.7.1 General TLR Signaling Pathway

The majority of what is known about the TLR signaling pathways started with the discovery of the TLR adaptor molecule, MyD88. In 1994 Dan Hultmark suggested that MyD88 was a transducer molecule, and together with IL-1R receptor, had ancestral function in activation of the immune system (Hultmark, 1994). Shortly after, Wesche and colleagues provided support for this hypothesis by showing that MyD88 interacted with both IL-1R-associated kinase (IRAK) and the cytoplasmic domain of IL-1R mediating binding of IRAK to the receptor (Wesche *et al.*, 1997). Given that there is a very high degree of similarity between IL-1R and TLRs, IL-1R research helped in understanding the details of TLR signaling pathways. In 1998, Medzhitov provided evidence that human TLR4 activated NF- κ B by signaling through MyD88, IRAK-1 and TNF-receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) (Medzhitov *et al.*, 1998). Current research shows that MyD88 is the central adaptor molecule in the NF- κ B signaling pathway that is commonly shared by all TLRs with the exception of TLR3 (Alexopoulou *et al.*, 2001).

TLR signals are mediated through a central protein complex composed of MyD88, IRAK-1 and IRAK-4, and adaptor protein TRAF6 (**Figure 1.2**). Ligand binding to TLRs leads to formation of the protein complex as MyD88 recruits IRAK-4 and TRAF6 proteins.



Figure 1.2. A common signal transduction pathway shared by TLR family members. This pathway is initiated when a TLR ligand binds to its respective TLR receptor and induces TLR dimerization. The ligand-bound dimer then recruits MyD88 which in turn recruits IRAK-4. Another member of IRAK family, IRAK-1, is phosphorylated and activated by IRAK-4 and subsequently interacts with TRAF6. The TAB/TAK complex is recruited by TRAF6 and when activated, the complex triggers activation of the MAPK cascade. TAK also activates the IKKs, which phosphorylate I κ B. Phosphorylated I κ B dissociates from NF- κ B and is degraded. NF- κ B translocates to the nucleus to induce expression of NF- κ B depended genes such as proinflammatory cytokines. In addition, two MAPK proteins, JNK1 and p38, activate transcription factor AP-1 which also translocates to the nucleus and activates expression of proinflammatory cytokines.
IRAK-1 is then phosphorylated by IRAK-4 and dissociates from MyD88, which results in TRAF6 activation. Subsequently, TRAF6 binds an ubiquitin ligase complex and activates mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase (MAP3K or TAK1) in an ubiquitin-dependent manner. TAK1 acts as an activation node for NF-κB and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway which in turn activates extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), and effector proteins c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 MAPK kinase (**Figure 1.2**) (Kawai and Akira, 2007).

The adaptor protein Myd88 is composed of a TIR domain that interacts with the TLR-TIR domains and a death domain (DD) that recruits IRAK proteins. Similarly, IRAK family members carry a DD domain that mainly interacts with Myd88 (Akira and Takeda, 2004; West *et al.*, 2006). There are currently four known members of the IRAK family: IRAK-1, IRAK-2, IRAK-4 and IRAK-M. Whereas IRAK-1 and IRAK-4 are catalytically active, IRAK-2 and IRAK-M are inactive as a result of an absence of key residues in their respective kinase domains (Cao *et al.*, 1996; Muzio *et al.*, 1997; Li *et al.*, 2002).

Upon activation of TLR signaling, IRAK-1 and IRAK-4 are recruited to the receptor complex. At the receptor, IRAK-1 associates with MyD88, and TRAF6, and phosphorylation by IRAK-4 triggers IRAK-1 hyperphosphorylation and dissociation of IRAK-1 from the complex while still maintaining its engagement with TRAF6. IRAKs are subject to regulation at a number of levels including interaction with inhibitory molecules and inhibition of expression (Kawai and Akira, 2007). A number of these inhibitory molecules are well defined. For example, IRAK-M is an induced negative regulator that blocks IRAK-4 activation and subsequent IRAK-1 phosphorylation (Wesche *et al.*, 1999).

TRAF6 belongs to the TRAF family of proteins which is comprised of six members. The unique characteristic of these proteins is a novel TRAF domain at the C terminus which is essential for association with upstream receptors and other signaling molecules (Chung *et al.*, 2002). Each TRAF family member participates in distinct singaling pathways. TRAF6 is an essential signaling protein in TLR signaling pathways. Reports indicate participation of other TRAF members in TLR signaling pathways, however, in a regulatory manner (Wang *et al.*, 2006).

NF-κB transcription factor belongs to the Rel-homology domain-containing protein family and is comprised of homodimers and heterodimers of five related proteins: RelA (p65), NF-κB1 (p105/p50), NF-κB2 (p100/p52), RelB and c-Rel (Kawai and Akira, 2007). Under normal cellular conditions, the inactive form of NF-κB is retained in the cytoplasm by an inhibitory molecule called inhibitor of κB (IκB). Upon TLR signaling through the MyD88, TAK1 leads to the activation of inhibitor of the κB kinase (IKK) complex which is composed of two catalytic (IKKα and IKKβ) and a regulatory (IKKγ or NEMO) subunits. IKK in turn phosphorylates IκB causing its degradation by the proteasome pathway, and allowing transcription factor NF-κB to translocate into the nuclei and regulate transcription of genes containing the κB regulatory elements (Kawai and Akira, 2007)..

In order to prolong survival inside the host cells, pathogens have developed mechanisms to affect the NF- κ B pathway. While a few pathogens, such as *Shigella* and *Chlamydia*, activate the NF- κ B pathway to assist them in survival and replication by avoiding apoptosis of infected cells, most pathogens commonly inhibit the NF- κ B pathway. For example, some bacteria insert toxins into the host cells to halt the NF- κ B pathway by disrupting the MAP3K activation and subsequent activation and release of NF- κ B by its inhibitor I κ B. *E. coli, Salmonella* and the Measles virus have evolved ways to interfere with the degradation of I κ B as well. A more interesting mechanism by Vaccinia virus involves expression of a MyD88 homolog by the virus to interfere with the binding of host MyD88 adaptor to TLR receptors and causing inhibition of NF- κ B pathway (Wilson *et al.*, 2002).

1.7.2 Receptor-specific Pathways

In addition to MyD88 adaptor, there are three other functional adaptors: Mal/TIRAP, Trif and Tram which interact with specific TLR receptors and initiate a number of different signaling networks in a MyD88-dependent or independent manner (**Figure 1.3**). Such TLR specific pathways present a mechanism by which the TLR system may tailor distinct responses for different types of pathogens.

Some TLRs that signal through MyD88 activate a group of interferon regulatory factors (IRFs) leading to up-regulation of downstream immune response genes. IRF7, for example, was shown to participate in TLR7 and TLR9 signaling in a cell specific manner (Hochrein et al., 2004; Honda et al., 2004; Kawai et al., 2004; Honda et al., 2005; Uematsu et al., 2005).



Figure 1.3. Receptor-specific signaling pathways. Some members of the TLR family participate in activation of IRF transcription factors through unique signaling pathways. Activation of IRF3 by TLR4 is achieved through recruitment of TRAM and TRIF adaptor molecules by TLR4 and interaction of these adaptor proteins with TBK1 and IKK kinases. Activation of IRF3 has not been reported by other TLR family members. TLR7, -8 and -9 as well as -4 activate other IRF members through interaction with MyD88 adaptor protein. After activation, IRF transcription factors translocate to the nucleus and regulate expression of immune genes such as type I IFN.

IRF5 is another transcription factor from the same family that is activated via MyD88 (**Figure 1.3**). IRF5 has also been found in a complex with MyD88 and TRAF6 in TLR4 and TLR9 signaling (Takaoka et al., 2005).

Mal/TIRAP was discovered based on sequence similarity to MyD88. Mal and MyD88 knock out mice responded in a similar manner to TLR4 signaling (Horng et al., 2002; Yamamoto et al., 2002a). Although both of these knocked out mice responded to TLR4 agonists, their responses were delayed. During TLR4 signaling, Mal acts as a bridging adapter, enabling MyD88 to be a component of the TLR4 signaling complex, and MyD88 is the signaling adapter, leading to the downstream events. Mal is able to interact with Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) which phosphorylates Mal and facilitates its downstream signaling (Gray et al., 2006). Btk has been shown to participate in TLR2 and TLR4 signaling (Jefferies et al., 2003; Liljeroos et al., 2007) through phosphorylation of NF-κB on its p65 subunit (Doyle et al., 2005). However, the tyrosine phosphorylation of Mal is also required for its degradation providing a means to terminate its signaling (Mansell et al., 2006).

One of the adaptors that were independent of MyD88 was discovered recently and was named TRIF (Yamamoto et al., 2002b; Hoebe et al., 2003; Oshiumi et al., 2003a). Role of TRIF in TLR4 signaling was established through TRIF-deficient mice. TLR4 requires TRAM to engage TRIF (Fitzgerald, et al., 2003b; Oshiumi et al., 2003b; Yamamoto et al., 2003b; McGettrick et al., 2006; Rowe et al., 2006). Thus, TRAM is also a bridging adapter like Mal and is different than all the other adapters in the fact that it is strictly utilized by TLR4. TRIF signaling is amplified downstream by three molecules: an IKK-like kinase named the TRAF-family-member-associated NF- κ B activator (TANK)-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) (Fitzgerald et al., 2003a), the IKK homolog IKK ϵ and IRF3. TRIF interacts with the three molecules resulting in phosphorylation and activation of IRF3 which subsequently acts as a transcription factor (Sato et al., 2003). Similar to IRF3, IRF7 becomes activated via its phosphorylation by TBK1 and IKK ϵ (Kawai et al., 2004; Honda et al., 2005; Uematsu et al., 2005). TLR4 also leads indirectly to NF- κ B activation. This is happening via TRIF, which induces TNF α production through activation of IRF3. The TNF α is then secreted from the stimulated cells and binds to its receptor (TNFR) (Covert et al., 2005).

1.8 Levels of TLR Signaling Control

1.8.1 Regulated TLR Expression on Different Cell Populations

1.8.1.1 B Cells

B cells are lymphocytes that arise from the bone marrow and act as APCs. A naïve Bcell circulating in the blood or lymphatic sites recognizes, ingests and presents an antigen to an antigen-specific T-cell. The interaction between a B-cell and T-cell triggers proliferation and clonal-expansion of the B-cell leading to a humoral immune response. Recently, TLRdependant activation of B cells was reported to be required for eliciting humoral immune responses. Such an activation event leads to maturation of these cells and enables presentation of processed antigen to T cells in an immunogenic form. Mice carrying TLR deficient B cells lacked production of antibodies against protein antigens given with adjuvants (Pasare *et al.*, 2005). Consistent with this observation, previous work had also suggested that murine B cells could be stimulated *in vitro* by TLR4 and TLR9 ligands to proliferate and secrete antibodies (Whitlock and Watson, 1979; Krieg *et al.*, 1995).

Through gene expression profiling of TLRs and measurement of co-stimulatory molecules corresponding to activation of TLR molecules, a new investigation has shown distinction between the TLR repertoires on murine and human B cells. Given that B cells are comprised of subsets, delving into details of TLR expression on each subset of human and mice is beyond the scope of this thesis. Suffice it to say that controversy exists regarding expression of TLRs on specific subsets of B cells (Oliver *et al.*, 1997; Mansson *et al.*, 2002; Bernasconi *et al.*, 2003; Huggins *et al.*, 2007) and details of expression of TLRs on all subsets is still not clear. Barr and colleagues suggest that in general murine B cells express TLR1-9. In contrast, other reports have shown that human B cells express TLR1-TLR10 with the exception of TLR3, TLR5 and TLR8 (Dasari *et al.*, 2005; Barr *et al.*, 2007).

B cells produce cytokines similar to other APC populations such as DCs. The pattern of cytokine expression by B cells is dependent on the activation of a particular subset of B cells. Barr and colleagues investigated the pattern of cytokine expression by DCs and B cells. Their report indicates distinct response patterns from different APC populations stimulated via the same TLR. B cells make IL-10 and IL-6 following TLR4 and 9 ligation, in contrast to DCs

which produce IL-12, IL-6 and IL-10. In addition, IL-6 is elicited in B cells via TLR2, 4 and 9, but through TLR3, 4 and 9 in DCs (Barr *et al.*, 2007). This suggests that the composition of the membrane-proximal TLR signalling elements (adaptors) differs between these two important APC populations.

1.8.1.2 Monocytes

Monocytes originate from progenitor cells of the bone marrow and are mononuclear phagocytes circulating in blood. Once a monocyte exits blood, it differentiates into a macrophage or DC (Chomarat *et al.*, 2003), and the cell is no longer referred to as a monocyte, but rather as a monocyte-derived cell. Overall, monocytes are defined as cells that (a) are mononuclear and circulate in blood (b) have phagocytosis capabilities and (c) maintain some repertoires of macrophages and monocyte-derived DCs (Chomarat *et al.*, 2003).

Two main subsets of monocytes have been identified in mice and humans. Assignment of monocytes to a subset is on the basis of the expression of surface markers such as chemokines receptors and adhesion molecules. A subset of monocytes in mice is referred to as inflammatory monocytes, express chemokines receptor CCR2, cell surface protein Ly6c (Gr1⁺), and adhesion molecule L-selectin. Their names rather reflect their recruitment to sites of inflamed tissues and lymph nodes (Geissmann et al., 2003). By differentiating to inflammatory DCs, these monocytes replenish repertoires of these cells in skin, digestive tract and lung (Varol et al., 2004; Ginhoux et al., 2006). The second subset of murine monocytes referred to as resident monocytes are recruited to both inflamed and resting tissues. They lack markers unique to inflammatory monocytes and instead express chemokine receptor CX₃CR1 and LFA-1 integrin (Geissmann et al., 2003). Human monocytes are divided into CD14⁺ CD16⁻ and CD14^{low} CD16⁺ subsets. While CD14⁺ CD16⁻ monocytes resemble murine inflammatory monocytes, CD14^{low} CD16⁺ monocytes are similar to murine resident monocytes (Geismann et al., 2003). In comparison to human and mouse monocytes, bovine monocytes are not characterized extensively; however, reports confirm expression of CD14⁺ and L-selectin on bovine blood monocytes (Wang et al., 1997; Eun et al., 2004).

Monocytes have the ability to quickly recognize pathogens, mediate phagocytosis and respond with the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, antimicrobial peptides, and inflammatory mediators (Medzhitov *et al.*, 2000). Such important immune functions are

initiated by TLR modulation of signaling pathways. Human monocytes are reported to express TLR 1, 2, 4, 5, 8 and 9 (Hornung *et al.*, 2002; O'Mahony *et al.*, 2008)

1.8.1.3 Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are APCs and originate from the bone marrow. Their ability to recognize an extensive range of antigens and their presence in virtually all tissues interfacing the host and environment make them the most important APCs. DCs are broadly categorized into two subsets: myeloid (mDCs) and plasmacytoid (pDCs). In human, these subsets of DCs express a variety of TLRs. Myloid DCs reportedly express the complete repertoire of TLRs while plasmacytoid DCs express limited number of TLRs such as TLR7 and TLR9 (Muzio *et al.*, 2000; Seya *et al.*, 2005). The *in vivo* requirement of DCs to initiate immune responses to specific TLR agonists is not fully understood.

1.8.2 Phosphorylation-Mediated Signal Transduction in TLR Activation

Proteins comprising TLR signaling adaptor molecules, kinases and effectors are regulated through various post-translation modifications including phosphorylation, ubiquitination, acetylation, sumoylation and nitrosylation (Perkin, 2006). The degree and type of modification can vary, depending on the nature of the TLR-inducing stimulus. Moreover, such modifications frequently have distinct, sometimes antagonistic, functional consequences and the same modification can have different effects depending on the context.

Phosphorylation serves as an important regulatory mechanism for the TLR signaling pathways. Critical aspects of a protein function such as activity, stability, cellular localization and interacting partners are regulated through this post-translation modification. Phosphorylation of adaptor molecules, MyD88, Trif, TRAM as well as transcription factors such as NF-kB, IRFs, c-Jun, p38, and activity of IKK and MAPK family of kinases comprise essential signaling molecules of TLR pathways (Miggin and O'Neill, 2006; Perkin, 2006).

2.0 HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES

Comparison of short amino acid sequences representing human phosphorylation targets to a bovine protein database will identify bovine orthologues. These bovine peptides can be used to create a bovine-specific array for kinome analysis of bovine cells.

Objectives:

- **1.** Identify bovine phosphorylation targets and create a bovine peptide array.
- 2. Test new peptide arrays by performing kinome analysis on bovine monocytes treated with TLR agonists.
- **3.** Verify kinome analysis with bioassays.

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Reagents and Chemicals

All chemical reagents required to carry out experiments throughout this thesis are listed in **Table 3.1**.

3.2 Bovine Peptide Array Development

3.2.1 Peptide Selection Process

Peptides for the array were selected to represent a spectrum of biological events but with an emphasis on pathways and processes associated with innate immunity. A total of 194 proteins representing signal transduction kinases, transducers and effectors were selected. Many of these proteins are functionally complex and undergo phosphorylation at multiple sites to control discrete aspects of protein behavior. Therefore, for many of these proteins multiple peptides, representing distinct phosphorylation events, were selected to allow more detailed insight into cellular responses under different treatment conditions.

3.2.2 Designing Bovine Peptides

Phosphosite (www.phosphosite.org) and Phosphobase (phospho.elm.eu.org) are publically available online databases that hold information on manually-curated and literature-based serine, threonine and tyrosine phosphorylation sites. This information is primarily focused on phosphorylation events characterized for either human and mouse with limited representation of other species such as rat. Search results for a specific protein return short peptide sequences corresponding to characterized phosphorylation sites. Where available, information on the corresponding kinase, as well as links describing the biological function of the specific modification, is also included. These two databases were searched for proteins of interest and corresponding human peptides were saved.

Chemicals	Supplier
Acrylamide	Sigma
Aim V media	Gibco, Invitrogen Corp.
Aprotenin	Sigma
Adenosine triphosphate(ATP)	Calbiochem
Bovine serum Albumin(BSA)	Biorad Laboratories
Bromophenol Blue	Sigma
CD14 microbeads	Miltenyi Biotec Inc.
CpG 2007	Merial
Dithiothreitol (DTT)	Biorad Laboratories
Ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid(EGTA)	Sigma
Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA)	Fluka BioChemika
Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)	Gibco
Glycerol	Amersham Bioscience
Horse radish peroxidase(HRP)	Sigma
Leupeptin	Sigma
Lipopolysaccharide(LPS)	Sigma
3-Aminophthalhydrazide(Luminol)	PerkinElmer BioSignal, Inc.
Magnesium Chloride	Sigma
Percoll	Amersham Biosciences
Phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride(PMSF)	Sigma
Polyoxyethylene Lauryl Ether(Brij-35)	ICN Biomedicals Inc.
Sodium dodecyl sulfate(SDS)	Calbiochem
Sodium floride	Sigma
sodium orthovanadate	Sigma
Sodium pyrophosphate	Sigma
Triton 100	Sigma
Fura-2, AM	AnaSpec Inc.

 Table 3.1. List of selected chemicals, reagents and their suppliers.

Antibodies	Supplier					
Fluorescent antibody	LI-COR Biosciences					
Phospho-Etk(Y40)	Cell Signaling Technology					
anti-bovine CD14	VMRD					
FITC-conjugated anti-mouse	BD Bioscience					
Radioactive Chemicals	Supplier					
gamma- ³² P Adenosine Triphosphate(ATP) salt	Amersham Bioscience					
Supplier	Address					
Fluka BioChemika	Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd., Oakville, ON, Canada					
Gibco	Invitrogen Ltd., Gaithersburg, MD, USA					
Calbiochem	EMD Chemicals Inc., Gibbstown, NJ, USA					
ICN Biomedicals	ICN Biomedical Canada Ltd., Saint Laurent, PQ, Canada					
Sigma	Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd., Oakville, ON, Canada					
Miltenyi Biotec Inc.	Miltenyi Biotec Inc., Auburn, CA, USA					
LI-COR Biosciences	LI-COR Biosciences, Lincoln, Nebraska, USA					
Cell Signaling Technology	New England Biolabs Ltd., Pickering, Ontario, Canada					
Amersham Bioscience	GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences Corp., Piscataway, NJ, USA					
AnaSpec Inc.	AnaSpec Inc., San Jose, CA, USA					
Merial	Merial Canada Inc., Montreal, Quebec, Canada					
Biorad Laboratories	Biorad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA					

PerkinElmer BioSignal, Inc.	PerkinElmer BioSignal, Inc., Montreal,				
	Quebec, Canada				
BD Bioscience					
VMRD	VMRC, Inc., Pullman, WA, USA				

To obtain bovine-specific consensus sequences, we identified a series of human phosphorylation events of interest and then employed the Blastp (version 2.2.13) program (<u>ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST</u>) from NCBI to compare the collected human peptides against the NCBI-NR database. Blastp was set to search bovine protein records and retrieve short exact matches for the list of human peptides. A comparison of the protein descriptions for the query and hit sequences was performed to ensure that they referred to orthologous protein.

3.2.3 Synthesis and Spotting of Peptides

All peptides were synthesized and printed according to the following protocol by JPT Peptide Technologies (www.jpt.com). Amino-oxy-acetylated peptides were synthesized on cellulose membranes in a parallel manner using SPOT synthesis technology (Frank, 1992; Wenschuh *et al.*, 2000). Following side chain deprotection the solid phase bound peptides were transferred into 96 well microtiter filtration plates (Millipore, Bedford, USA) and treated with 200 µL of aqueous triethylamine (0.5 % by vol) to cleave the peptides from the cellulose. Peptide-containing triethylamine solution was filtered off and solvent was removed by evaporation under reduced pressure. Resulting peptide derivatives (50 nmol) were re-dissolved in 25 µL of printing solution (70% DMSO, 25% 0.2 M sodium acetate pH 4.5, 5 % glycerol; by vol.) and transferred into 384-well microtiterplates. Two droplets of 0.5 nL peptide solution were deposited per spot on aldehyde functionalized glass slides using the non-contact printer Nanoplotter of GESIM (Großerkmannsdorf, Germany) equipped with 8 piezoelectric NanoTips (GESIM, Großerkmannsdorf, Germany). Printed peptide microarrays were kept at room temperature for 5 hours, washed with deionised water, quenched for 1 hour with 50% aqueous hydroxylamine, washed extensively with water followed by ethanol, and dried under a stream of nitrogen. Resulting peptide microarrays were stored at 4 °C and maintained reactivity for more than 18 months. To determine intra-experimental variability in substrate phosphorylation, each block of 300 peptides was printed in triplicate on each slide. The final physical dimensions of the array were 19.5 X 19.5 mm with each peptide spot having a diameter of ~350 µm and peptide spots being 750 µm apart.

A total of 298 bovine/human peptides and 2 negative peptide controls, of 15 amino acids in length, were printed on each block of the array according to the map presented in **Appendix A- Figure A1**. The identities of the proteins and the sites of phosphorylation are

presented in **Appendix A- Figure A2**. The sequences of all peptides are presented in **Appendix A- Table A1**. Seven positive control (Histon 1-4, Myelin basic protein- MBP bovine, and alpha/beta Casein) proteins were printed around each block on the array by JPT Peptide Technologies. Each positive control is a full length protein and is known to be phosphorylated in cells in presence of ATP. Signals from these controls are not included in our peptide array analysis as these proteins are mainly printed for visualization and gridding of the blocks.

3.3 MACS Isolation of Bovine Blood Monocytes

Blood was collected by venupuncture from mature cattle using 0.3 % EDTA as an anticoagulant. Blood was transferred to 50 mL polypropylene tubes and centrifuged at 1400 x g for 20 minutes at 20 °C. Mononuclear leukocytes were isolated from the buffy coat and mixed with calcium and magnesium free phosphate-buffered saline (PBSA) (1 x solution; PH 7.3) to a final volume of 35 mL. The cell suspension was then layered onto 15 mL of 54 % isotonic Percoll (GE Healthcare) and centrifuged at 2000 x g for 20 minutes at 20 °C. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from the Percoll-PBSA interface were collected and washed twice with cold PBSA (1 x solution; PH 7.3) supplemented with 0.1% EDTA and once with MACS buffer. Monocytes were purified from isolated PBMCs by MACS® purification using CD14 microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec). Monocytes were plated in Aim V medium (GibcoTM, Invitrogen) supplemented with 10 % heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS; GibcoTM). The purity of monocytes was assessed by flow cytometry (BD FACSCalibur) following cell labeling with an anti-bovine CD14 antibody (VMRD). Cells were cultured for 19 hours prior to stimulation.

3.4 Flow Cytometry Analysis

A volume of 50 μ L (2 x 10⁷/mL) of isolated CD14⁺ monocytes was placed with 50 μ L of mouse anti-bovine CD14 monoclonal antibody (mAb) (VMRD, clone number:MM61A). Monocytes were incubated on ice for 15 minutes and pelleted by centrifugation at 349 x g for 2 minutes at 4°C. Next, three washes were performed with an initial 100 μ L and subsequent 200 μ L of flow cytometry solution [PBSA (1 x solution; PH 7.3), 0.03 % sodium azide and 0.2% gelatin]. Finally a goat anti-mouse Ig polyclonal antibody (BD Bioscience) was added to the well and three washes similar to the first set of washes were performed. Monocytes were then fixed with 200µL of 2% formaldehyde and their purity was assessed with a flow cytometry instrument (BD FACSCalibur) using Cellquest software.

3.5 Treatment of Monocytes

Isolated monocytes were resuspended $(10x10^6 \text{ per mL})$ in Aim V medium (GibcoTM, Invitrogen Corp., San Diego, CA) enriched with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and were incubated at 37 °C overnight before any treatment.

3.5.1 CpG-treatment

CpG ODNs are often species-specific in their ability to induce innate immune responses and ODN 2007 (TCGTCGTTGTCGTTTTGTCGTT) has been shown to be effective for cattle (Nichani *et al.*, 2006). Rested monocytes (10 x 10^6 /mL) were stimulated with 5 µg/mL CpG 2007 (Merial) or cultured in media for 4 hours at 37 °C. After removing the media from the tubes, cells were stored at -80 °C before use with the peptide arrays. A total of 2.5 x 10^7 monocytes were required per peptide array.

3.5.2 LPS-treatment

Rested bovine monocytes $(1.0 \times 10^7/\text{mL})$ were stimulated with 100 ng/mL *E. coli* LPS (Sigma-Aldrich). This quantity of LPS has been shown to induce cellular responses in monocytes isolated from humans (Mookherjee *et al.*, 2006).Cells were pelleted and stored at -80 °C before use with the peptide arrays. A total of 2.5 x 10^7 monocytes were required per peptide array.

3.6 Peptide Array Analysis

3.6.1 Kinome Analysis of Bovine Monocytes

Cell lysates were prepared and incubated with the arrays as reported previously (Diks *et al.*, 2004) with the exception that lysate from 25 x 10^6 monocytes was incubated with each chip. Cell pellets were lysed with 100 µl lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCL pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1% Triton, 2.5 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, 1 mM NaF, 1 µg/mL leupeptin, 1 g/mL aprotinin, 1 mM PMSF), incubated on ice for 10 minutes and

then spun in a microcentrifuge for 10 minutes at 4 °C. A 70 µl aliquot of this supernatant was mixed with 10 µl of the activation mix (50% Glycerol, 50 uM ATP, 60 mM MgCl₂, 0.05% v/v Brij-35, 0.25 mg/mL BSA, 2 mCi/mL γ -³²P-ATP) and incubated on the chip for 2 hours at 37 °C. Finally, slides were washed once with Tris-buffered saline (PBS) (1 x solution; PH 7.3) containing 1 % Triton X-100, twice with 2 M NaCl containing 1% Triton X-100 and in demineralized H₂O.

Following air drying the arrays were exposed to a phosphoimager screen for one week. Images were obtained by scanning the screen with a Typhoon scanner (GE Healthcare) and then loaded on Arrayvision software (Image Research). Intensity values for the spots and background were obtained and normalization and statistical analyses were performed with Genespring software (Agilent Technologies).

3.6.2 Measuring Signal Intensity for Array Peptides

Radioactive signals were captured from the array by exposure to a phosphoimager screen over a period of one week. A phosphoimager was utilized due to ease of handling and availability of a scanner that would allow detection of weak signals. A Typhoon scanner (GE Healthcare) was set to obtain array images from the phosphoimager screen using the highest sensitivity settings with a pixel size of 25 microns. The captured image of the phosphoimager plate was then processed using ImageQuant TL v2005 software (Amersham, GE Healthcare) to obtain individual peptide array images. ArrayVision software (GH healthcare) was used with a protocol describing the spacing between spots and blocks of the array to obtain spot and background intensity of the spots.

3.6.3 Signal Intensity Calculation

Arrayvision software was utilized to process peptide arrays and collect signal intensity data for peptide spots. First, a protocol file was created to contain the coordinates of each spot and the measurements of spacing between spots/blocks as well as the dimension of spots/blocks. More specifically, a horizontal and vertical spacing of 0.125 mm between spots, a distancing of 0.125 mm between two blocks, and dimension of 0.4 mm for each spot was specified. Three replicate blocks on the array were numbered as 1, 2, and 3 with 1 being the block adjacent to the slide label. In order for the program to correlate the correct spot identifier

to its intensity proper orientation of the slide on the image screen was necessary. When loading a peptide array it was rotated so that the label side was positioned to the left and the corner with a row as well as a column of positive controls was oriented to the bottom right.

When drawing grids on a slide, each spot was represented as a circle and a total of 362 circles were present in each block. In addition to 298 bovine and 2 negative control peptides, there were 7 positive controls printed on four sides of each block (**Appendix A- Figure A1**). Blank spots were used to complete a row or column containing positive controls in order to create a proper square shape for a block. Background intensity for a spot was calculated as the average of pixels from 4 regions in the immediate vicinity of each spot.

Prior to analyzing the array data with Genespring software, data points for positive controls and blank spots were removed from the data file. Positive control spots and blanks were merely used for gridding purposes. In addition, very high intensity values for positive control spots would skew lower signal data from bovine peptides and preclude proper normalization and statistical analysis.

3.6.4 Statistical Analysis on Signal Intensities

For peptide array data, global normalization to the 50th percentile was performed on the raw data by Genespring software. One sample t-test was performed on the normalized data from the 18 replicates to evaluate reproducibility of the signal by comparing peptide signals to a baseline value of 1. There were two biological samples for each treatment and 9 technical replicates. Together, there were a total of 18 replicates for each spot under each treatment.

A student t-test was performed on PKA and the superoxide assay results. By comparing results for replicates of media control to CpG or LPS samples, confidence in the differential production of superoxide or PKA activity was measured as a result of LPS or CpG stimulation.

3.7 Western Blot Analysis

3.7.1 Detection of Phosphorylated Etk

Human blood was collected using 0.3% EDTA as an anticoagulant. PBMCs were isolated and CD14⁺ monocytes were MACS purified following the same protocols used to isolate bovine monocytes. Monocytes were cultured overnight, resuspended at 2 x 10⁶/mL and

stimulated with 100 ng/mL LPS (Sigma-Alrich), 5 μ g/mL CpG 2007 (Merial) or cultured in media for 4 hours at 37 °C. Stimulated cells were then pelleted and lysed with 100 μ l SDS sample buffer [62.5 mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8 at 25 °C), 2% w/v SDS, 10% glycerol, 50 mM DTT, 0.01% w/v bromophenol blue, 1 mM PMSF], denatured (5 mins at 95 °C) and 30 μ l of it was loaded on a 10% SDS gel and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. Phospho-Etk antibody (catalogue number 3211) (Cell Signaling Technology) and a fluorescent-conjugated secondary antibody (LI-COR biosciences) were used in accordance to the Supplier's protocol. An image of the blot was captured using an Odyssey scanner (LI-COR Biosciences).

3.8 Measuring Protein Kinase A (PKA) Activity

Omnia TM Lysate Assay kit (Catalog number KNZ0021; Biosource) was utilized to measure PKA activity. Ten million bovine CD14+ monocytes were stimulated with either LPS, CpG or media control for 4 hours and were lysed with 50 µl Omnia Cell Extraction Buffer. The protein concentration was determined using Quick StartTM Protein Assay (Bio-Rad) and 50 µg of protein was used to carry out kinase reactions following the manufacturer's protocol.

3.9 Quantification of Oxidative Burst

Superoxide production was measured by chemiluminescence. The protocol that was followed was as described (Thrasher *et al.*, 1992) with the exception that 4 x 10^6 bovine monocytes were used without phorbol myristate acetate activation and before reading the luminescence, the 96 well plate was wrapped in foil and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 20 minutes. Luminescence was measured at 30 second intervals using a Victor³V 1420 Multilabel Counter (PerkinElmer).

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 Development of Bovine Peptide Array

4.1.1 Available Phosphorylation Motifs for Human Proteins

Phosphorylation of serine, threonine and tyrosine phosphorylation occurs at an approximate ratio of 1,000:100:1(Hunter, 1998). In addition to the large number of proteins that undergo phosphorylation, many of these proteins are modified at multiple sites, giving rise to an estimated 100,000 unique phosphorylation events within the human proteome (Zhang *et al.*,2002). Currently there are two main publically available phosphorylation based databases: Phosphosite and Phosphobase. There are 32,250 human phosphorylation sites on Phosphosite as of March, 2008. The majority of the approximately 29,000 phosphorylation sites are curated based on published work. The rest of the phosphorylation sites are based on unpublished MS/MS data. In comparison, Phosphobase holds approximately 16,000 phosphorylation sites as of July, 2007. Phosphobase records are based on experimentally verified phosphorylation sites as well.

4.1.2 Comparison of Human phosphorylation motifs to Bovine Proteins

To determine the degree of sequence conservation surrounding sites of phosphorylation in humans and bovine, a series of 880 peptides representing sites of phosphorylation within human proteins were searched against the NCBI bovine protein database by Blastp program to generate orthologous bovine peptides. Blastp results revealed that half of the hit sequences had 100% identity to their query sequences (**Table 4.1**). Moreover, a comparison of the protein descriptions for the query and hit sequences confirmed that they referred to the same protein. From these 880 phosphorylation sites, we selected peptides for the array based on their biological significance and the degree of conservation of the sequence surrounding the phosphoacceptor site based on the premise that higher degrees of sequence conservation may also imply functional conservation. Of the bovine peptides included on the array 65 % displayed 100 % sequence conservation and the remainder showed various degrees of sequence similarity to their human homologous peptides. About 5 % of the array peptides were comprised of human peptides with no bovine hits detectable by the Blastp program (**Table 4.1**).

Sequence	All Bovine	Peptides on	Comparison of Bovine
Differences	Pepudes	Array	and Human Pepude
0	50%	65%	Same descriptions
1	13%	15%	Same descriptions
2	7%	8%	Same descriptions
3	4%	5%	Same descriptions
4	1.5%	1%	Same descriptions
5	0.4%	1%	Same descriptions
6	0.6%	0%	Same descriptions
0 -15	22%	5%	Different descriptions or
			no hits

 Table 4.1. Analysis of Bovine Kinase Target Peptides Selected from Queries of Human Peptides.

1) A brief report of Blastp (version 2.2.13) results for human peptides against the NCBI-NR protein records for bovine organism with increasing number of peptide differences used to differentiate among human peptides compiled from Phosphosite and Phosphobase.

2) An initial list of 880 human peptides was searched against the NCBI-NR protein database to find bovine orthologous peptides. The list is categorized based on conservation of sequence similarity between the query peptide and the bovine hit.

3) Final list of 298 bovine peptides on the array is divided into 8 sections based of the number of amino acids that were different between a human query and bovine hit peptide.

4) For each group of peptides, this column indicates whether query human peptides and their bovine homologs referred to the same proteins based on the description of their proteins.

4.2 Phosphorylation Activity Detection in LPS and CpG Treated Monocytes

4.2.1 FACS analysis of isolated monocytes

Monocytes were isolated by MACS purification technique using CD14 microbeads that would bind to monocytes expressing CD14⁺ receptors. As CD14⁺ monocytes were isolated from PBMC populations, it was necessary to ensure that purified monocytes did not include other cell types from the PBMC population. Purity of isolated monocytes was tested by FACS analysis (**Figure 4.1**). For this set of isolated monocytes, 98.2 % of the cells expressed CD14⁺ marker which indicates that these cells are pure monocytes.

4.2.2 Bovine Peptide Array Results

Cellular extracts of isolated bovine monocytes treated for four hours with media, 100 ng/mL LPS or 5 μ g/mL CpG ODN 2007 were subjected to kinome analysis by the arrays. Pseudo-images representing the averaged normalized signal for each peptide on the array were generated for each treatment condition (**Figure 4.2**).

Individual peptide signals displayed high technical and biological (n = 2) reproducibility when one-sample t-test on replicate data for CpG and LPS samples produced high confidence levels (p<0.05) for 219 and 220 of the peptides, respectively (**Appendix A- Table A3**). Of these peptides, 92 and 98 were differentially phosphorylated following LPS and CpG treatment as compared to media treated cells (**Figure 4.3**).

Over half of the peptides, many relating to known TLR-associated signaling molecules, were conserved in both identity and phosphorylation change as predicted from previous studies in human cell lines. These data support the conclusion that TLR4 and TLR9 signaling is highly conserved in bovine monocytes with many similarities in kinase activation following LPS and CpG stimulation (**Figure 4.4**). This is not unanticipated as previous reports (Miggin and O'Neill, 2006) have implicated similar adaptor molecules are involved in signaling by TLR family members and these data confirm the capacity of the current peptide arrays to reproducible reflect kinome changes. The remaining, differentially phosphorylated, peptides were either specific to a particular treatment or had different trends of phosphorylation for either LPS or CpG. These peptides presumably represent differential responses achieved by activation of the two different TLRs (**Figure 4.4**) (**Table 4.2**).



Figure 4.1. FACS analysis of purified CD14+ bovine blood monocytes. Isolated monocytes were stained with CD14 FITC and analyzed by flow cytometry. For this sample purity of monocytes was at 98.2%.



Figure 4.2. Phosphorylation of substrate targets on peptide arrays by cellular lysates from bovine monocytes stimulated with medium (A), LPS (B), or CpG ODN (C). Purified CD14⁺ bovine monocytes (25 x 10⁶) were cultured overnight, stimulated with 100 ng/mL LPS, 5 μ g/mL CpG ODN 2007, or cultured in media for 4 hours at 37 °C. Monocyte lysates were prepared and incubated with peptide arrays in the presence of γ -³²P-ATP. After original slide images were acquired by a scanner, normalized and corrected for background noise then signal strength for each spot was calculated. The average signal for each peptide arrays for each condition assayed. For peptide identity and protein information, please refer to supplemental figure A1 and table A1.



Figure 4.3. Altered phosphorylation events following LPS and CpG ODN stimulation. The Venn diagram summarizes the number and pattern of significant and differentially phosphorylated peptides observed with LPS- and CpG ODN-stimulated cell lysates when compared to responses from media treated cells. Altered phosphorylation events by LPS and CpG ODN were identified with fold changes less than or equal to 0.7 and greater than or equal to 1.4 when normalized signals were compared to signals from media control.



Figure 4.4. A signaling pathway based on known phosphorylation events of TLR4 and TLR9 in a variety of human cell lines and reflecting phosphorylation signals in bovine blood monocytes stimulated with LPS or CpG. A coloring scheme is used to illustrate phosphorylation events which were detected with the peptide array when analyzing lysates from bovine monocytes stimulated with LPS (TLR4) or CpG ODN (TLR9). A (+p) on a path indicates addition of a phosphate group to a phospho-site of the substrate protein the arrow points to. Solid pointed lines indicate known phosphorylation activities while dashed pointed lines refer to previously suggested phosphorylation interaction. Non-pointed lines show non-phosphorylation based protein interactions. Both TLR4 and TLR9 signal through common adaptor proteins although the degree of phosphorylation at specific sites on the signaling transducers may differ. Details of the phosphorylation of peptides for individual signal transducers in these pathways are available in Table 2.

Table4.2.	Phosphorylation	of	substrate	peptides	by	kinases	in	LPS	and	CpG	ODN
stimulated	monocytes.										

Phospho	Kinase	Fold C	hange ³	p-value ⁴		Kinase Mediating	Effect of
-protein ¹	Target ²	LPS	CpG	LPS	CpG	Phosphorylation ⁵	Phosphorylation ⁶
•					•		Required for self
							phosphorylation and
IRAK-1	T209	3.2	3.7	0.01	0.01	IRAK-1	activation
IRAK-1	S376	1.1	7.3	0.01	0.22	IRAK-4	Activation
IRAK-1	S568	0.2	0.2	0.01	0.01		
IRAK-1	T387	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01		
IRAK-1	T100	1.3	1.2	0.01	0.01	Akt1	regulates transcription
EAV	V207	2.0	2.5	0.14	0.01	EAV	Regulates apoptosis,
ΓΑΚ	1 397	2.9	2.3	0.14	0.01	ΓΑΚ	Enzymatic activation
							altered intracellular
							location, regulates
							molecular association
Etk	Y40	7.2	1.6	0.01	0.01	FAK	and cell motility
DIT G	a (==		1.0	0.01	0.01		Altered intracellular
PKCA	S657	1.1	1.0	0.01	0.01		location
p40phox	T154	1.7	0.4	0.01	0.01	РКСА	
							Enzymatic activation,
n47nhox	\$370	4.6	3.1	0.01	0.01	PKCA PKACa	location
$PK\Delta C_{2}$	\$338	3.0	2.5	0.02	0.01	Then, Three	location
PKACa	T195/7	77	1.9	0.02	0.02		
Src	\$74	1.0	1.9	0.02	0.01		
bie	571	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		Regulate apoptosis, and
ΙΚΚα	T23	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	Akt2	enzymatic activation
							Regulates transcription,
ΙΚΚβ	Y188	0.4	1.1	0.56	0.01	Src	and activation
11717	621	0.1	0.0	0.01	0.01	11/1/0	Regulates proper NFkB
ΙΚΚγ	S31	0.1	0.0	0.01	0.01	ΙΚΚβ	activity
ΙΚΚγ	843	2.6	0.5	0.01	0.01	ІККр	anti-
						CK2 A1(\$32/6)	degradation and
						IKK-alpha(S32/6),	more(S32/6)
IkBα	S32/6	0.8	0.5	0.06	0.62	Nik(S32/6)	
IkB-β	T19	0.8	0.8	0.01	0.01		Protein degradation
IkΒ-ε	S18	0.5	0.6	0.01	0.01		Protein degradation
							Protein
							processing(S870),
							regulates association
NFkB-	0070/70	2.5	12.2	0.01	0.71	Nik(S870), IKK- α	with cellular
p100	\$870/72	3.5	13.2	0.06	0.71	(8872)	proteins(S870)
NГКВ- n105	\$337	18.4	20.5	0.02	0.01	PKACa	Activation, and regulates transcription
NELP	\$276	10.4	11.0	0.02	0.01	MSK1 DKACo	Activation regulates
INFKD-	3270	11.4	11.0	0.01	0.01	IVISKI, FKACa	Activation, regulates

p65							transcription, and more
NFkB-							
p65	S311	4.3	2.3	0.01	0.01	PKCZ	Activation?
TAK1	S192	15.0	22.9	0.15	0.09	TAK1	Activation
Р38-ү	T185	0.4	1.1	0.16	0.32		
p38-a	T179/Y 181	1.3	1.4	0.88	0.76	MKK3/6(T179/Y1 81)	Activation, Enzymatic activation, and more (T179/Y181)
ASK1	S966	0.2	0.4	0.01	0.01	PKD	Inhibition
MEK1	S217	1.3	1.4	0.01	0.01	Raf1 and Cot	Activation
MEK2	Y216	0.4	0.7	0.11	0.29		Inhibition
MEK5	S311	0.9	1.1	0.01	0.01		
MEKK1	T1383	0.8	0.7	0.01	0.01	MEKK1	Activation
MKK4	S257/0	4.1	2.9	0.01	0.01	ASK1(S261), MLK3(S261)	enzymatic activation(S261)
JNK2	T404/7	0.7	1.2	0.01	0.01	CK2-A1(T404/7), MKK7(T404/7)	Activation(T404/7)
Jun	S63	1.9	1.6	0.01	0.01	JNK1,JNK2	Protein activation, stabilization and more
Jun	S73	0.9	1.1	0.04	0.01	JNK1	stabilization and more
ERK1	T202/4	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01	Col(1202/4), MEK1/2(T202/4), Lck(T204), ERK1(T204)	enzymatic activation (T202/4)
Elk-1	S389	1.2	1.2	0.01	0.01	ERK1	Activation, and regulates transcription
Raf1	S259	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	РКАСа	Inhibition
Raf1	S499	1.0	2.3	0.01	0.01	РКАСа	Activation
Fos	T232	0.2	0.2	0.05	0.01	ERK5, ERK2	Altered intracellular location, and activation
ERK2	Y204	1.2	1.0	0.01	0.01	MEK1	
TBK1	S172	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01		Enzymatic activation
IRF-3	S385/6	0.6	3.0	0.01	0.13	TBK1(S385/6), IKK-ε(S385)	Activation(S385), and regulates association with cellular proteins and more (S385/6)
IRF-3	S396/8	7.7	27.1	0.04	0.27		activation, regulates transcription, and more(S369), altered intracellular location, regulates association with cellular proteins(S368)
FADD	S194	10.6	5.9	0.08	0.01		
Casp8	S347	3.4	2.8	0.01	0.01		

- 1) Common name for substrate protein with a peptide for a phosphorylation site on the array.
- 2) Position and name of target amino acid on the substrate protein.
- 3) Fold changes for LPS and CpG samples were calculated by comparing the background corrected and normalized signal values of these samples to the media control.

- 4) P-values reported by Genespring software for normalized phosphorylation signals. A p-value represents confidence level on reproducibility of a signal and is evaluated by one-sample t-test which compares normalized signals (n = 18) for each peptide to a baseline value 1.
- 5) For phosphorylation sites with known upstream kinases, Phosphosite database provides names of these kinases. Available information from Phosphosite is listed here.
- 6) Curated data on Phosphosite database maintain information on effects of phosphorylation on cellular activity of a substrate protein. When available, such information was presented here.

4.2.2.1 Activation of the Known Toll-like Receptor Pathways

Signaling events associated with TLR activation have been identified using a variety of techniques, including immunoprecipitation, site mutagenesis and mass spectrometry. These analyses have been performed with a variety of human and mouse cells and provide a framework to determine if TLR signaling pathways are conserved in bovine monocytes (Miggin *et al.*, 2006). Patterns of phosphorylation observed for proteins of this pathway which are present on the array are presented in (**Figure 4.4**) along with phosphorylation details in (**Table 4.2**). Selected phosphorylation events, and their potential biological significance are further discussed.

IRAK-1: This is an important upstream kinase in TLR signaling pathways (Miggin *et al.*, 2006). IRAK-1 undergoes a series of phosphorylation events during activation resulting in its release from the receptor complex to interact with TLR adaptor molecules such as TRAF6 (Miggin *et al.*, 2006). It has been established that phosphorylation of T209 of IRAK-1 is a prerequisite for TLR-mediated activation in human embryonal kidney cells (Kollewe *et al.*, 2004). Consistent with this observation, a peptide corresponding to this site of bovine IRAK-1 undergoes a 3.2 and 3.7-fold increase in phosphorylation following LPS and CpG stimulation, respectively (**Table 4.2**). The increased phosphorylation of this site under both treatment conditions indicates that IRAK-1 is a conserved signal transduction kinase for both TLR4 and TLR9 in bovine monocytes.

Our array also contained peptides representing putative IRAK-1 phosphorylation sites which have yet to be defined with respect to biological roles. For example, the degree of phosphorylation of peptides representing T100 and T387 was independent of TLR4 or TLR9 activation. In contrast, phosphorylation of the peptide corresponding to S568 of IRAK-1 displayed a 5-fold decrease in phosphorylation following either LPS or CpG treatment. Finally, levels of phosphorylation of S376 increased 7.3-fold in response to CpG treatment but remained unchanged following LPS stimulation relative to the media control (**Table 4.2**).

Collectively these results confirm the prerequisite modification of IRAK-1 at T209 for TLR-induced signal transduction but also suggest that regulation of IRAK-1 through phosphorylation is more complex and multi-faceted involving aspects of regulation through

phosphorylation which are independent of TLR activation, conserved for various TLRs and specific to particular TLRs.

NF-\kappaBs: The NF- κ B family of transcription factors is one of the key effectors for TLR signaling by both TLR4 and TLR9. In addition to regulation through programmed degradation of inhibitory proteins, NF- κ B is controlled through phosphorylation. Phosphorylation events relating to the regulation of key NF- κ B proteins, such as p65, p100 and p105 are represented on our peptide array. As anticipated (Perkins, 2006) increased levels of phosphorylation of critical regulatory sites within NF-kB and related kinases were observed following both the LPS and CpG treatment conditions.

NF-kB p105/p50: The ability for the NF- κ B p105 sub-unit to bind DNA and function as a transcription factor depends upon phosphorylation of S337, as reported through studies in a variety of mammalian cell systems (Hou *et al.*, 2003). A peptide representing this phosphorylation event undergoes one of the most dramatic changes in phosphorylation as a result of both LPS and CpG treatment with 20 and 18-fold increases in phosphorylation, respectively (**Table 4.2**).

NF-kB p100/p52: Activation of p100 is dependent upon phosphorylation of a series of C-terminal sites including S870 (Xiao *et al.*, 2004). While both LPS and CpG stimulation resulted in increased phosphorylation of this site the effect was more pronounced with CpG (13.2-fold) versus LPS (3.5 fold) stimulation (**Table 4.2**).

NF-kB p65: Similarly, investigations of the transactivation domain of the p65 NF- κ B subunit indicate that S276 is the major phosphorylation site for this protein and modification of this residue is essential for p65-dependent cellular responses in murine embryonic fibroblasts (Okazaki *et al.*, 2003). Consistent with the established role of the p65 subunit in mediating cellular responses for various Toll-like receptors we observed a 11-fold increase in phosphorylation of this residue upon stimulation with LPS and CpG (**Table 4.2**). Phosphorylation of S311 has also been implicated in activation of p65 NF- κ B in murine

embryonic fibroblasts (Duran *et al.*, 2003) and the bovine peptide corresponding to displayed significantly increased phosphorylation following LPS and CpG stimulation (**Table 4.2**).

TAK1/MAP3K7: TAK1 is a member of the mitogen-activated kinase kinase kinase (MAP3K) family which serves as an important link between the Toll-like and MAPK pathways. TAK1 is activated by an early intermediate of the TLR pathway, TRAF6, which forms active signaling complexes with TAK1 following its activation by IRAK-1. The bovine peptide array included a peptide representing S192, a known phosphorylation site for TAK1 activation in human embryonic kidney cells (Kishimoto *et al.*, 2000). This kinase target underwent 22.9 and 15.0-fold increases in phosphorylation with LPS and CpG treatments, respectively. Conversely, a second peptide corresponding to T184 of TAK1, which has not been implicated in TLR-mediated signaling, did not undergo differential phosphorylation as a consequence of either LPS or CpG treatment (**Table 4.2**). TLR activation of the MAPK signaling pathway was supported by increased phosphorylation of peptides corresponding to activating events of v-raf-1 murine leukemia viral oncogene homolog 1(Raf1), jun oncogene (Jun), and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 4(MKK4) (**Table 4.2**). While Raf1 is an upstream protein kinase of the MAPK pathway, MKK4 lays mid point and Jun is a downstream transcription factor.

IRF3: In response to microbial nucleic acids, IRF3 is activated through phosphorylation of S396 in human embryonic kidney cells (Servant *et al.*, 2003). Phosphorylation of this site has also been reported with LPS (McCoy *et al.*, 2008). IRF3 therefore presents an interesting opportunity to test the hypothesis that differential phosphorylation plays a role in determining cellular responses to TLR signaling. Following LPS stimulation there was a 7-fold increase in S396 phosphorylation but no significant change in phosphorylation was observed following CpG treatment (**Table 4.2**). This observation provides independent confirmation that the peptide arrays can reveal discreet events involved in the regulation of complex biological responses. Furthermore, this observation provides substantial evidence for the conservation of TLR signaling events across disparate species and cell types.

FADD/Casp8: In addition to its apoptotic function FADD also plays a role in TLRinduced proliferative responses (Imtiyaz *et al.*, 2006). FADD is activated through a direct interaction with the IRAK-1 MyD88 signaling complex following TLR stimulation (Zhande *et al.*, 2007) which then induces cellular responses through activation of Casp8 (Beisner *et al.*, 2005). FADD-mediated activation of Casp8 has been observed following LPS, and to lesser extent, CpG treatment (Alappat *et al.*, 2005). We also observed increased phosphorylation of peptides corresponding to activating events for FADD and Casp8; S194 of FADD by 10.6 and 5.9-fold and S347 of Casp8 by 3.4 and 2.8-fold following LPS and CpG treatments, respectively (**Table 4.2**). The activation of these proteins, and the higher degree of activation observed with LPS treatment, provides further evidence that TLR signaling is highly conserved across species and within a variety of cell types.

FAK and Etk: Based on reported crosstalk with MyD88, activation of FAK through the TLR system has been suggested (Zeisel *et al.*, 2005). Interestingly, a peptide corresponding to Y397 of FAK, a phosphorylation event associated with activation of this kinase in human embryonic kidney cells (Glover *et al.*, 2004) was increased by 2.9 and 2.5-folds following LPS and CpG stimulation of bovine monocytes.

FAK is known to activate members of the Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) family which has defined roles in integrin signaling, promoting cell migration (Chen *et al.*, 2001), and has been implicated in TLR signaling (Doyle *et al.*, 2007). Etk is a Btk family member, although a specific role for Etk in TLR signaling has not been reported. Activation of Btk by FAK (Chen *et al.*, 2001) does, however, provide a possible link with TLR signaling. The bovine peptide arrays included a peptide corresponding to Y40, the key regulatory phosphorylation site in Etk. Phosphorylation of this peptide was increased over 7-fold following LPS stimulation and 1.6-fold following CpG (**Table 4.2**).

Consistent with the bovine kinome results from our peptide array, stimulation of the human monocytes with LPS, but not CpG resulted in phosphorylation of Y40 of Etk (**Figure 4.5**). To our knowledge this is the first report of evidence linking Etk activation with LPS stimulation. This association was first revealed by data obtained from the peptide array and highlights the utility of this approach for analyzing cell signaling events.

4.2.2.2 Activation of Receptor-specific Pathways

In addition to the general TLR4 signaling pathway activated through MyD88 and TRAF6 adaptor molecules, TLR4 specific pathways include adaptor molecules TRIF/TRAM and subsequent activation of effector proteins such as IRF3 and NF-kB (Yamamoto et al., 2002b; Hoebe et al., 2003; Oshiumi et al.,2003a). A peptide representing phosphorylation site S396, that is implicated in activation of IRF3, is present on the peptide array. Following LPS stimulation there was a 7-fold increase in S396 phosphorylation but no significant change in phosphorylation was observed following CpG treatment (**Table 4.2**). Clearly, TLR4 signaling through TRIF/TRAM has allowed phosphorylation activity of this site following LPS stimulation.

Activation of IRF3 is reported to induce TNFα production which is then secreted from the stimulated cells and binds to its receptor (TNFR) (Covert et al., 2005). Signaling induced by TNFR also culminates in NF-κB activation. In this way endotoxin can cause a prolonged transcriptional activation that is important for the defense of the host. TRIF in contrast to the other adapter proteins is shown to be important for the induction of apoptosis in response TLR4 (Han et al., 2004; Ruckdeschel et al., 2004; De Trez et al., 2005; Kaiser and Offermann, 2005). Along with TRIF this pathway requires involvement of the proteins RIP1, FADD, and caspase-8. We observed increased phosphorylation of peptides corresponding to activating events for FADD and Casp8; S194 of FADD by 10.6 and 5.9-fold and S347 of Casp8 by 3.4 and 2.8-fold following LPS and CpG treatments, respectively (**Table 4.2**). Although, these results indicate activation of FADD and Casp8, it is evident that LPS stimulation results in a higher level of phosphorylation for these peptides. It is possible that these proteins are activated through a conserved pathway for TLR4 and TLR9 as well as an LPS specific pathway through TRIF/TRAM adaptor molecules.

Mal is another cytoplasmic receptor that binds the TIR domain of TLR4. Previous reports indicate phosphorylation of this adaptor by a Btk kinase which is required for degradation of Mal (Mansell et al., 2006), providing a means of termination of its signaling. Etk is a member of the Btk family of kinases. The bovine peptide arrays included a peptide corresponding to Y40, the key regulatory phosphorylation site in Etk. Phosphorylation of this peptide was increased over 7-fold following LPS stimulation and 1.6-fold following CpG (**Table 4.2**).



Figure 4.5. Etk protein phosphorylated due to LPS stimulation of CD14⁺ human monocytes. Phosphorylation of Etk in human monocytes cultured with media, or stimulated with LPS (100 ng/mL), or CpG ODN 2007 (5 μ g/mL) for 4 hours was detected by a phospho-Etk antibody reacted with a Western blot.

Consistent with the bovine kinome results from our peptide array, stimulation of the human monocytes with LPS, but not CpG resulted in phosphorylation of Y40 of Etk (**Figure 4.5**).

4.3 Physiological Responses of LPS and CpG Treated Monocytes

4.3.1 Western Blot with Phospho-Ekt Antibody

The unknown role of Etk in TLR-mediated responses, the differential phosphorylation of the Y40 peptide under the LPS and CpG stimulation conditions and the availability of a commercial phosphospecific antibody for Y40 of Etk made it a strong candidate for more detailed investigation.

A human Etk-specific monoclonal antibody is available for the Y40 site. In spite of the high degree of conservation of the human and bovine Etks, in particular around the phosphoacceptor site, this antibody did not cross react with the bovine protein (data not shown), highlighting one of the technical limitations of antibody-based kinome analysis. Based on the anticipated shared biological role of Etk in humans and bovine cells, we examined the phosphorylation status of Etk from human CD14⁺ monocytes in response to LPS and CpG treatments. Human monocytes are previously reported to express TLR4 and TLR9 and respond to LPS and CpG ligands respectively (Bosisio *et al.*, 2002; Hornung *et al.*, 2002; Doyle *et al.*, 2007).

Consistent with the bovine kinome results from our peptide array, stimulation of the human monocytes with LPS, but not CpG, resulted in phosphorylation of Y40 of Etk (**Figure 4.5**). To our knowledge this is the first report of evidence linking Etk activation with LPS stimulation. This association was first revealed by data obtained from the peptide array and highlights the utility of this approach for analyzing cell signaling events.

4.3.2 Measuring Protein Kinase A (PKA) Activity

A previous kinomic investigation with peptide arrays indicated increased phosphorylation of numerous targets of PKA in response to LPS stimulation of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Diks *et al.*, 2004). PKA is a central cellular kinase which is regulated through both cAMP availability as well as phosphorylation of the catalytic sub-unit of PKA (PKACa) at T197. The bovine peptide arrays revealed increased phosphorylation at the

orthologous region of PKACa. LPS stimulation increased T197 peptide phosphorylation nearly 8-fold higher than the media control and 4-fold more than CpG ODN stimulation (**Table 4.2**). Another PKACa target S338 was phosphorylated due to LPS and CpG stimulation at 3.9 and 2.5 fold increase, respectively (**Table 4.2**).

To determine if increased phosphorylation of PKACa corresponded directly to increased PKA activity we used a substrate assay to monitor PKA activity in cell lysates. Purified bovine monocytes were stimulated with LPS, CpG ODN, or control medium using the same culture conditions and time used for the peptide arrays. Within 4 hours, LPS stimulation induced a significantly (p = 0.02) greater increase in PKA activity than media stimulated cells and CpG ODN stimulation did not significantly (p = 0.2) increase PKA activity relative to the media control (**Figure 4.6**). Although phosphorylation of two sites, T195/7 and S338, were observed with peptide arrays following CpG and LPS stimulation. Furthermore, it can be argued that a 1.9 phosphorylation fold change increase of T195/7 by CpG during the kinome analysis is not a significant increase to reflect cell signaling responses. Therefore, it is critical that kinome studies be complemented by functional assays to determine the biological significance of kinome changes.

4.3.3 Oxidative Burst

As a mechanism of innate immune defense the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase catalyzes the reduction of oxygen to superoxide (O2-) at the expense of NADPH (Johnson *et al.*, 1998). NADPH oxidase is not constitutively active but exposure of cells to appropriate stimuli results in rapid activation of enzymatic activity. Activation of the oxidative burst is closely associated with signaling by the Toll-like system with p47 (PHOX) serving as a direct target for IRAK-4 in human neutrophils (Pacquelet *et al.*, 2007). Differential levels of oxidative burst in response to TLR ligands have been reported for chicken and turkey monocytes and heterophils. Not all TLRs utilize the same signaling pathway to activate this response (Farnell *et al.*, 2003; He *et al.*, 2006).

P47(PHOX) activation involves phosphorylation at numerous sites but modification of S370 has been identified as one of the earliest and most significant activation events in human leukocytes (Johnson *et al.*, 1998).


Figure 4.6. PKA activity in bovine monocytes following LPS and CpG ODN stimulation. Purified CD14⁺ monocytes were stimulated with 100 ng/mL LPS, 5 µg/mL CpG, or culture medium for 4 hours before being lysed. Reagents were added to the lysate and incubated for 20 minutes at 37°C, 5% CO₂ before reading chemiluminescence every 30 seconds during a 30 minute interval. Monocytes were isolated from three animals and triplicate cultures were analyzed for each condition. The slope of the PKA activity was calculated for each replicate and these values were averaged for each biological replicate. Student t-tests carried out on slopes of PKA (n = 9) showed significant increase for LPS (p = 0.02) but not CpG (p = 0.2) stimulated cells when compared to medium cultured cells. Fold changes for LPS and CpG were calculated in relation to results from medium cultured cells.

The bovine peptide array revealed increased phosphorylation of P47^{PHOX} at the S370 position following both LPS (4.6 fold) and CpG ODN (3.1-fold) stimulation of monocytes. These data suggest activation of oxidative burst following both stimuli, but that this activation was more efficient following TLR4 stimulation.

The activity of NADPH oxidase is also influenced by p40(PHOX) which interacts with p47(PHOX) in a phosphorylation-dependent manner to regulate oxidative burst. Phosphorylation of p40(PHOX) at position Thr154 has been reported to inhibit NADPH oxidase in a semirecombinant cell-free system (Lopes *et al.*, 2004). Oxidative burst is therefore dependent upon both activation of p47(PHOX) through phosphorylation at S370 as well as removal of p40(PHOX) mediated inhibition through dephosphorylation of this regulatory protein at T154. Phosphorylation of the bovine peptide orthologous to T154 of p40(PHOX) was decreased 2.5-fold with lysate from CpG stimulated monocytes but increased 1.7-fold following LPS stimulation. This differential phosphorylation of T154 in p40 (PHOX) led us to hypothesize that CpG ODN, but not LPS stimulation, results in increased oxidative burst activity in bovine monocytes.

Purified CD14⁺ monocytes were stimulated using the same stimulation conditions as employed for the peptide arrays. CpG ODN stimulation as compared to media cultured cells induced a significant level (p = 0.04) of oxidative burst while LPS stimulation caused lower oxidative burst than media control cells but not by a significant amount (p = 0.5) (**Figure 4.7**). The oxidative burst assay was consistent with phosphorylation changes for the regulatory p40(PHOX) and support the conclusion that p47phox phosphorylation does not directly correlate with cellular responses. This kinome analysis provides direct evidence for one mechanism by which TLR signaling may result in differential activation of the oxidative burst in monocytes.



Figure 4.7. Superoxide production in LPS and CpG ODN stimulated monocytes. Bovine monocytes were stimulated with 100 ng/mL LPS, 5 μ g/mL CpG or cultured in medium for 4 hours before the addition of luminol and HRP. The monocytes were then incubated for 20 minutes at 37°C, 5% CO₂ to allow the reaction to begin. Following incubation a luminescence reading was taken every 30 seconds for 30 minutes. Fold change calculation was based on data from the mean and one standard deviation of values from 3 biological samples which were analyzed in duplicate. Fold changes for LPS and CpG were calculated in relation to results from media cultured cells. Student t-tests (n = 6) confirmed a significant increase in superoxide by CpG (p = 0.04) but not LPS stimulation (p = 0.5) when compared to cells compared to medium.

5.0 DISCUSSION

5.1 Kinome and Phosphoproteome

In spite of the undetermined function of many protein kinases, the medical significance of this class of enzymes is readily apparent. For example, in cancer, approximately half of the genes directly linked to the disease encode protein kinases, the remainder encode products that either regulate kinases or are acted upon by them (Blume-Jensen and Hunter, 2001). Similar underlying defects in phosphorylation physiology have been linked to diabetes (Chrissobolis and Sobey, 2006), Alzheimers (Avila, 2006), inflammation (Vermeulen et al., 2006) as well as numerous other disorders. The medical significance of the protein kinases has prompted extensive research efforts with an estimated quarter of drug discovery efforts of pharmaceutical and biotechnology groups being focused on protein kinase inhibitors (McInnes, 2006): As a result, 60 such kinase inhibitors are currently in advanced clinical trials. With the appreciation that many cellular responses occur independent of changes in transcription or translation there is an increasing interest in defining cellular responses at the level of post-translation modification of proteins. Analysis of cellular phosphorylation events can be conceptually divided into two categories, kinome and phosphoproteome analysis. Kinome analysis focuses on the protein kinases while phosphoproteome analysis focuses only on the protein targets of kinases.

5.2 Design of a Bovine Peptide Array

5.2.1 Non-Specific Peptides

This category defines peptides on the bovine array that are either human peptide sequences without bovine orthologous peptides or peptide sequences that are conserved across members of a protein family. Therefore, prior to assigning biological functions to these peptide targets on the basis of bovine experimental results, validation of phosphorylation activity is required.

Although, each peptide on the array uniquely identifies a single bovine protein, a set of peptides were created to represent conserved phosphorylation motifs across members of the same protein family. For example, peptide sequence TSFMMTPYVVTRYYR with a target

tyrosine is 100 % conserved between JNK1 and JNK3 with one amino acid difference in JNK2. Similarly three peptides representing conserved phosphorylation motifs for members of MKK(3,6), Smad(1, 2, 3), and Akt(1, 3) as well as peptides conserved across isomers of PKC(A, B, C) and IKK (A, B) are printed on the array (**Table 5.1**).

A peptide target (QNRSGAMSPMSWNSD) for human FADD (S194) was included in the pool of peptides on the array (**Table 5.1**). Blastp query did not return a bovine orthologous peptide for this sequence; however, due to the significance of FADD in some of the signaling pathways, it was decided to print the human peptide sequence on the array. A protein record for bovine FADD protein (accession number Q645M6) was available. Closer investigation of Q645M6 revealed conservation of S194 on the bovine FADD. We acquired a peptide sequence of 15 amino acids with S194 in position 9 (QSGSANPGSFTAWDS) which was printed on the array. Although, S194 is conserved between human and bovine FADD proteins, the degree of similarity surrounding S194 is very low.

There are 13 additional human peptide sequences (**Table 5.1**) on the array. Similar to human FADD (S194), for a number of phosphorylation targets involving proteins such as I κ B- β , TNF-R1 and Nik no equivalent bovine peptides were identified, although bovine orthologous proteins are available. Either these bovine sequences are not correctly annotated or the phosphorylation targets in the orthologous proteins have not been sufficiently conserved to match the human sequence when using the current search criteria utilized.

5.2.2 Non-Reacting Peptides

TRAF6 is an important adaptor protein in early stages of TLR signaling pathways. Searches of Phosphosite and Phosphobase databases did not produce any previously reported phosphorylation motifs for TRAF6. However, some research groups have generated potential phosphorylation motifs based on computer analysis of TRAF6 sequence. After consulting a generated list of phosphorylation motifs by JPT Peptide Technologies, seven potential target peptides for S12, S48, S97, T83, T317, T486 and T429 were selected. Data analysis of bovine experiments revealed that S12, S97 and T486 did not produce significant phosphorylation signals due to exposure to cell lysates from CpG, LPS stimulated, or media cultured bovine monocytes. It is possible that these predicted targets are not involved in phosphorylation supported by the fact that no previous phosphorylation reports are available. Alternatively, it is

possible that these sites are not phosphorylated in the context of the cell type and stimulants used during this investigation. Although S48, T83, and T429 were phosphorylated by active kinases in medium cultured lysates, in contrast to LPS and CpG stimulated monocytes.

Consistent lack of phosphorylation signals for 21 additional peptides was an indication these peptides may not be phosphorylation sites (**Table 5. 2**). These peptides either require additional substrate structural components/domains to interact with the appropriate kinases or they are not phosphorylated in the context of the cell type and stimulants used during this investigation.

5.3 Biological Relevance of Kinome Responses of LPS and CpG Treated Monocytes

5.3.1 Activated Signaling Pathways

With our bovine peptide arrays we demonstrated the ability to characterize complex signaling events through two different TLRs. We confirmed activation of known and shared signaling pathways as well as discovering novel signaling events both shared by, or specific to, each Toll-like receptor, including oxidative burst, protein kinase A (PKA) activity and activation of kinases not previously associated with Toll-like signaling.

The bovine peptide arrays confirmed the utility of this approach for characterizing complex signaling events. We used the arrays to analyze cell signaling events within bovine monocytes following stimulation by two agonists known to target distinct TLRs. TLR4 and TLR9 are known to share conserved signaling pathways but there are also reports that each TLR may also utilize unique signaling proteins (Miggin and O'Neill, 2006) This would be consistent with emerging evidence that leukocytes display distinct cellular responses to each TLR agonist (Muzio *et al.*, 2000). Our kinome analysis confirmed that TLR4 and TLR9 signaling in bovine monocytes displayed a remarkable level of conservation when comparing between TLRs (**Figure 4.3**).

Phospho-protein	Kinase Target	Human peptide Sequence	Bovine peptide Sequence
JNK1/2/3	Y185	TSFMMTPYVVTRYYR	TSFMMTPYVVTRYYR
PKCA/B/C	T323	GVTTKTFCGTPDY	DGVTTKTFCGTPDYI
MKK3/6	S98	GYLVDSVAKTMDAGC	GYLVDSVAKTMDAGC
ΙΚΚα/β	T180	DQGSLCTSFVGTL	LDQGSLCTSFVGTLQ
Smad1/2/3	S405	GSPSVRCSSMS	LTQMGSPSVRCSSMS
Akt1/3	T310	DGATMKTFCGTPEY	KDGATMKTFCGTPEY
Akt1/3	S173	RPHFPQFSYSASS	RPHFPQFSYSASATA
FADD	S194	QNRSGAMSPMSWNSD	
NF-κB (p105)	S907	QAHSLPLSPASTRQQ	
P53	S6/9	MEEPQSDPSVEPPLSQ	
РКСЕ	T710	TREEPVLTLVDEAIV	
IRAK-1	S568	WQPLAAPSGASAQAA	
P300	S893	SELLRSGSSPNLNMG	
P300	S1834	MLRRRMASMQRTGVV	
TRAIP	S497	IKTEVPGSPAGTEGN	
TRAIP	S690	IDGATQSSPAEPKSE	
IkB-β	S131/15	SGPCSSSSDSDGGDE	
IkB-β	T19/23	DEWCDTGLGSLGPDA	
TNF-R1	S274	LAPNPSFSPTPGFTP	
Akt3	T447	TAQTITITPPEKYDE	
Nik	T559	TGDYIPGTETHMAPE	

Table 5.1. A list of non-specific peptides.

Phospho -protein	Kinase Target	LPS- fold	CpG- fold	Human peptide	Bovine peptide
ATF-4	S245	1.0	0.8	TRGSPNRSLPSPGVL	SRGSPNKSLLSPGAL
NFAT2	S245	0.9	1.1	PSTSPRASVTEESWL	PSTSPRTSVTEESWL
BATF	T48	1.0	2.0	QKSRQRQTQKADTLH	QKSRQRQTQKADTLH
Jak1	Y1022/3	0.3	0.6	AIETDKEYYTVKDDR	AIETDKEYYTVKDDR
ITK	Y512	0.8	0.4	RFVLDDQYTSSTGTK	RFVLDDQYTSSTGTK
Btk	Y222	1.0	1.8	LKKVVALYDYMPMN A	LKKVVALYDYMPMN A
DOCK2	Y221/4	1.0	1.0	MSKDQPDYAMYSRIS	MSKDQPDYGMYSRIS
RelB	\$573	1.0	1.5	AFGGGLLSPGPEAT	AGFGGGLLSPGPEAT
BLNK	Y72	1.0	1.0	SDDFDSDYENPDEHS	SDDFDSDYENPDEHS
VEGFR- 2	Y1214	1.0	1.0	VCDPKFHYDNTAGIS	VCDPKFHYDNTAGIS
RAC1	S71	1.0	1.0	YDRLRPLSYPQTDVF	YDRLRPLSYPQTDVF
FGFR1	Y463	1.0	1.0	MLAGVSEYELPEDPR	MLAGVSEYELPEDPR
FGFR3	Y760	1.4	0.9	TVTSTDEYLDLSAPF	TVTSTDEYLDLSVPF
Src	S74	1.0	1.0	NSSDTVTSPQRAGPL	NSSDTVTSPQRAGPL
PKG1	T58	1.0	1.0	THIGPRTTRAQGISA	THIGPRTTRAQGISA
Fes	Y713	1.0	1.5	REEADGVYAASGGSR	REEADGIYAASGGLR
RasGAP	Y460	0.4	0.8	TVDGKEIYNTIRRKT	AVDGKEIYNTIRRKT
Fas	Y291	1.0	1.0	LHGKKEAYDTLIKDL	SHGKKNAYCTLTKSL
ASK1	S83	1.0	1.0	ATRGRGSSVGGGSRR	ATRCRGNSGGGGGRR
TRAF6	S12	1.1	1.2	ENSCGSSQSESDC	HCENSCGSSQSESDC
TRAF6	S97	0.9	0.9	KACIIKSIRDAGH	CKACIIKSIRDAGHK
TRAF6	S48	0.8	0.4	LSSSFMEEIQ	TVTLSSSFMEEIQGY
TRAF6	T486	0.9	0.8	EALRQRTFIKDDT	LEALRQRTFIKDDTL
TRAF6	T317	0.4	0.3	HQIRELTAKMETQ	DHQIRELTAKMETQS
TRAF6	Т83	0.1	0.1	LREAVQTPCGHRF	ALREAVQTPCGHRFC
TRAF6	T429	0.6	0.1	PWPFQGTIRLTIL	LPWPFQGTIRLTILD

Table 5.2. A list of non-reacting peptides

Furthermore, a comparison with previous analyses in other species and cell types also revealed a remarkable conservation of kinome activity for TLR4 and -9 in bovine monocytes (**Figure 4.4**). This observation supports the conclusion that there was a relatively high level of accuracy when annotating orthologous genes in the bovine genome.

Kinome analysis also revealed a substantial component of cell signaling that was unique to each TLR (**Figure 4.3**). Some of the phosphoproteins implicated in the TLR cell signaling pathways had been identified in previous studies using a variety of other techniques and cell lines (**Figure 4.4**). There were also a number of kinase targets which had not been previously implicated in TLR signaling. We have shown that by using a peptide array many cellular phosphorylation activities that were previously investigated by laborious methodologies in various cell types can be quickly studied in a single cell population and species of interest.

The development and use of peptide arrays for kinome analysis are in early stages of development. Therefore, careful interpretation of data and application of functional assays to validate phosphorylation results is necessary. The rationale behind these arrays is to provide a relative measure of activity for individual kinases under different treatment conditions.

Most appropriately these arrays can be used to provide a broad overview of kinome activity which can then be validated through independent, species-specific techniques.

As demonstrated here, validation of peptide array observations can be done with functional assays or phosphorylation-specific antibodies. A PKA assay, for example, allowed us to identify the specific site of PKACa corresponding to activation of this enzyme. Moreover, a superoxide assay facilitated proper interpretation of a complex interaction between p47(PHOX) and its inhibitor p40(PHOX) which was not apparent from our peptide array results. Finally, a phospho-Etk antibody was utilized to validate a phosphorylation activity of this substrate in human monocytes due to the lack of a bovine specific phospho-antibody.

5.3.2 Biological Rationale for Distinct TLR Responses

TLR9 and TLR4 belong to two different subsets of the TLR family: TLR4 is a cell membrane receptor and TLR9 is located intracellularly in endosomal compartments. Being located on the plasma member, TLR4 can detect its ligand rapidly. On the other hand detection of CpG by TLR9 depends on intracellular localization of DNA first. Such cellular activity can cause a delay in cell responding to DNA as compared to LPS. Previous reports indicate that TNF production by human monocytes occurs at 4 hours as compared to 18 hours by CpG (Hartmann and Krieg, 1999). We would expect earlier activation of the general TLR signaling pathway and NF-kB as well as earlier production of TNF by LPS as compared to CpG. At 4 hour time point during our experiments, it is evident that activation of this TLR pathway is variable by LPS and CpG stimulation (**Figure 4.3**).

TLR4 location on the cell surface allows its exposure to external stimuli. Thus, TLR4 has evolved to trigger the innate immune responses in a more efficient manner through two sets of adaptor molecules. Our results show that pathways specific to TLR4 are also activated during the LPS stimulation of bovine monocytes. More specifically, we were able to show that IRF3 which is phosphorylated through TRIF/TRAM adaptor complex is activated and subsequently induced activation events of FADD and Casp8 proteins (**Table 4.2**).

Kinome responses and functional assays on bovine monocytes were performed at a 4hour time point. From kinome responses of bovine monocytes to CpG ODN and LPS, we observed conserved and differential phosphorylation activities in these monocytes due to LPS and CpG ODN. Previous research indicates that long term stimulation of cells with LPS inhibits activity of IRAK-4 which in turn affects downstream signaling pathways by TLR4 (Hatao *et al.*, 2004). In addition, comparison of LPS and CpG stimulated human monocytes have shown high sensitivity and earlier responses of monocytes to LPS at 4 hour time and a longer 18 hours time point to CpG (Hartmann and Krieg, 1999). As this investigation was carried out at a single time point, the differences that were observed between TLR4 and TLR9 signaling could have been transient and not reflective of biological differences. A series of experiments at early and late time points can shed more light into the complex TLR signaling networks.

5.4 Advantages and Disadvantages of Peptide Arrays

It is now possible to use information from phosphoproteome investigations to create tools to investigate both the kinases; the kinome, and their targets the phosphoproteome. One advantage of kinome analysis is that focusing on enzymatic activity, rather than product abundance, enhances the sensitivity of detecting changes in kinase activity. This approach also enables development of high throughput tools which can simultaneously assess changes in a large number of preselected phosphorylation events. The present investigation clearly demonstrated an additional advantage of using peptide arrays for kinome analysis. The conservation of many phosphorylation sites within orthologous proteins enables the rapid creation of peptide arrays for kinome analysis in species for which limited phosphorylation databases exist but genomic information is available. This bioinformatics approach eliminates the need to generate and characterize species-specific and phosphorylation-specific antibodies. The present data (**Table 4.1** and **Table 4.2**) confirm that it is possible to identify conserved and divergent phosphorylation sites in orthologous proteins using protein databases from other species. This enables the rapid design of kinase substrate peptides to incorporate species-specific variances. While many of the resulting sites are absolutely conserved with respect to the protein sequences surrounding the phosphoacceptor sites, there is sufficient species-specific variation to justify the utility of a bioinformatics approach (**Table 4.1**). Such customization of arrays can be taken a step further by development of arrays focused on specific biological responses or cell functions. The bovine array used in the current investigation was biased for phosphoprotein targets known to be involved in innate immune signaling pathways.

The use of peptide arrays for kinome analysis is still in the early stages of development and there are a number of technical and biological challenges which need to be addressed. For example, while the arrays are designed to monitor kinase activity as a marker of signal transduction activity biologically, the net degree of phosphorylation of a particular target reflects the dual and opposing contributions of both kinase and phosphatase activity. The presence of a panel of phosphatase inhibitors within the cellular extracts analyzed here negates the contribution of these enzymes to the net phosphorylation status of a particular target in order to simplify analysis of kinase activity.

In some cases peptide substrates may not serve as ideal ligands for the corresponding protein kinase. This could manifest itself in a number of ways. Firstly, a peptide may be recognized and phosphorylated by kinases other than those which mediate physiological phosphorylation. This would result in false positives or overestimation of the extent of phosphorylation which would occur with the cellular protein. It is also possible that peptides on the array make available substrate targets that are not present within the particular cell type. Alternatively, that individual peptides may be recognized with differing degrees of efficiency by their respective kinases makes it difficult to use the absolute measure of phosphorylation of a given peptide as an indicator of the level of activity of the corresponding kinase.

A species-extrapolated peptide array will experience the same limitations as a peptide array created for species with well-defined phosphorylation information with one additional challenge. A paralog protein rather than an ortholog may produce matches of up to 100 % sequence similarity for the phosphorylation motif of interest. Inclusion of such peptides on the array will produce false positive signals.

5.5 Future Direction

Peptide array technology has evolved in the past few years and like any new technology, it has not reached its full potential. Currently commercial arrays are available for human research. As progress in peptide array technology continues, arrays of increasing complexity will become available to researchers. These advancements will undoubtedly include an expansion of the breadth of arrays available for different organisms, as well as kinome subsets, such as for specific organelles. One method to develop focused and species-specific array is reported here.

Based on the principle that a high degree of amino acid conservation for phosphorylation targets exists among mammalian species, a peptide array for bovine species was developed encompassing phosphorylation targets for innate immune signaling transducers and effector molecules. Development of this tool was achievable mainly because bovine genome was sequenced in 2005 and much effort has been directed towards prediction of proteins and functional annotations of bovine genes. As a result, many sequences for bovine proteins of interest are available in public databases. However, for many predicted kinase substrates, phosphorylation sites are not calculated and their biological significance is unknown. We successfully inferred phosphorylation information for approximately 140 proteins and bioinformatics tools. Furthermore, we were able to validate biological function of many of the inferred phosphorylation sites quickly by applying the peptide array to a well studied signaling pathway. Currently, efforts are directed towards genome sequencing of many organisms and the methodology developed here can be utilized to annotate phosphorylation sites for other species as soon as their genomes become available. In addition, similar focused arrays can be developed for subsets of the kinome such as all kinases involved in a particular disease or cell function.

The quality of our array can be improved in the future by removing non-specific peptides from the pool and adding controls for each peptide. In addition, current array holds some peptides which carry more than one phosphorylation targets. Phosphorylation signal for such a peptide may result from activity of more than one kinase. While measuring phosphorylation signals for such a peptide, we can not predict whether all the targets or one site is phosphorylated. In such cases, we can have representative peptides where one phosphorylation site is present and the rest are replaced with amino acids that do not participate in phosphorylation. A variation of this method can be utilized to investigate significance of having a combination of the phosphorylation sites present simultaneously. In addition, for peptides holding a single phosphorylation target, controls can be created by replacing the target amino acid with a non-phosphorylation amino acid.

A tremendous amount of phosphorylation data was generated during this investigation. There are approximately 100 peptides that are differentially phosphorylated by CpG or LPS when compared to media control. By applying functional assays we have validated few of these responses and interpreted interactions between signaling molecules in superoxide production, PKA activity and Etk phosphorylation. However, much work is needed to validate the remaining peptide array results and interpret phosphorylation based signaling pathways such as Smad and Stat pathways whose members are present on the array. In addition, we have identified new phosphorylation targets for some of the proteins that were not reported previously. New targets of TLR9 and TLR4 signaling pathways can be identified by understanding the significance of these previously unknown phosphorylation targets.

As our bovine peptide array holds transcription factors, such as NF-kB, a parallel investigation of transcription activity in stimulated monocytes will enhance the validity of our kinome analysis. As phosphorylation may correspond to activation of a transcription factor, by performing real-time PCR to test expression of target genes, we can validate our kinome results. Alternatively, a large scale gene expression analysis can be carried out by utilizing oligo or cDNA microarrays.

As kinome analysis of cells was carried out at a single time point, the differences that were observed between TLR4 and TLR9 signaling could have been transient and not reflective of biological differences. To further investigate, a series of experiments at early and late time points need to be carried out. These peptide arrays are excellent tools to evaluate transient and time dependency nature of these kinome responses.

Controversy exists regarding expression of TLR9 on human, bovine and mouse monocytes. Recent investigations have reported that human monocytes express TLR9 and respond to CpG through NF-kB pathway (Hornung *et al.*, 2002; Doyle *et al.*, 2007). Here we have demonstrated that bovine monocytes respond to CpG through activation of NF-kB as well. We assume that such signaling activity is initiated by TLR9 receptor on bovine monocytes. However, it is possible that CpG ODN triggers these cellular responses through other TLR signaling pathways. In this investigation we have assumed that CpG ODN modulates responses through the TLR9 receptor. Therefore, it is necessary to study expression of TLR9 on these cells through gene expression or marker expression techniques. An alternative would be to study kinome responses of TLR9-/- bovine monocytes and compare kinome responses to present investigation.

Peptide arrays for kinome analysis allow for characterization of global patterns of signal transduction activity as well as dissection of dynamic patterns of phosphorylation which can occur at distinct sites of the same protein to regulate unique biological objectives allowing for much more descriptive analysis of how particular pathways, and individual proteins, and being post-translationally adapted to different stimuli. We anticipate these arrays will be of considerable utility to rapidly screen specific cell populations to determine if they can respond to an agonist and whether this response is conserved when compared to the same cell type from other species or different cell types within the same species.

6.0 REFERENCES

Akira, S., and Takeda, K. (2004). Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 4, 499-511.

Akira, S., Uematsu, S., and Takeuchi, O. (2006). Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell 124, 783-801.

Alappat, E. C., Feig, C., Boyerinas, B., Volkland, J., Samuels, M., Murmann, A. E., Thorburn, A., Kidd, V. J., Slaughter, C. A., Osborn, S. L., *et al.* (2005). Phosphorylation of FADD at serine 194 by CKIalpha regulates its nonapoptotic activities. Mol Cell 19, 321-332.

Alexopoulou, L., Holt, A. C., Medzhitov, R., and Flavell, R. A. (2001). Recognition of doublestranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature 413, 732-738.

Alonso, A., Sasin, J., Bottini, N., Friedberg, I., Friedberg, I., Osterman, A., Godzik, A., Hunter, T., Dixon, J., and Mustelin, T. (2004). Protein tyrosine phosphatases in the human genome. Cell 117, 699-711.

Amir, R. E., Haecker, H., Karin, M., and Ciechanover, A. (2004). Mechanism of processing of the NF-kappa B2 p100 precursor: identification of the specific polyubiquitin chain-anchoring lysine residue and analysis of the role of NEDD8-modification on the SCF(beta-TrCP) ubiquitin ligase. Oncogene 23, 2540-2547.

Andersen-Nissen, E., Smith, K. D., Bonneau, R., Strong, R. K., and Aderem, A. (2007). A conserved surface on Toll-like receptor 5 recognizes bacterial flagellin. J Exp Med 204, 393-403.

Angus, D. C., Linde-Zwirble, W. T., Lidicker, J., Clermont, G., Carcillo, J., and Pinsky, M. R. (2001). Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Crit Care Med 29, 1303-1310.

Avila, J. (2006). Tau phosphorylation and aggregation in Alzheimer's disease pathology. FEBS Lett 580, 2922-2927.

Baccala, R., Hoebe, K., Kono, D. H., Beutler, B., and Theofilopoulos, A. N. (2007). TLR-dependent and TLR-independent pathways of type I interferon induction in systemic autoimmunity. Nat Med 13, 543-551.

Barr, T. A., Brown, S., Ryan, G., Zhao, J., and Gray, D. (2007). TLR-mediated stimulation of APC: Distinct cytokine responses of B cells and dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol 37, 3040-3053.

Barton, G. M., Kagan, J. C., and Medzhitov, R. (2006). Intracellular localization of Toll-like receptor 9 prevents recognition of self DNA but facilitates access to viral DNA. Nat Immunol 7, 49-56.

Basset, C., Holton, J., O'Mahony, R., and Roitt, I. (2003). Innate immunity and pathogen-host interaction. Vaccine 21 Suppl 2, S12-23.

Beisner, D. R., Ch'en, I. L., Kolla, R. V., Hoffmann, A., and Hedrick, S. M. (2005). Cutting edge: innate immunity conferred by B cells is regulated by caspase-8. J Immunol 175, 3469-3473.

Bell, J. K., Botos, I., Hall, P. R., Askins, J., Shiloach, J., Segal, D. M., and Davies, D. R. (2005). The molecular structure of the Toll-like receptor 3 ligand-binding domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 10976-10980.

Bell, J. K., Mullen, G. E., Leifer, C. A., Mazzoni, A., Davies, D. R., and Segal, D. M. (2003). Leucine-rich repeats and pathogen recognition in Toll-like receptors. Trends Immunol 24, 528-533.

Belvin, M. P., and Anderson, K. V. (1996). A conserved signaling pathway: the Drosophila toll-dorsal pathway. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 12, 393-416.

Bernasconi, N. L., Onai, N., and Lanzavecchia, A. (2003). A role for Toll-like receptors in acquired immunity: up-regulation of TLR9 by BCR triggering in naive B cells and constitutive expression in memory B cells. Blood 101, 4500-4504.

Bin, L. H., Xu, L. G., and Shu, H. B. (2003). TIRP, a novel Toll/interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) domain-containing adapter protein involved in TIR signaling. J Biol Chem 278, 24526-24532.

Biragyn, A., Ruffini, P. A., Leifer, C. A., Klyushnenkova, E., Shakhov, A., Chertov, O., Shirakawa, A. K., Farber, J. M., Segal, D. M., Oppenheim, J. J., and Kwak, L. W. (2002). Toll-like receptor 4-dependent activation of dendritic cells by beta-defensin 2. Science 298, 1025-1029.

Blackburn, J. M., and Hart, D. J. (2005). Fabrication of protein function microarrays for systems-oriented proteomic analysis. Methods Mol Biol 310, 197-216.

Blume-Jensen, P., and Hunter, T. (2001). Oncogenic kinase signalling. Nature 411, 355-365. Borsutzky, S., Kretschmer, K., Becker, P. D., Muhlradt, P. F., Kirschning, C. J., Weiss, S., and Guzman, C. A. (2005). The mucosal adjuvant macrophage-activating lipopeptide-2 directly stimulates B lymphocytes via the TLR2 without the need of accessory cells. J Immunol 174, 6308-6313.

Bosisio, D., Polentarutti, N., Sironi, M., Bernasconi, S., Miyake, K., Webb, G. R., Martin, M. U., Mantovani, A., and Muzio, M. (2002). Stimulation of toll-like receptor 4 expression in human mononuclear phagocytes by interferon-gamma: a molecular basis for priming and synergism with bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Blood 99, 3427-3431.

Bourquin, C., Schmidt, L., Hornung, V., Wurzenberger, C., Anz, D., Sandholzer, N., Schreiber, S., Voelkl, A., Hartmann, G., and Endres, S. (2007). Immunostimulatory RNA oligonucleotides trigger an antigen-specific cytotoxic T-cell and IgG2a response. Blood 109, 2953-2960.

Bowie, A., and O'Neill, L. A. (2000). The interleukin-1 receptor/Toll-like receptor superfamily: signal generators for pro-inflammatory interleukins and microbial products. J Leukoc Biol 67, 508-514.

Brinkworth, R. I., Breinl, R. A., and Kobe, B. (2003). Structural basis and prediction of substrate specificity in protein serine/threonine kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 74-79.

Buwitt-Beckmann, U., Heine, H., Wiesmuller, K. H., Jung, G., Brock, R., Akira, S., and Ulmer, A. J. (2005). Toll-like receptor 6-independent signaling by diacylated lipopeptides. Eur J Immunol 35, 282-289.

Buwitt-Beckmann, U., Heine, H., Wiesmuller, K. H., Jung, G., Brock, R., Akira, S., and Ulmer, A. J. (2006). TLR1- and TLR6-independent recognition of bacterial lipopeptides. J Biol Chem 281, 9049-9057.

Caamano, J., and Hunter, C. A. (2002). NF-kappaB family of transcription factors: central regulators of innate and adaptive immune functions. Clin Microbiol Rev 15, 414-429.

Cao, Z., Henzel, W. J., and Gao, X. (1996). IRAK: a kinase associated with the interleukin-1 receptor. Science 271, 1128-1131.

Cario, E., and Podolsky, D. K. (2000). Differential alteration in intestinal epithelial cell expression of toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) and TLR4 in inflammatory bowel disease. Infect Immun 68, 7010-7017.

Chen, R., Kim, O., Li, M., Xiong, X., Guan, J. L., Kung, H. J., Chen, H., Shimizu, Y., and Qiu, Y. (2001). Regulation of the PH-domain-containing tyrosine kinase Etk by focal adhesion kinase through the FERM domain. Nat Cell Biol 3, 439-444.

Choe, J., Kelker, M. S., and Wilson, I. A. (2005). Crystal structure of human toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) ectodomain. Science 309, 581-585.

Chomarat, P., Dantin, C., Bennett, L., Banchereau, J., and Palucka, A. K. (2003). TNF skews monocyte differentiation from macrophages to dendritic cells. J Immunol 171, 2262-2269.

Chrissobolis, S., and Sobey, C. G. (2006). Recent evidence for an involvement of rho-kinase in cerebral vascular disease. Stroke 37, 2174-2180.

Chung, J. Y., Park, Y. C., Ye, H., and Wu, H. (2002). All TRAFs are not created equal: common and distinct molecular mechanisms of TRAF-mediated signal transduction. J Cell Sci 115, 679-688.

Cornelie, S., Hoebeke, J., Schacht, A. M., Bertin, B., Vicogne, J., Capron, M., and Riveau, G. (2004). Direct evidence that toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) functionally binds plasmid DNA by specific cytosine-phosphate-guanine motif recognition. J Biol Chem 279, 15124-15129.

Covert, M. W., Leung, T. H., Gaston, J. E., and Baltimore, D. (2005). Achieving stability of lipopolysaccharide-induced NF-kappaB activation. Science 309, 1854-1857.

Dasari, P., Nicholson, I. C., Hodge, G., Dandie, G. W., and Zola, H. (2005). Expression of tolllike receptors on B lymphocytes. Cell Immunol 236, 140-145.

de Borst, M. H., Diks, S. H., Bolbrinker, J., Schellings, M. W., van Dalen, M. B., Peppelenbosch, M. P., Kreutz, R., Pinto, Y. M., Navis, G., and van Goor, H. (2007). Profiling of the renal kinome: a novel tool to identify protein kinases involved in angiotensin II-dependent hypertensive renal damage. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 293, F428-437.

De Trez, C., Pajak, B., Brait, M., Glaichenhaus, N., Urbain, J., Moser, M., Lauvau, G., and Muraille, E. (2005). TLR4 and Toll-IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter-inducing IFNbeta, but not MyD88, regulate Escherichia coli-induced dendritic cell maturation and apoptosis *in vivo*. J Immunol 175, 839-846.

Diebold, S. S., Kaisho, T., Hemmi, H., Akira, S., and Reis e Sousa, C. (2004). Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of single-stranded RNA. Science 303, 1529-1531.

Diebold, S. S., Massacrier, C., Akira, S., Paturel, C., Morel, Y., and Reis e Sousa, C. (2006). Nucleic acid agonists for Toll-like receptor 7 are defined by the presence of uridine ribonucleotides. Eur J Immunol 36, 3256-3267.

Diks, S. H., Kok, K., O'Toole, T., Hommes, D. W., van Dijken, P., Joore, J., and Peppelenbosch, M. P. (2004). Kinome profiling for studying lipopolysaccharide signal transduction in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Biol Chem 279, 49206-49213.

Doyle, S. L., Jefferies, C. A., Feighery, C., and O'Neill, L. A. (2007). Signaling by Toll-like receptors 8 and 9 requires Bruton's tyrosine kinase. J Biol Chem 282, 36953-36960.

Doyle, S. L., Jefferies, C. A., and O'Neill, L. A. (2005). Bruton's tyrosine kinase is involved in p65-mediated transactivation and phosphorylation of p65 on serine 536 during NFkappaB activation by lipopolysaccharide. J Biol Chem 280, 23496-23501.

Du, X., Poltorak, A., Wei, Y., and Beutler, B. (2000). Three novel mammalian toll-like receptors: gene structure, expression, and evolution. Eur Cytokine Netw 11, 362-371.

Duran, A., Diaz-Meco, M. T., and Moscat, J. (2003). Essential role of RelA Ser311 phosphorylation by zetaPKC in NF-kappaB transcriptional activation. Embo J 22, 3910-3918.

Falsey, J. R., Renil, M., Park, S., Li, S., and Lam, K. S. (2001). Peptide and small molecule microarray for high throughput cell adhesion and functional assays. Bioconjug Chem 12, 346-353.

Farnell, M. B., He, H., and Kogut, M. H. (2003). Differential activation of signal transduction pathways mediating oxidative burst by chicken heterophils in response to stimulation with lipopolysaccharide and lipoteichoic acid. Inflammation 27, 225-231.

Faux, M. C., and Scott, J. D. (1996). More on target with protein phosphorylation: conferring specificity by location. Trends Biochem Sci 21, 312-315.

Fitzgerald, K. A., McWhirter, S. M., Faia, K. L., Rowe, D. C., Latz, E., Golenbock, D. T., Coyle, A. J., Liao, S. M., and Maniatis, T. (2003). IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 4, 491-496.

Fitzgerald, K. A., Rowe, D. C., Barnes, B. J., Caffrey, D. R., Visintin, A., Latz, E., Monks, B., Pitha, P. M., and Golenbock, D. T. (2003). LPS-TLR4 signaling to IRF-3/7 and NF-kappaB involves the toll adapters TRAM and TRIF. J Exp Med 198, 1043-1055.

Flo, T. H., Halaas, O., Torp, S., Ryan, L., Lien, E., Dybdahl, B., Sundan, A., and Espevik, T. (2001). Differential expression of Toll-like receptor 2 in human cells. J Leukoc Biol 69, 474-481.

Forsbach, A., Nemorin, J. G., Volp, K., Samulowitz, U., Montino, C., Muller, C., Tluk, S., Hamm, S., Bauer, S., Lipford, G. B., and Vollmer, J. (2007). Characterization of conserved viral leader RNA sequences that stimulate innate immunity through TLRs. Oligonucleotides 17, 405-417.

Frank, R. (1992). Spot synthesis: An easy technique for the positionally addressable, parallel chemical synthesis on a membrane support. Tetrahedron 48, 9217-9232.

Funami, K., Matsumoto, M., Oshiumi, H., Akazawa, T., Yamamoto, A., and Seya, T. (2004). The cytoplasmic 'linker region' in Toll-like receptor 3 controls receptor localization and signaling. Int Immunol 16, 1143-1154.

Gay, N. J., and Keith, F. J. (1991). Drosophila Toll and IL-1 receptor. Nature 351, 355-356. Gioannini, T. L., and Weiss, J. P. (2007). Regulation of interactions of Gram-negative bacterial endotoxins with mammalian cells. Immunol Res 39, 249-260.

Glover, S., Delaney, M., Dematte, C., Kornberg, L., Frasco, M., Tran-Son-Tay, R., and Benya, R. V. (2004). Phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase tyrosine 397 critically mediates gastrinreleasing peptide's morphogenic properties. J Cell Physiol 199, 77-88.

Gorden, K. B., Gorski, K. S., Gibson, S. J., Kedl, R. M., Kieper, W. C., Qiu, X., Tomai, M. A., Alkan, S. S., and Vasilakos, J. P. (2005). Synthetic TLR agonists reveal functional differences between human TLR7 and TLR8. J Immunol 174, 1259-1268.

Gorden, K. K., Qiu, X., Battiste, J. J., Wightman, P. P., Vasilakos, J. P., and Alkan, S. S. (2006). Oligodeoxynucleotides differentially modulate activation of TLR7 and TLR8 by imidazoquinolines. J Immunol 177, 8164-8170.

Gordon, S. (2002). Pattern recognition receptors: doubling up for the innate immune response. Cell 111, 927-930.

Gray, P., Dunne, A., Brikos, C., Jefferies, C. A., Doyle, S. L., and O'Neill, L. A. (2006). MyD88 adapter-like (Mal) is phosphorylated by Bruton's tyrosine kinase during TLR2 and TLR4 signal transduction. J Biol Chem 281, 10489-10495.

Griebel, P. J., Brownlie, R., Manuja, A., Nichani, A., Mookherjee, N., Popowych, Y., Mutwiri, G., Hecker, R., and Babiuk, L. A. (2005). Bovine toll-like receptor 9: a comparative analysis of molecular structure, function and expression. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 108, 11-16.

Hamm, S., Heit, A., Koffler, M., Huster, K. M., Akira, S., Busch, D. H., Wagner, H., and Bauer, S. (2007). Immunostimulatory RNA is a potent inducer of antigen-specific cytotoxic and humoral immune response *in vivo*. Int Immunol 19, 297-304.

Han, K. J., Su, X., Xu, L. G., Bin, L. H., Zhang, J., and Shu, H. B. (2004). Mechanisms of the TRIF-induced interferon-stimulated response element and NF-kappaB activation and apoptosis pathways. J Biol Chem 279, 15652-15661.

Hanks, S. K., and Hunter, T. (1995). Protein kinases 6. The eukaryotic protein kinase superfamily: kinase (catalytic) domain structure and classification. Faseb J 9, 576-596.

Harter, L., Mica, L., Stocker, R., Trentz, O., and Keel, M. (2004). Increased expression of tolllike receptor-2 and -4 on leukocytes from patients with sepsis. Shock 22, 403-409.

Hartmann, G., and Krieg, A. M. (1999). CpG DNA and LPS induce distinct patterns of activation in human monocytes. Gene Ther 6, 893-903.

Hashimoto, C., Hudson, K. L., and Anderson, K. V. (1988). The Toll gene of Drosophila, required for dorsal-ventral embryonic polarity, appears to encode a transmembrane protein. Cell 52, 269-279.

Hatao, F., Muroi, M., Hiki, N., Ogawa, T., Mimura, Y., Kaminishi, M., and Tanamoto, K. (2004). Prolonged Toll-like receptor stimulation leads to down-regulation of IRAK-4 protein. J Leukoc Biol 76, 904-908.

Havenar-Daughton, C., Kolumam, G. A., and Murali-Krishna, K. (2006). Cutting Edge: The direct action of type I IFN on CD4 T cells is critical for sustaining clonal expansion in response to a viral but not a bacterial infection. J Immunol 176, 3315-3319.

Hayashi, F., Smith, K. D., Ozinsky, A., Hawn, T. R., Yi, E. C., Goodlett, D. R., Eng, J. K., Akira, S., Underhill, D. M., and Aderem, A. (2001). The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor 5. Nature 410, 1099-1103.

He, H., Genovese, K. J., Nisbet, D. J., and Kogut, M. H. (2006). Profile of Toll-like receptor expressions and induction of nitric oxide synthesis by Toll-like receptor agonists in chicken monocytes. Mol Immunol 43, 783-789.

Heath, W. R., Belz, G. T., Behrens, G. M., Smith, C. M., Forehan, S. P., Parish, I. A., Davey, G. M., Wilson, N. S., Carbone, F. R., and Villadangos, J. A. (2004). Cross-presentation, dendritic cell subsets, and the generation of immunity to cellular antigens. Immunol Rev 199, 9-26.

Heil, F., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Kirschning, C., Akira, S., Lipford, G., Wagner, H., and Bauer, S. (2004). Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. Science 303, 1526-1529.

Hein, W. R., and Griebel, P. J. (2003). A road less travelled: large animal models in immunological research. Nat Rev Immunol 3, 79-84.

Hemmi, H., Kaisho, T., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2003). The roles of Toll-like receptor 9, MyD88, and DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit in the effects of two distinct CpG DNAs on dendritic cell subsets. J Immunol 170, 3059-3064.

Hemmi, H., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Kaisho, T., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Matsumoto, M., Hoshino, K., Wagner, H., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2000). A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. Nature 408, 740-745.

Hochrein, H., Schlatter, B., O'Keeffe, M., Wagner, C., Schmitz, F., Schiemann, M., Bauer, S., Suter, M., and Wagner, H. (2004). Herpes simplex virus type-1 induces IFN-alpha production via Toll-like receptor 9-dependent and -independent pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 11416-11421.

Hoebe, K., Du, X., Georgel, P., Janssen, E., Tabeta, K., Kim, S. O., Goode, J., Lin, P., Mann, N., Mudd, S., *et al.* (2003). Identification of Lps2 as a key transducer of MyD88-independent TIR signalling. Nature 424, 743-748.

Hoffmann, J. A., Kafatos, F. C., Janeway, C. A., and Ezekowitz, R. A. (1999). Phylogenetic perspectives in innate immunity. Science 284, 1313-1318.

Honda, K., Ohba, Y., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Mizutani, T., Takaoka, A., Taya, C., and Taniguchi, T. (2005). Spatiotemporal regulation of MyD88-IRF-7 signalling for robust type-I interferon induction. Nature 434, 1035-1040.

Honda, K., Yanai, H., Mizutani, T., Negishi, H., Shimada, N., Suzuki, N., Ohba, Y., Takaoka, A., Yeh, W. C., and Taniguchi, T. (2004). Role of a transductional-transcriptional processor complex involving MyD88 and IRF-7 in Toll-like receptor signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 15416-15421.

Horng, T., Barton, G. M., Flavell, R. A., and Medzhitov, R. (2002). The adaptor molecule TIRAP provides signalling specificity for Toll-like receptors. Nature 420, 329-333.

Hornung, V., Guenthner-Biller, M., Bourquin, C., Ablasser, A., Schlee, M., Uematsu, S., Noronha, A., Manoharan, M., Akira, S., de Fougerolles, A., *et al.* (2005). Sequence-specific

potent induction of IFN-alpha by short interfering RNA in plasmacytoid dendritic cells through TLR7. Nat Med 11, 263-270.

Hornung, V., Rothenfusser, S., Britsch, S., Krug, A., Jahrsdorfer, B., Giese, T., Endres, S., and Hartmann, G. (2002). Quantitative expression of toll-like receptor 1-10 mRNA in cellular subsets of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and sensitivity to CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. J Immunol 168, 4531-4537.

Hoshino, K., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Sanjo, H., Ogawa, T., Takeda, Y., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (1999). Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. J Immunol 162, 3749-3752.

Hou, S., Guan, H., and Ricciardi, R. P. (2003). Phosphorylation of serine 337 of NF-kappaB p50 is critical for DNA binding. J Biol Chem 278, 45994-45998.

Houseman, B. T., Huh, J. H., Kron, S. J., and Mrksich, M. (2002). Peptide chips for the quantitative evaluation of protein kinase activity. Nat Biotechnol 20, 270-274.

Houseman, B. T., and Mrksich, M. (2002). Towards quantitative assays with peptide chips: a surface engineering approach. Trends Biotechnol 20, 279-281.

Huang, Q., Yang, J., Lin, Y., Walker, C., Cheng, J., Liu, Z. G., and Su, B. (2004). Differential regulation of interleukin 1 receptor and Toll-like receptor signaling by MEKK3. Nat Immunol 5, 98-103.

Hubbard, S. R. (1997). Crystal structure of the activated insulin receptor tyrosine kinase in complex with peptide substrate and ATP analog. Embo J 16, 5572-5581.

Huggins, J., Pellegrin, T., Felgar, R. E., Wei, C., Brown, M., Zheng, B., Milner, E. C., Bernstein, S. H., Sanz, I., and Zand, M. S. (2007). CpG DNA activation and plasma-cell differentiation of CD27- naive human B cells. Blood 109, 1611-1619.

Huizinga, E. G., Tsuji, S., Romijn, R. A., Schiphorst, M. E., de Groot, P. G., Sixma, J. J., and Gros, P. (2002). Structures of glycoprotein Ibalpha and its complex with von Willebrand factor A1 domain. Science 297, 1176-1179.

Hultmark, D. (1994). Macrophage differentiation marker MyD88 is a member of the Toll/IL-1 receptor family. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 199, 144-146.

Hunter, T. (1995). Protein kinases and phosphatases: the yin and yang of protein phosphorylation and signaling. Cell 80, 225-236.

Hunter, T. (1998). The Croonian Lecture 1997. The phosphorylation of proteins on tyrosine: its role in cell growth and disease. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 353, 583-605.

Imanishi, T., Hara, H., Suzuki, S., Suzuki, N., Akira, S., and Saito, T. (2007). Cutting edge: TLR2 directly triggers Th1 effector functions. J Immunol 178, 6715-6719.

Imtiyaz, H. Z., Rosenberg, S., Zhang, Y., Rahman, Z. S., Hou, Y. J., Manser, T., and Zhang, J. (2006). The Fas-associated death domain protein is required in apoptosis and TLR-induced proliferative responses in B cells. J Immunol 176, 6852-6861.

Inamori, K., Kyo, M., Nishiya, Y., Inoue, Y., Sonoda, T., Kinoshita, E., Koike, T., and Katayama, Y. (2005). Detection and quantification of on-chip phosphorylated peptides by surface plasmon resonance imaging techniques using a phosphate capture molecule. Anal Chem 77, 3979-3985.

Ishii, K. J., and Akira, S. (2005). Innate immune recognition of nucleic acids: beyond toll-like receptors. Int J Cancer 117, 517-523.

Iwasaki, A., and Medzhitov, R. (2004). Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 5, 987-995.

Jacchieri, S. G., Torquato, R., and Brentani, R. R. (2003). Structural study of binding of flagellin by Toll-like receptor 5. J Bacteriol 185, 4243-4247.

Jalal, S., Kindrachuk, J., Napper, S. (2007). Phosphoproteome and kinome analysis: unique prspectives on the same problem. Curr Ana Chem 3, 1-15.

Janeway, C. A., Jr., and Medzhitov, R. (1999). Lipoproteins take their toll on the host. Curr Biol 9, R879-882.

Janeway, C. A., Jr., and Medzhitov, R. (2002). Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 20, 197-216.

Jefferies, C. A., Doyle, S., Brunner, C., Dunne, A., Brint, E., Wietek, C., Walch, E., Wirth, T., and O'Neill, L. A. (2003). Bruton's tyrosine kinase is a Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domainbinding protein that participates in nuclear factor kappaB activation by Toll-like receptor 4. J Biol Chem 278, 26258-26264.

Jiang, Z., Melville, J. S., Cao, H., Kumar, S., Filipski, A., and Gibbins, A. M. (2002). Measuring conservation of contiguous sets of autosomal markers on bovine and porcine genomes in relation to the map of the human genome. Genome 45, 769-776.

Jin, M. S., Kim, S. E., Heo, J. Y., Lee, M. E., Kim, H. M., Paik, S. G., Lee, H., and Lee, J. O. (2007). Crystal structure of the TLR1-TLR2 heterodimer induced by binding of a tri-acylated lipopeptide. Cell 130, 1071-1082.

Johnson, J. L., Park, J. W., Benna, J. E., Faust, L. P., Inanami, O., and Babior, B. M. (1998). Activation of p47(PHOX), a cytosolic subunit of the leukocyte NADPH oxidase. Phosphorylation of ser-359 or ser-370 precedes phosphorylation at other sites and is required for activity. J Biol Chem 273, 35147-35152.

Johnson, S. A., and Hunter, T. (2005). Kinomics: methods for deciphering the kinome. Nat Methods 2, 17-25.

Jurk, M., Kritzler, A., Schulte, B., Tluk, S., Schetter, C., Krieg, A. M., and Vollmer, J. (2006). Modulating responsiveness of human TLR7 and 8 to small molecule ligands with T-rich phosphorothiate oligodeoxynucleotides. Eur J Immunol 36, 1815-1826.

Kaiser, W. J., and Offermann, M. K. (2005). Apoptosis induced by the toll-like receptor adaptor TRIF is dependent on its receptor interacting protein homotypic interaction motif. J Immunol 174, 4942-4952.

Kalume, D. E., Molina, H., and Pandey, A. (2003). Tackling the phosphoproteome: tools and strategies. Curr Opin Chem Biol 7, 64-69.

Kariko, K., Buckstein, M., Ni, H., and Weissman, D. (2005). Suppression of RNA recognition by Toll-like receptors: the impact of nucleoside modification and the evolutionary origin of RNA. Immunity 23, 165-175.

Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2007). Signaling to NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptors. Trends Mol Med 13, 460-469.

Kawai, T., Sato, S., Ishii, K. J., Coban, C., Hemmi, H., Yamamoto, M., Terai, K., Matsuda, M., Inoue, J., Uematsu, S., *et al.* (2004). Interferon-alpha induction through Toll-like receptors involves a direct interaction of IRF7 with MyD88 and TRAF6. Nat Immunol 5, 1061-1068.

Kawasaki, K., Akashi, S., Shimazu, R., Yoshida, T., Miyake, K., and Nishijima, M. (2000). Mouse toll-like receptor 4.MD-2 complex mediates lipopolysaccharide-mimetic signal transduction by Taxol. J Biol Chem 275, 2251-2254.

Kemp, B. E., Bylund, D. B., Huang, T. S., and Krebs, E. G. (1975). Substrate specificity of the cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 72, 3448-3452.

Kemp, B. E., Graves, D. J., Benjamini, E., and Krebs, E. G. (1977). Role of multiple basic residues in determining the substrate specificity of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. J Biol Chem 252, 4888-4894.

Kemp, B. E., and Pearson, R. B. (1990). Protein kinase recognition sequence motifs. Trends Biochem Sci 15, 342-346.

Kim, S. H., Tamrazi, A., Carlson, K. E., and Katzenellenbogen, J. A. (2005). A proteomic microarray approach for exploring ligand-initiated nuclear hormone receptor pharmacology, receptor selectivity, and heterodimer functionality. Mol Cell Proteomics 4, 267-277.

Kishimoto, K., Matsumoto, K., and Ninomiya-Tsuji, J. (2000). TAK1 mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase is activated by autophosphorylation within its activation loop. J Biol Chem 275, 7359-7364.

Klinman, D. M. (2004). Immunotherapeutic uses of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. Nat Rev Immunol 4, 249-258.

Kobe, B., Kampmann, T., Forwood, J. K., Listwan, P., and Brinkworth, R. I. (2005). Substrate specificity of protein kinases and computational prediction of substrates. Biochim Biophys Acta 1754, 200-209.

Kokkinopoulos, I., Jordan, W. J., and Ritter, M. A. (2005). Toll-like receptor mRNA expression patterns in human dendritic cells and monocytes. Mol Immunol 42, 957-968.

Kollewe, C., Mackensen, A. C., Neumann, D., Knop, J., Cao, P., Li, S., Wesche, H., and Martin, M. U. (2004). Sequential autophosphorylation steps in the interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase-1 regulate its availability as an adapter in interleukin-1 signaling. J Biol Chem 279, 5227-5236.

Kreegipuu, A., Blom, N., and Brunak, S. (1999). PhosphoBase, a database of phosphorylation sites: release 2.0. Nucleic Acids Res 27, 237-239.

Kreegipuu, A., Blom, N., Brunak, S., and Jarv, J. (1998). Statistical analysis of protein kinase specificity determinants. FEBS Lett 430, 45-50.

Krieg, A. M. (2002a). CpG motifs in bacterial DNA and their immune effects. Annu Rev Immunol 20, 709-760.

Krieg, A. M. (2002b). A role for Toll in autoimmunity. Nat Immunol 3, 423-424.

Krieg, A. M. (2006). Therapeutic potential of Toll-like receptor 9 activation. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5, 471-484.

Krieg, A. M., Yi, A. K., Matson, S., Waldschmidt, T. J., Bishop, G. A., Teasdale, R., Koretzky, G. A., and Klinman, D. M. (1995). CpG motifs in bacterial DNA trigger direct B-cell activation. Nature 374, 546-549.

Krug, A., French, A. R., Barchet, W., Fischer, J. A., Dzionek, A., Pingel, J. T., Orihuela, M. M., Akira, S., Yokoyama, W. M., and Colonna, M. (2004a). TLR9-dependent recognition of MCMV by IPC and DC generates coordinated cytokine responses that activate antiviral NK cell function. Immunity 21, 107-119.

Krug, A., Luker, G. D., Barchet, W., Leib, D. A., Akira, S., and Colonna, M. (2004b). Herpes simplex virus type 1 activates murine natural interferon-producing cells through toll-like receptor 9. Blood 103, 1433-1437.

Krupa, A., and Srinivasan, N. (2002). The repertoire of protein kinases encoded in the draft version of the human genome: atypical variations and uncommon domain combinations. Genome Biol 3, RESEARCH0066.

Kufer, T. A., Fritz, J. H., and Philpott, D. J. (2005). NACHT-LRR proteins (NLRs) in bacterial infection and immunity. Trends Microbiol 13, 381-388.

Kukar, T., Eckenrode, S., Gu, Y., Lian, W., Megginson, M., She, J. X., and Wu, D. (2002). Protein microarrays to detect protein-protein interactions using red and green fluorescent proteins. Anal Biochem 306, 50-54.

Kurt-Jones, E. A., Popova, L., Kwinn, L., Haynes, L. M., Jones, L. P., Tripp, R. A., Walsh, E. E., Freeman, M. W., Golenbock, D. T., Anderson, L. J., and Finberg, R. W. (2000). Pattern recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. Nat Immunol 1, 398-401.

Leadbetter, E. A., Rifkin, I. R., Hohlbaum, A. M., Beaudette, B. C., Shlomchik, M. J., and Marshak-Rothstein, A. (2002). Chromatin-IgG complexes activate B cells by dual engagement of IgM and Toll-like receptors. Nature 416, 603-607.

Lee, K. Y., D'Acquisto, F., Hayden, M. S., Shim, J. H., and Ghosh, S. (2005). PDK1 nucleates T cell receptor-induced signaling complex for NF-kappaB activation. Science 308, 114-118.

Lee, R. M., White, M. R., and Hartshorn, K. L. (2006). Influenza a viruses upregulate neutrophil toll-like receptor 2 expression and function. Scand J Immunol 63, 81-89.

Lee, T., Hoofnagle, A. N., Kabuyama, Y., Stroud, J., Min, X., Goldsmith, E. J., Chen, L., Resing, K. A., and Ahn, N. G. (2004). Docking motif interactions in MAP kinases revealed by hydrogen exchange mass spectrometry. Mol Cell 14, 43-55.

Lemaitre, B., Nicolas, E., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J. M., and Hoffmann, J. A. (1996). The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. Cell 86, 973-983.

Lesaicherre, M. L., Uttamchandani, M., Chen, G. Y., and Yao, S. Q. (2002). Antibody-based fluorescence detection of kinase activity on a peptide array. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 12, 2085-2088.

Leulier, F., and Lemaitre, B. (2008). Toll-like receptors--taking an evolutionary approach. Nat Rev Genet 9, 165-178.

Li, S., Strelow, A., Fontana, E. J., and Wesche, H. (2002). IRAK-4: a novel member of the IRAK family with the properties of an IRAK-kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 5567-5572.

Lien, E., Sellati, T. J., Yoshimura, A., Flo, T. H., Rawadi, G., Finberg, R. W., Carroll, J. D., Espevik, T., Ingalls, R. R., Radolf, J. D., and Golenbock, D. T. (1999). Toll-like receptor 2 functions as a pattern recognition receptor for diverse bacterial products. J Biol Chem 274, 33419-33425.

Liljeroos, M., Vuolteenaho, R., Morath, S., Hartung, T., Hallman, M., and Ojaniemi, M. (2007).

Bruton's tyrosine kinase together with PI 3-kinase are part of Toll-like receptor 2 multiprotein complex and mediate LTA induced Toll-like receptor 2 responses in macrophages. Cell Signal 19, 625-633.

Liu, Y. J. (2005). IPC: professional type 1 interferon-producing cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors. Annu Rev Immunol 23, 275-306.

Lopes, L. R., Dagher, M. C., Gutierrez, A., Young, B., Bouin, A. P., Fuchs, A., and Babior, B. M. (2004). Phosphorylated p40PHOX as a negative regulator of NADPH oxidase. Biochemistry 43, 3723-3730.

Lowenberg, M., Tuynman, J., Bilderbeek, J., Gaber, T., Buttgereit, F., van Deventer, S., Peppelenbosch, M., and Hommes, D. (2005a). Rapid immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids mediated through Lck and Fyn. Blood 106, 1703-1710.

Lowenberg, M., Verhaar, A., van den Blink, B., ten Kate, F., van Deventer, S., Peppelenbosch, M., and Hommes, D. (2005b). Specific inhibition of c-Raf activity by semapimod induces clinical remission in severe Crohn's disease. J Immunol 175, 2293-2300.

Lund, J., Sato, A., Akira, S., Medzhitov, R., and Iwasaki, A. (2003). Toll-like receptor 9mediated recognition of Herpes simplex virus-2 by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med 198, 513-520.

Ma, Y., Pawar, S., Sanchez-Schmitz, G., Poisson, L., Byers, A., Shanen B. C., *et al.* (2007). *In vivo* vaccination site: a novel test bed for immunopotentiators. J Immunol 178, 30-36.

MacBeath, G., and Schreiber, S. L. (2000). Printing proteins as microarrays for high-throughput function determination. Science 289, 1760-1763.

Macnab, R. M. (1992). Genetics and biogenesis of bacterial flagella. Annu Rev Genet 26, 131-158.

Mann, M., Ong, S. E., Gronborg, M., Steen, H., Jensen, O. N., and Pandey, A. (2002). Analysis of protein phosphorylation using mass spectrometry: deciphering the phosphoproteome. Trends Biotechnol 20, 261-268.

Manning, G., Whyte, D. B., Martinez, R., Hunter, T., and Sudarsanam, S. (2002). The protein kinase complement of the human genome. Science 298, 1912-1934.

Mansell, A., Smith, R., Doyle, S. L., Gray, P., Fenner, J. E., Crack, P. J., Nicholson, S. E., Hilton,

D. J., O'Neill, L. A., and Hertzog, P. J. (2006). Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 negatively regulates Toll-like receptor signaling by mediating Mal degradation. Nat Immunol 7, 148-155.

Mansson, A., Adner, M., Hockerfelt, U., and Cardell, L. O. (2006). A distinct Toll-like receptor repertoire in human tonsillar B cells, directly activated by PamCSK, R-837 and CpG-2006 stimulation. Immunology 118, 539-548.

Marshall, J. D., Fearon, K., Abbate, C., Subramanian, S., Yee, P., Gregorio, J., Coffman, R. L., and Van Nest, G. (2003). Identification of a novel CpG DNA class and motif that optimally stimulate B cell and plasmacytoid dendritic cell functions. J Leukoc Biol 73, 781-792.

Martin, F., and Kearney, J. F. (2002). Marginal-zone B cells. Nat Rev Immunol 2, 323-335.

Martinon, F., and Tschopp, J. (2005). NLRs join TLRs as innate sensors of pathogens. Trends Immunol 26, 447-454.

Matsumoto, M., Funami, K., Tanabe, M., Oshiumi, H., Shingai, M., Seto, Y., Yamamoto, A., and Seya, T. (2003). Subcellular localization of Toll-like receptor 3 in human dendritic cells. J Immunol 171, 3154-3162.

Matsumoto, M., Kikkawa, S., Kohase, M., Miyake, K., and Seya, T. (2002). Establishment of a monoclonal antibody against human Toll-like receptor 3 that blocks double-stranded RNA-mediated signaling. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 293, 1364-1369.

McCoy, C. E., Carpenter, S., Palsson-McDermott, E. M., Gearing, L. J., and O'Neill, L. A. (2008). Glucocorticoids Inhibit IRF3 Phosphorylation in Response to Toll-like Receptor-3 and -4 by Targeting TBK1 Activation. J Biol Chem 283, 14277-14285.

McInnes, C. (2006). Improved lead-finding for kinase targets using high-throughput docking. Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel 9, 339-347.

Medzhitov, R. (2001). Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 1, 135-145.

Medzhitov, R., and Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1997). Innate immunity: impact on the adaptive immune response. Curr Opin Immunol 9, 4-9.

Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., and Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1997). A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature 388, 394-397.

Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., Kopp, E., Stadlen, A., Chen, C., Ghosh, S., and Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1998). MyD88 is an adaptor protein in the hToll/IL-1 receptor family signaling pathways. Mol Cell 2, 253-258.

Melchjorsen, J., Jensen, S. B., Malmgaard, L., Rasmussen, S. B., Weber, F., Bowie, A. G., Matikainen, S., and Paludan, S. R. (2005). Activation of innate defense against a paramyxovirus is mediated by RIG-I and TLR7 and TLR8 in a cell-type-specific manner. J Virol 79, 12944-12951.

Mena, A., Nichani, A. K., Popowych, Y., Ioannou, X. P., Godson, D. L., Mutwiri, G. K., Hecker, R., Babiuk, L. A., and Griebel, P. (2003). Bovine and ovine blood mononuclear leukocytes differ markedly in innate immune responses induced by Class A and Class B CpG-oligodeoxynucleotide. Oligonucleotides 13, 245-259.

Mercurio, F., Zhu, H., Murray, B. W., Shevchenko, A., Bennett, B. L., Li, J., Young, D. B., Barbosa, M., Mann, M., Manning, A., and Rao, A. (1997). IKK-1 and IKK-2: cytokine-activated IkappaB kinases essential for NF-kappaB activation. Science 278, 860-866.

Miggin, S. M., and O'Neill, L. A. (2006). New insights into the regulation of TLR signaling. J Leukoc Biol 80, 220-226.

Miller, S. I., Ernst, R. K., and Bader, M. W. (2005). LPS, TLR4 and infectious disease diversity. Nat Rev Microbiol 3, 36-46.

Miyake, K. (2007). Innate immune sensing of pathogens and danger signals by cell surface Toll-like receptors. Semin Immunol 19, 3-10.

Mizel, S. B., West, A. P., and Hantgan, R. R. (2003). Identification of a sequence in human tolllike receptor 5 required for the binding of Gram-negative flagellin. J Biol Chem 278, 23624-23629.

Mookherjee, N., Brown, K. L., Bowdish, D. M., Doria, S., Falsafi, R., Hokamp, K., Roche, F. M., Mu, R., Doho, G. H., Pistolic, J., *et al.* (2006). Modulation of the TLR-mediated inflammatory response by the endogenous human host defense peptide LL-37. J Immunol 176, 2455-2464.

Moran, A. P., Lindner, B., and Walsh, E. J. (1997). Structural characterization of the lipid A component of Helicobacter pylori rough- and smooth-form lipopolysaccharides. J Bacteriol 179, 6453-6463.

Morr, M., Takeuchi, O., Akira, S., Simon, M. M., and Muhlradt, P. F. (2002). Differential recognition of structural details of bacterial lipopeptides by toll-like receptors. Eur J Immunol 32, 3337-3347.

Murray, P. R., K. S. Rosenthal, *et al.* (2002). Basic concepts in the immune response. <u>Medical Microbiology</u>. L. L. Grigg. St. Louis, Missouri, Mosby, Inc.

Muzio, M., Bosisio, D., Polentarutti, N., D'Amico, G., Stoppacciaro, A., Mancinelli, R., van't Veer, C., Penton-Rol, G., Ruco, L. P., Allavena, P., and Mantovani, A. (2000). Differential expression and regulation of toll-like receptors (TLR) in human leukocytes: selective expression of TLR3 in dendritic cells. J Immunol 164, 5998-6004.

Muzio, M., Ni, J., Feng, P., and Dixit, V. M. (1997). IRAK (Pelle) family member IRAK-2 and MyD88 as proximal mediators of IL-1 signaling. Science 278, 1612-1615.

Nichani, A. K., Mena, A., Kaushik, R. S., Mutwiri, G. K., Townsend, H. G., Hecker, R., Krieg, A. M., Babiuk, L. A., and Griebel, P. J. (2006). Stimulation of innate immune responses by CpG oligodeoxynucleotide in newborn lambs can reduce bovine herpesvirus-1 shedding. Oligonucleotides 16, 58-67.

Nishiya, T., and DeFranco, A. L. (2004). Ligand-regulated chimeric receptor approach reveals distinctive subcellular localization and signaling properties of the Toll-like receptors. J Biol Chem 279, 19008-19017.

Nishiya, T., Kajita, E., Miwa, S., and Defranco, A. L. (2005). TLR3 and TLR7 are targeted to the same intracellular compartments by distinct regulatory elements. J Biol Chem 280, 37107-37117.

Ohashi, K., Burkart, V., Flohe, S., and Kolb, H. (2000). Cutting edge: heat shock protein 60 is a putative endogenous ligand of the toll-like receptor-4 complex. J Immunol 164, 558-561.

Ojaniemi, M., Glumoff, V., Harju, K., Liljeroos, M., Vuori, K., and Hallman, M. (2003). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase is involved in Toll-like receptor 4-mediated cytokine expression in mouse macrophages. Eur J Immunol 33, 597-605.

Okazaki, T., Sakon, S., Sasazuki, T., Sakurai, H., Doi, T., Yagita, H., Okumura, K., and Nakano, H. (2003). Phosphorylation of serine 276 is essential for p65 NF-kappaB subunit-dependent cellular responses. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 300, 807-812.

Oliver, A. M., Martin, F., Gartland, G. L., Carter, R. H., and Kearney, J. F. (1997). Marginal zone B cells exhibit unique activation, proliferative and immunoglobulin secretory responses. Eur J Immunol 27, 2366-2374.

O'Mahony, D. S., Pham, U., Iyer, R., Hawn, T. R., and Liles, W. C. (2008). Differential constitutive and cytokine-modulated expression of human Toll-like receptors in primary neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages. Int J Med Sci 5, 1-8.

Oshiumi, H., Matsumoto, M., Funami, K., Akazawa, T., and Seya, T. (2003a). TICAM-1, an adaptor molecule that participates in Toll-like receptor 3-mediated interferon-beta induction. Nat Immunol 4, 161-167.

Oshiumi, H., Sasai, M., Shida, K., Fujita, T., Matsumoto, M., and Seya, T. (2003b). TIR-containing adapter molecule (TICAM)-2, a bridging adapter recruiting to toll-like receptor 4 TICAM-1 that induces interferon-beta. J Biol Chem 278, 49751-49762.

Ozinsky, A., Underhill, D. M., Fontenot, J. D., Hajjar, A. M., Smith, K. D., Wilson, C. B., Schroeder, L., and Aderem, A. (2000). The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 13766-13771.

Pacquelet, S., Johnson, J. L., Ellis, B. A., Brzezinska, A. A., Lane, W. S., Munafo, D. B., and Catz, S. D. (2007). Cross-talk between IRAK-4 and the NADPH oxidase. Biochem J 403, 451-461.

Panse, S., Dong, L., Burian, A., Carus, R., Schutkowski, M., Reimer, U., and Schneider-Mergener, J. (2004). Profiling of generic anti-phosphopeptide antibodies and kinases with peptide microarrays using radioactive and fluorescence-based assays. Mol Divers 8, 291-299.

Pasare, C., and Medzhitov, R. (2005). Control of B-cell responses by Toll-like receptors. Nature 438, 364-368.

Perkins, N. D. (2006). Post-translational modifications regulating the activity and function of the nuclear factor kappa B pathway. Oncogene 25, 6717-6730.

Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M. Y., Van Huffel, C., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Galanos, C., *et al.* (1998). Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science 282, 2085-2088.

Pons, J., Sauleda, J., Regueiro, V., Santos, C., Lopez, M., Ferrer, J., Agusti, A. G., and Bengoechea, J. A. (2006). Expression of Toll-like receptor 2 is up-regulated in monocytes from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Res 7, 64.

Qureshi, S. T., Lariviere, L., Leveque, G., Clermont, S., Moore, K. J., Gros, P., and Malo, D. (1999). Endotoxin-tolerant mice have mutations in Toll-like receptor 4 (Tlr4). J Exp Med 189, 615-625.

Raetz, C. R., and Whitfield, C. (2002). Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins. Annu Rev Biochem 71, 635-700.

Raggiaschi, R., Gotta, S., and Terstappen, G. C. (2005). Phosphoproteome analysis. Biosci Rep 25, 33-44.

Rassa, J. C., Meyers, J. L., Zhang, Y., Kudaravalli, R., and Ross, S. R. (2002). Murine retroviruses activate B cells via interaction with toll-like receptor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 2281-2286.

Rich RL, M. D. (2000). Advances in surface plasmon resonance biosensor analysis. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 11, 54-61.

Rock, F. L., Hardiman, G., Timans, J. C., Kastelein, R. A., and Bazan, J. F. (1998). A family of human receptors structurally related to Drosophila Toll. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 588-593.

Rowe, D. C., McGettrick, A. F., Latz, E., Monks, B. G., Gay, N. J., Yamamoto, M., Akira, S., O'Neill, L. A., Fitzgerald, K. A., and Golenbock, D. T. (2006). The myristoylation of TRIF-related adaptor molecule is essential for Toll-like receptor 4 signal transduction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 6299-6304.

Ruckdeschel, K., Pfaffinger, G., Haase, R., Sing, A., Weighardt, H., Hacker, G., Holzmann, B., and Heesemann, J. (2004). Signaling of apoptosis through TLRs critically involves toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter inducing IFN-beta, but not MyD88, in bacteria-infected murine macrophages. J Immunol 173, 3320-3328.

Rutz, M., Metzger, J., Gellert, T., Luppa, P., Lipford, G. B., Wagner, H., and Bauer, S. (2004). Toll-like receptor 9 binds single-stranded CpG-DNA in a sequence- and pH-dependent manner. Eur J Immunol 34, 2541-2550.

Sabroe, I., Jones, E. C., Usher, L. R., Whyte, M. K., and Dower, S. K. (2002). Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 and TLR4 in human peripheral blood granulocytes: a critical role for monocytes in leukocyte lipopolysaccharide responses. J Immunol 168, 4701-4710.

Saikh, K. U., Kissner, T. L., Sultana, A., Ruthel, G., and Ulrich, R. G. (2004). Human monocytes infected with Yersinia pestis express cell surface TLR9 and differentiate into dendritic cells. J Immunol 173, 7426-7434.

Sato, S., Sugiyama, M., Yamamoto, M., Watanabe, Y., Kawai, T., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2003). Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN-beta (TRIF) associates with TNF receptor-associated factor 6 and TANK-binding kinase 1, and activates two distinct transcription factors, NF-kappa B and IFN-regulatory factor-3, in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol 171, 4304-4310.

Scheel, B., Braedel, S., Probst, J., Carralot, J. P., Wagner, H., Schild, H., Jung, G., Rammensee, H. G., and Pascolo, S. (2004). Immunostimulating capacities of stabilized RNA molecules. Eur J Immunol 34, 537-547.

Schlessinger, J. (1993). Cellular signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Harvey Lect 89, 105-123.

Schneider, D. S., Hudson, K. L., Lin, T. Y., and Anderson, K. V. (1991). Dominant and recessive mutations define functional domains of Toll, a transmembrane protein required for dorsal-ventral polarity in the Drosophila embryo. Genes Dev 5, 797-807.

Schon, M. P., and Schon, M. (2008). TLR7 and TLR8 as targets in cancer therapy. Oncogene 27, 190-199.

Schromm, A. B., Brandenburg, K., Loppnow, H., Moran, A. P., Koch, M. H., Rietschel, E. T., and Seydel, U. (2000). Biological activities of lipopolysaccharides are determined by the shape of their lipid A portion. Eur J Biochem 267, 2008-2013.

Schromm, A. B., Brandenburg, K., Loppnow, H., Zahringer, U., Rietschel, E. T., Carroll, S. F., Koch, M. H., Kusumoto, S., and Seydel, U. (1998). The charge of endotoxin molecules influences their conformation and IL-6-inducing capacity. J Immunol 161, 5464-5471.

Servant, M. J., Grandvaux, N., tenOever, B. R., Duguay, D., Lin, R., and Hiscott, J. (2003). Identification of the minimal phosphoacceptor site required for *in vivo* activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 in response to virus and double-stranded RNA. J Biol Chem 278, 9441-9447.

Seya, T., Funami, K., Taniguchi, M., and Matsumoto, M. (2005). Antibodies against human Toll-like receptors (TLRs): TLR distribution and localization in human dendritic cells. J Endotoxin Res 11, 369-374.

Shimazu, R., Akashi, S., Ogata, H., Nagai, Y., Fukudome, K., Miyake, K., and Kimoto, M. (1999). MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysaccharide responsiveness on Toll-like receptor 4. J Exp Med 189, 1777-1782.

Sioud, M. (2005). Induction of inflammatory cytokines and interferon responses by doublestranded and single-stranded siRNAs is sequence-dependent and requires endosomal localization. J Mol Biol 348, 1079-1090.

Smirnova, I., Poltorak, A., Chan, E. K., McBride, C., and Beutler, B. (2000). Phylogenetic variation and polymorphism at the toll-like receptor 4 locus (TLR4). Genome Biol 1, RESEARCH002.

Smith, K. D., Andersen-Nissen, E., Hayashi, F., Strobe, K., Bergman, M. A., Barrett, S. L., Cookson, B. T., and Aderem, A. (2003a). Toll-like receptor 5 recognizes a conserved site on flagellin required for protofilament formation and bacterial motility. Nat Immunol 4, 1247-1253.

Smith, M. F., Jr., Mitchell, A., Li, G., Ding, S., Fitzmaurice, A. M., Ryan, K., Crowe, S., and Goldberg, J. B. (2003b). Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR5, but not TLR4, are required for Helicobacter pylori-induced NF-kappa B activation and chemokine expression by epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 278, 32552-32560.

Somerville, J. E., Jr., Cassiano, L., and Darveau, R. P. (1999). Escherichia coli msbB gene as a virulence factor and a therapeutic target. Infect Immun 67, 6583-6590.

Songyang, Z., Carraway, K. L., 3rd, Eck, M. J., Harrison, S. C., Feldman, R. A., Mohammadi, M., Schlessinger, J., Hubbard, S. R., Smith, D. P., Eng, C., and *et al.* (1995). Catalytic specificity of protein-tyrosine kinases is critical for selective signalling. Nature 373, 536-539.

Sparwasser, T., Miethke, T., Lipford, G., Borschert, K., Hacker, H., Heeg, K., and Wagner, H. (1997). Bacterial DNA causes septic shock. Nature 386, 336-337.

Takaoka, A., Yanai, H., Kondo, S., Duncan, G., Negishi, H., Mizutani, T., Kano, S., Honda, K., Ohba, Y., Mak, T. W., and Taniguchi, T. (2005). Integral role of IRF-5 in the gene induction programme activated by Toll-like receptors. Nature 434, 243-249.

Takeda, K., Kaisho, T., and Akira, S. (2003). Toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 21, 335-376.

Takeshita, F., Gursel, I., Ishii, K. J., Suzuki, K., Gursel, M., and Klinman, D. M. (2004). Signal transduction pathways mediated by the interaction of CpG DNA with Toll-like receptor 9. Semin Immunol 16, 17-22.

Takeuchi, M., Rothe, M., and Goeddel, D. V. (1996). Anatomy of TRAF2. Distinct domains for nuclear factor-kappaB activation and association with tumor necrosis factor signaling proteins. J Biol Chem 271, 19935-19942.

Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Muhlradt, P. F., Morr, M., Radolf, J. D., Zychlinsky, A., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2001). Discrimination of bacterial lipoproteins by Toll-like receptor 6. Int Immunol 13, 933-940.

Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Horiuchi, T., Hoshino, K., Takeda, K., Dong, Z., Modlin, R. L., and Akira, S. (2002). Cutting edge: role of Toll-like receptor 1 in mediating immune response to microbial lipoproteins. J Immunol 169, 10-14.

Tanaka, H., Fujita, N., and Tsuruo, T. (2005). 3-Phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1mediated IkappaB kinase beta (IkkB) phosphorylation activates NF-kappaB signaling. J Biol Chem 280, 40965-40973.

Tato, C. M., and Hunter, C. A. (2002). Host-pathogen interactions: subversion and utilization of the NF-kappa B pathway during infection. Infect Immun 70, 3311-3317.

Termeer, C., Benedix, F., Sleeman, J., Fieber, C., Voith, U., Ahrens, T., Miyake, K., Freudenberg, M., Galanos, C., and Simon, J. C. (2002). Oligosaccharides of Hyaluronan activate dendritic cells via toll-like receptor 4. J Exp Med 195, 99-111.

Tessmer, G. W., Skuster, J. R., Tabatabai, L. B., and Graves, D. J. (1977). Studies on the specificity of phosphorylase kinase using peptide substrates. J Biol Chem 252, 5666-5671.

Thrasher, A., Chetty, M., Casimir, C., and Segal, A. W. (1992). Restoration of superoxide generation to a chronic granulomatous disease-derived B-cell line by retrovirus mediated gene transfer. Blood 80, 1125-1129.

Till, J. H., Annan, R. S., Carr, S. A., and Miller, W. T. (1994). Use of synthetic peptide libraries and phosphopeptide-selective mass spectrometry to probe protein kinase substrate specificity. J Biol Chem 269, 7423-7428.

Tokunaga, T., Yamamoto, H., Shimada, S., Abe, H., Fukuda, T., Fujisawa, Y., Furutani, Y., Yano, O., Kataoka, T., Sudo, T., and *et al.* (1984). Antitumor activity of deoxyribonucleic acid fraction from Mycobacterium bovis BCG. I. Isolation, physicochemical characterization, and antitumor activity. J Natl Cancer Inst 72, 955-962.

Uematsu, S., Sato, S., Yamamoto, M., Hirotani, T., Kato, H., Takeshita, F., Matsuda, M., Coban, C., Ishii, K. J., Kawai, T., *et al.* (2005). Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase-1 plays an essential role for Toll-like receptor (TLR)7- and TLR9-mediated interferon-{alpha} induction. J Exp Med 201, 915-923.

Ulevitch, R. J. (2004). Therapeutics targeting the innate immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 4, 512-520.

van Baal, J. W., Diks, S. H., Wanders, R. J., Rygiel, A. M., Milano, F., Joore, J., Bergman, J. J., Peppelenbosch, M. P., and Krishnadath, K. K. (2006). Comparison of kinome profiles of Barrett's esophagus with normal squamous esophagus and normal gastric cardia. Cancer Res 66, 11605-11612.

Vermeulen, L., De Wilde, G., Van Damme, P., Vanden Berghe, W., and Haegeman, G. (2003). Transcriptional activation of the NF-kappaB p65 subunit by mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase-1 (MSK1). Embo J 22, 1313-1324.

Vermeulen, L., Vanden Berghe, W., and Haegeman, G. (2006). Regulation of NF-kappaB transcriptional activity. Cancer Treat Res 130, 89-102.

Verthelyi, D., Ishii, K. J., Gursel, M., Takeshita, F., and Klinman, D. M. (2001). Human peripheral blood cells differentially recognize and respond to two distinct CPG motifs. J Immunol 166, 2372-2377.

Viglianti, G. A., Lau, C. M., Hanley, T. M., Miko, B. A., Shlomchik, M. J., and Marshak-Rothstein, A. (2003). Activation of autoreactive B cells by CpG dsDNA. Immunity 19, 837-847.

Visintin, A., Mazzoni, A., Spitzer, J. H., Wyllie, D. H., Dower, S. K., and Segal, D. M. (2001). Regulation of Toll-like receptors in human monocytes and dendritic cells. J Immunol 166, 249-255.

Vollmer, J., Tluk, S., Schmitz, C., Hamm, S., Jurk, M., Forsbach, A., Akira, S., Kelly, K. M., Reeves, W. H., Bauer, S., and Krieg, A. M. (2005). Immune stimulation mediated by autoantigen binding sites within small nuclear RNAs involves Toll-like receptors 7 and 8. J Exp Med 202, 1575-1585.

Vollmer, J., Weeratna, R. D., Jurk, M., Davis, H. L., Schetter, C., Wullner, M., Wader, T., Liu, M., Kritzler, A., and Krieg, A. M. (2004a). Impact of modifications of heterocyclic bases in CpG dinucleotides on their immune-modulatory activity. J Leukoc Biol 76, 585-593.

Vollmer, J., Weeratna, R. D., Jurk, M., Samulowitz, U., McCluskie, M. J., Payette, P., Davis, H. L., Schetter, C., and Krieg, A. M. (2004b). Oligodeoxynucleotides lacking CpG dinucleotides mediate Toll-like receptor 9 dependent T helper type 2 biased immune stimulation. Immunology 113, 212-223.

Wang, C., Deng, L., Hong, M., Akkaraju, G. R., Inoue, J., and Chen, Z. J. (2001). TAK1 is a ubiquitin-dependent kinase of MKK and IKK. Nature 412, 346-351.

Wang, Y., Tang, Y., Teng, L., Wu, Y., Zhao, X., and Pei, G. (2006). Association of betaarrestin and TRAF6 negatively regulates Toll-like receptor-interleukin 1 receptor signaling. Nat Immunol 7, 139-147. Wegner, G. J., Lee, H. J., and Corn, R. M. (2002). Characterization and optimization of peptide arrays for the study of epitope-antibody interactions using surface plasmon resonance imaging. Anal Chem 74, 5161-5168.

Wenschuh, H., Volkmer-Engert, R., Schmidt, M., Schulz, M., Schneider-Mergener, J., and Reineke, U. (2000). Coherent membrane supports for parallel microsynthesis and screening of bioactive peptides. Biopolymers 55, 188-206.

Wesche, H., Gao, X., Li, X., Kirschning, C. J., Stark, G. R., and Cao, Z. (1999). IRAK-M is a novel member of the Pelle/interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK) family. J Biol Chem 274, 19403-19410.

Wesche, H., Henzel, W. J., Shillinglaw, W., Li, S., and Cao, Z. (1997). MyD88: an adapter that recruits IRAK to the IL-1 receptor complex. Immunity 7, 837-847.

West, A. P., Koblansky, A. A., and Ghosh, S. (2006). Recognition and signaling by toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 22, 409-437.

Whiteside, S. T., Epinat, J. C., Rice, N. R., and Israel, A. (1997). I kappa B epsilon, a novel member of the I kappa B family, controls RelA and cRel NF-kappa B activity. Embo J 16, 1413-1426.

Whitlock, C. A., and Watson, J. D. (1979). B-cell differentiation in the CBA/N mouse. I. Slower maturation of mitogen and antigen-responsive B cells in mice expressing an X-linked defect. J Exp Med 150, 1483-1497.

Wilson, W., McNab, R., Henderson, B. (2002). Bacterial disease mechanisms: an introduction to cellular microbiology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Woronicz, J. D., Gao, X., Cao, Z., Rothe, M., and Goeddel, D. V. (1997). IkappaB kinase-beta: NF-kappaB activation and complex formation with IkappaB kinase-alpha and NIK. Science 278, 866-869.

Wright, S. D., Ramos, R. A., Tobias, P. S., Ulevitch, R. J., and Mathison, J. C. (1990). CD14, a receptor for complexes of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and LPS binding protein. Science 249, 1431-1433.

Wright, S. D., Tobias, P. S., Ulevitch, R. J., and Ramos, R. A. (1989). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) binding protein opsonizes LPS-bearing particles for recognition by a novel receptor on macrophages. J Exp Med 170, 1231-1241.

Wu, C., and Ghosh, S. (2003). Differential phosphorylation of the signal-responsive domain of I kappa B alpha and I kappa B beta by I kappa B kinases. J Biol Chem 278, 31980-31987.

Xiao, G., Fong, A., and Sun, S. C. (2004). Induction of p100 processing by NF-kappaBinducing kinase involves docking IkappaB kinase alpha (IKKalpha) to p100 and IKKalphamediated phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 279, 30099-30105.
Xu, D., Komai-Koma, M., and Liew, F. Y. (2005). Expression and function of Toll-like receptor on T cells. Cell Immunol 233, 85-89.

Xu, Y., Tao, X., Shen, B., Horng, T., Medzhitov, R., Manley, J. L., and Tong, L. (2000). Structural basis for signal transduction by the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domains. Nature 408, 111-115.

Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Hemmi, H., Hoshino, K., Kaisho, T., Sanjo, H., Takeuchi, O., Sugiyama, M., Okabe, M., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2003a). Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. Science 301, 640-643.

Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Hemmi, H., Sanjo, H., Uematsu, S., Kaisho, T., Hoshino, K., Takeuchi, O., Kobayashi, M., Fujita, T., *et al.* (2002a). Essential role for TIRAP in activation of the signalling cascade shared by TLR2 and TLR4. Nature 420, 324-329.

Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Hemmi, H., Uematsu, S., Hoshino, K., Kaisho, T., Takeuchi, O., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2003b). TRAM is specifically involved in the Toll-like receptor 4-mediated MyD88-independent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 4, 1144-1150.

Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Mori, K., Hoshino, K., Takeuchi, O., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2002b). Cutting edge: a novel Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-beta promoter in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol 169, 6668-6672.

Yang, J., Lin, Y., Guo, Z., Cheng, J., Huang, J., Deng, L., Liao, W., Chen, Z., Liu, Z., and Su, B. (2001). The essential role of MEKK3 in TNF-induced NF-kappaB activation. Nat Immunol 2, 620-624.

Yu, D., Kandimalla, E. R., Zhao, Q., Bhagat, L., Cong, Y., and Agrawal, S. (2003). Requirement of nucleobase proximal to CpG dinucleotide for immunostimulatory activity of synthetic CpG DNA. Bioorg Med Chem 11, 459-464.

Zandi, E., Rothwarf, D. M., Delhase, M., Hayakawa, M., and Karin, M. (1997). The IkappaB kinase complex (IKK) contains two kinase subunits, IKKalpha and IKKbeta, necessary for IkappaB phosphorylation and NF-kappaB activation. Cell 91, 243-252.

Zeisel, M. B., Druet, V. A., Sibilia, J., Klein, J. P., Quesniaux, V., and Wachsmann, D. (2005). Cross talk between MyD88 and focal adhesion kinase pathways. J Immunol 174, 7393-7397.

Zetterqvist, O., Ragnarsson, U., Humble, E., Berglund, L., and Engstrom, L. (1976). The minimum substrate of cyclic AMP-stimulated protein kinase, as studied by synthetic peptides representing the phosphorylatable site of pyruvate kinase (type L) of rat liver. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 70, 696-703.

Zhande, R., Dauphinee, S. M., Thomas, J. A., Yamamoto, M., Akira, S., and Karsan, A. (2007). FADD negatively regulates lipopolysaccharide signaling by impairing interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1-MyD88 interaction. Mol Cell Biol 27, 7394-7404.

Zhang, D., Zhang, G., Hayden, M. S., Greenblatt, M. B., Bussey, C., Flavell, R. A., and Ghosh, S. (2004). A toll-like receptor that prevents infection by uropathogenic bacteria. Science 303, 1522-1526.

Zhang, H., Zha, X., Tan, Y., Hornbeck, P. V., Mastrangelo, A. J., Alessi, D. R., Polakiewicz, R. D., and Comb, M. J. (2002). Phosphoprotein analysis using antibodies broadly reactive against phosphorylated motifs. J Biol Chem 277, 39379-39387.

Zhang, L., Cui, R., Cheng, X., and Du, J. (2005). Antiapoptotic effect of serum and glucocorticoid-inducible protein kinase is mediated by novel mechanism activating I{kappa}B kinase. Cancer Res 65, 457-464.

Zhu, H., Klemic, J. F., Chang, S., Bertone, P., Casamayor, A., Klemic, K. G., Smith, D., Gerstein, M., Reed, M. A., and Snyder, M. (2000). Analysis of yeast protein kinases using protein chips. Nat Genet 26, 283-289.

Zhu, J., Huang, X., and Yang, Y. (2007). Innate immune response to adenoviral vectors is mediated by both Toll-like receptor-dependent and -independent pathways. J Virol 81, 3170-3180.

Zhu, Q., Uttamchandani, M., Li, D., Lesaicherre, M. L., and Yao, S. Q. (2003). Enzymatic profiling system in a small-molecule microarray. Org Lett 5, 1257-1260.

7.0 Appendices

Appendix A



Figure A1. Mapping of the Bovine Peptide Array. An illustration of the positioning of the 300 peptides (including the negative controls) and the positive controls (black spots) on a block; an array holds three replicate blocks of the same configuration. Positive controls (Histon 1-4, MBP bovine, and alpha/beta casein) proteins are printed around the borders of each block for visualization purposes.

8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	
eNOS(S1176)	PLCG1(Y783)	Rb(S780)	Src(S96)	TRAF6(T83)	DAPK1(S308)	Cdc42(Y64)	Empty	A
Grb10(S150)	PLCG1(Y771)	BCAP(Y459)	Src(S74)	TRAF6(T317)	Bid(T59)	iNOS(S909)	Empty	В
IFNGR1(Y479)	PLCG1(Y472)	BCAP(Y195)	Lyn(Y507)	TRAF6(T486)	Control(-)	iNOS(S739)	Empty	С
IFNGR1(Y457)	PKR(T451)	RAC1(S71)	cyclin E1(T395)	TRAF6(S48)	Control(-)	iNOS(Y151)	Empty	D
Jun(S73)	FLT3(Y597\9)	SEK1(S257\61)	Cdc25A(S88)	TRAF6(S97)	SRF(S77\9)	IL-8R B(S351\2\3)	Empty	Е
Jun(S63)	FLT3(Y589\91)	SEK1(S80)	Cdc25A(S82)	TRAF6(S12)	CREB(S129)	IL-8R B(S347)	Empty	F
STMN1(S62)	gp130(Y814)	4E-BP1(T45)	LRRFIP1(S690)	MEK5(S311)	CREB(S111\4)	CCR7(T372\3\4)	Empty	G
STMN1(S15\Y15)	gp130(\$782)	4E-BP1(T36)	LRRFIP1(S497)	JNK3(T131)	MSK2(S347)	CCR7(S356\7)	Empty	Н
CDK2(T160)	gp130(Y767)	CD45(Y1216)	TNIK(T987)	JNK2(T404\7)	MSK2(S196)	PKCT(T219)	Empty	Ι
CDK2(T14)	MEK2(Y216)	CD45(S999\02\03)	TNIK(S764)	JNK2(S129)	MSK1(T581)	PKCT(Y90)	Empty	J
Pyk2(Y402)	PIK3R1(S607\8)	Bad(S118)	Shc1(Y349\50)	ASK1(S966)	PPARG(S112)	PKCA(T637)	Empty	K
CDK7(T170)	Kit(S821)	Etk(Y40)	IGF1R(Y1166)	MEKK1(T1383)	Raf1(S259)	PKCA(S657)	Empty	L
cyclin D1(T286\8)	Kit(Y721)	CTLA-4(Y201)	FRS2(Y435)	P38 G(T183\5)	Raf1(S499)	PKCE(\$729)	FADD(S194)	М
p300(S1834)	RIPK1(Y384\7\9)	PXN(Y31)	FRS2(Y195)	DAPK3(T225)	H-Ras-1(T35)	PKCE(T710)	p53(S215)	Z
p300(\$893)	ROCK2(S1133\4)	CSK(Y184)	FGFR3(Y760)	DAPK3(T180)	RasGAP(Y460)	PKCB(T323)	p53(S6\9)	0
CD28(Y206\9)	IKK-α(T23)	Crk(Y221)	FGFR3(Y724)	MLK3(T278)	Fes(Y713)	PKCB(S15\T16)	IFNAR1(S535)	Р
HSP70(Y525)	mucin 1(T1227\9)	NGFR(Y336)	FGFR4(Y754)	MEK1(S217)	PKG1(T58)	ASK1(S1033)	IFNAR1(Y466)	Q
HSP27(S82\83)	PDGFRb(Y740)	FRS3(Y416)	FGFR1(Y154)	Mos(S25)	TPH1(S58)	ASK1(S83)	JNK1(Y185)	R
EphA2(Y772)	PDGFRb(Y579\8 1)	TrkC(Y516)	FGFR1(Y653\4)	B-Raf(T598)	IkB-epsilon(S18)	Daxx(S668\71)	Akt1(S173)	S
EphA2(Y594)	CSFR(Y809)	TrkB(Y706\7)	FGFR1(Y463)	A-Raf(Y301)	IkB-β(T19)	Fas(Y291)	Akt1(T310)	Т
EphA2(Y588)	CSFR(Y561)	VEGFR3(Y1265)	Met(Y1349)	JIP1(T103)	IkB-β(S313\5)	Fas(Y232)	smad2(\$405)	U
EphA1(Y781)	PPP2CA(T304)	VEGFR3(Y130\1)	Met(Y1234)	Ezrin(T566)	IkB-a(Y42)	TNFRSF5(T254)	IKKA(T180)	V
p47phox(S370)	PTP1B(S50)	VEGFR-2(Y1214)	RhoA(S188)	VASP(S156)	IkB-α(S32\6)	TNF-R1(S274)	MKK3(S98)	W
p40phox(T154)	Nik(T559)	VEGFR-1(Y1169)	Rb(\$795)	Calmodulin(Y99)	TRAF6(T429)	DAPK1(\$735)	PKCA(T323)	X

 Table A1. Protein names and target amino acids for peptides on the bovine array.

 Positioning of peptide identifiers in the table is according to the map in Appendix A- Figure

13	12	11	10	9
IRF-3(S385\6)	IRAK-1(T209)	Akt1(S129)	IL2RB(Y536)	WASP(Y291)
CTNNB1(\$675)	IRAK-1(T100)	ERK3(S189)	IL2RB(Y364)	Syk(Y525/6)
CTNNB1(Y142)	FADD(S194)	ERK2(Y205)	IL-10R-A(Y496)	Cot(\$400)
CTNNB1(T41)	HIF2A(T840)	ERK1(T202/4)	ΙΚΚ-β(Υ199)	CaMK2-α(T286)
CTNNB1(S33)	HIF1A(T796)	TBK1(S172)	IKK-β(Y188)	smMLCK(S1773)
STAT6(Y641)	XIAP(S87)	Jak3(Y981)	HMGA1(T52)	MKP-1(S359)
STAT5B(Y699)	BATF(T48)	Jak2(Y1007\8)	LEF-1(\$166)	MKP-1(S323)
STAT5B(S731)	NFAT4(S163\5)	Jak1(Y1022\3)	LEF-1(T155)	MKP-1(S296)
STAT4(S721)	NFAT2(S294)	JNK1(S377)	DOCK2(Y209\212)	PLCB1(S887)
STAT4(Y693)	NFAT2(S245)	p38-a(Y323)	CBP(\$2063)	PLCB1(T333\4\6)
STAT3(S727)	NFAT1(S326)	p38-a(T179\Y181)	DNA-PK(T2638)	BLNK(Y96)
STAT3(Y705)	NFAT1(S168)	axin-1(S486)	DNA-PK(T2609)	BLNK(Y72)
STAT2(Y690)	Smad4(T277)	Notch 2(S2070)	PKR(T446)	DAPP1(Y139)
STAT1(S727)	Smad3(S422\3\5)	Notch 2(T1808)	Btk(Y550)	RelB(S573)
STAT1(Y701)	Smad3(S208)	GSK3-β(Y216)	Btk(Y222)	APE1(S289)
IKK-G(S43)	Smad2(S255)	GSK3-β(S9)	ITK(Y512)	Tyk2(Y1054\5)
IKK-G(S31)	Smad2(T8)	Elk-1(T417)	FAK(Y397)	p70S6Kb(S473)
NFkB-p105(S907)	Smad1(S462\3\5)	Elk-1(\$389)	TAK1(S192)	CXCR4(Y157)
NFkB-p105(S337)	ATF-4(S245)	Fos(T232)	TAK1(T184)	CCR5(S336\7)
NFkB-p65(8536)	ATF-2(T51\3\5)	Casp8(S347)	PKACa(S338)	CCR2(Y139)
NFkB-p65(S311)	ATF-2(S44)	Casp3(S150)	PKACa(T195\7)	IL7R(Y449)
NFkB-p65(S276)	IRF-5(S437)	IRAK-1(S568)	Akt3(T447)	IL1A(S87)
NFkB- p100(S870\2)	IRF- 3(S402\T404)	IRAK-1(T387)	Akt3(S120)	IL-16(S143\4)
NFkB- p100(S866\Y868)	IRF-3(S396)	IRAK-1(S376)	Akt1(Y326)	IL4R(Y713)

6	5	4	3	2	1	
STRPPTLSPIPHIPR	VALYDYESRTETDLS	ALREAVQTPCGHRFC	ARKKWKQSVRLISLC	DTAGQEDYDRLRPLS	Empty	A
PAATEDLYVEMLQAS	NSSDTVTSPQRAGPL	DHQIRELTAKMETQS	FHDDELQTDGNRCSH	PILKPRYYSISSSRD	Empty	ω
FQAETTVYVIVRCKL	DDFYTATEGQYQQQP	LEALRQRTFIKDDTL	NIANSATYGFKSGTA	VFTMRLKSRQNLQSP	Empty	C
YDRLRPLSYPQTDVF	PLPTGVLTPPQSSKK	TVTLSSSFMEEIQGY	KEKLGYTGESSVQAA	IEFVNQYYGSFKEAK	Empty	D
GQLVDSIAKTRDAGC	DSGFCLDSPGPLDSK	CKACIIKSIRDAGHK	PTAGALYSGSEGDSE	PSFVGSSSGNTSTTL	Empty	т
IERLRTHSIESSGKL	GSSESTDSGFCLDSP	HCENSCGSSQSESDC	QKRREILSRRPSYRK	LAKDGRPSFVGSSSG	Empty	п
PGGTLFSTTPGGERR	IDGATQSSPAEPKSE	TQLVNSIAKTYVGTN	TIAESEDSQESVDSV	SSMSVEAETTTTFSP	Empty	۵
PPGDYSTTPGGTLFS	IKTEVPGSPAGTEGN	ISLLNVFTPQKTLEE	PVYSPPGSPPPGDPR	EQLRQWSSCRHIRRS	Empty	т
MVPTFEQYQFLYDVI	RVYQTSPTDEDEEDE	MSTEQTLASDTDSSL	EEKERTFSFCGTIEY	SAINSRETMFHKERF	Empty	-
SEQDSDESSDDDSDL	RTRVRANSKSEGSPV	ELDHERMSYLLYQML	PDNQPLKTPCFTLHY	SETTVELYSLAERCR	Empty	د
GRELRRMSDEFHVSF	EEPPDHQYYNDFPGK	NEYLRSISLPVPVLV	AIKVEPVSPPYYSEK	TRGQPVLTPPDQLVI	Empty	~
LTKTNLSYYEYDKMK	DIYETDYYRKGGKGL	ARLASKGTGAGEFQG	SQRQRSTSTPNVHMV	QSDFEGFSYVNPQFV	Empty	-
SPLTTGVYVKMPPTE	LEHRQLNYIQVDLEG	RQADSEMTGYVVTRW	VKSRWSGSQQVEQPT	QEEFKGFSYFGEDLM	QNRSGAMSPMSWNSD	Z
FLSEETPYSYPTGNH	AEEQVHTYVNTTGVQ	LGETKQETLTNISAV	FVDEYDPTIEDSYRK	TREEPVLTLVDEAIV	DRNTFRHSVVVPYES	z
VAAQDEFYRSGWALN	TVTSTDEYLDLSVPF	EFKNIFGTPEFVAPE	AVDGKEIYNTIRRKT	PEEKTTNTISKFDNN	MEEPQSDPSVEPPEE	0
GGPEPGPYAQPSVNT	ANCTHDLYMIMRECW	REWHKTTQMSAAGTY	REEADGIYAASGGLR	PSEGEESTVRFARKG	SSQTSQDSGNYSNED	σ
LKGDGGLYSSLPLAK	LLAVSEEYLDLRLTF	GQLIDSMANSFVGTR	THIGPRTTRAQGISA	EDHSAPPSPEEKDSG	VFLRCVKYVFFPSSK	Q
EPPRQLNYIQVELKG	NRMPVAPYWTSPEKM	SGDSRPCSSPCELLG	RKSKRRSSEFEIFVD	ATRCRGNSGGGGGRR	TSFMMTPYVVTRYYR	л
PVIENPQYFRQGHNC	DIHHIDYYKKTTNGR	IGDFGLATVKSRWSG	ESQYDSGIESLRSLR	HTLPSPPSPLASMAP	RPHFPQFSYSASATA	S
RDVYSTDYYRVGGHT	MLAGVSEYELPEDPR	LGYRDSGYYWEVPPS	DEWCDTGLGSLGPDA	SHGKKNAYCTLTKSL	KDGATMKTFCGTPEY	-
FPMTPTTYKGSVDNQ	STFIGEHYVHVNATY	LIDAAGDTPGAEDDE	SGPCSSSSDSDGGDE	TDVDLGKYIPSIAEQ	LTQMGSPSVRCSSMS	C
RHSLAARYYNWVSFP	RDVYDKEYYSVHNKT	QGRDKYKTLRQIRQG	DSMKDEEYEQMVKEL	PPPPVQETLCWCQPV	LDQGSLCTSFVGTLQ	<
VCDPKFHYDNTAGIS	LQARRGKKKSGCLVL	MERERRASNAGGPPA	DDRHDSGLDSMKDEE	LAPNPSFSPTPGFTP	GYLVDSVAKTMDAGC	٤
VQQDGKDYIPLNAIL	SPYKFSSSPLRIPGG	FDKDGNGYISAAELR	LPWPFQGTIRLTILD	NSTRFPPSPLASKPA	DGVTTKTFCGTPDYI	×

Table A2. Peptide sequences printed on the bovine peptide array. A list of all the peptide sequences that were printed on the array is presented. For each sequence in a cell, its protein name and target amino acid position is available in Appendix A- Table A1.

13	12	11	10	9	8	7
IARQGGASSLENTVD	LHEICQGTHDFSEEL	SGSPGENSGAEEMEV	LTLNTDAYLSLQELQ	RETSKVIYDFIEKTG	TSRIRTQSFSLQERH	EGRNPGFYVEANPMP
QDYKKRLSVELTSSL	LRARDIITAWHPPAP	YSHKGHLSEGLVTKW	SCFTNQGYFFFHLPD	ALRADENYYKAQTHG	PELCGPGSPPALTPG	IGTAEPDYGALYEGR
AVVNLINYQDDAELA	QSGSANPGSFTAWDS	IMLNSKGYTKSIDIW	LPALAKGYVQQDPPE	EDQPRCQSLDSALFE	GKESLIGYRLTADSR	KLAEGSAYEEVPTSV
HSGATTTAPSLSGKG	YLLPELTRYDCEVNV	HTGFLTEYVATRWYR	ELLEQQKYTVTVDYW	SCMHRQETVDCLKKF	NTTTSFGYDKPHVLV	RTSKKGTLRYMSPEQ
QSYLDSGIHSGATTT	ESGLPQLTSYDCEVN	EDDEQFVSLYGTEEY	SFVGTLQYLAPELLE	GLSGRKSSTGSPTSP	VGLLKLASPELERLI	YIDFREYEYDLKWEF
MGKDGRGYVPATIKM	IGRHRRVSPNCRFIN	LPLDKEYYVVREPGQ	KEPSEVPTPKRPRGR	SALSYLQSPITTSPS	KNSDLLTSPDVGLLK	TGSLDNEYLYIDFRE
TAKAVDGYVKPQIKQ	QKSRQRQTQKADTLH	VLPQDKEYYKVKEPG	TYSDEHFSPGSHPSH	HCSAEAGSPAMAVLD	AAEERRKSHEAEVLK	GILPRQRYFKQNCSQ
TYMDQAPSPAVCPQP	SYRESSLSPSPASSI	AIETDKEYYTVKDDR	SHAVHPLTPLITYSD	KQRRSIISPNFSFMG	KELEKRASGQAFELI	QVFSRSESTQPLLDS
PSDLLPMSPSVYAVL	PQGSPRVSVTDDTWL	GVIRGQPSPLGAAVI	MSKDQPDYGMYSRIS	HSQPAPGSVKAPAKT	GVPVRTYTHEVVTLW	STVVHSGYRHQVPSV
TEKGDKGYVPSVFIP	PSTSPRTSVTEESWL	DEPVADPYDQSFESR	PPRSISPGALQDLLR	INSSHNTYLTAGQLA	EKIGEGTYGVVYKAR	KLCDFGVSGQLIDSM
NTIDLPMSPRTLDSL	PPKMWKTSPDPSPVS	RHTDDEMTGYVATRW	MAGQVRATQQQLDFT	EEAGDDSYEPPPVEQ	CSIESDIYAEIPDET	ENTEDQYSLVEDDED
DPGSAAPYLKTKFIC	YREPLCLSPASSGSS	MRTPGCQSPGPGHRS	LTPMFVETQASQSTL	SDDFDSDYENPDEHS	GSPSRAYTHQVVTRW	ARDIKNDSNYVVKGN
NPEERKKYLKHKLIF	GSRTAPYTPNLPHHQ	DEYNVTPSPPGTVLT	LKNDETRTSKKGTLR	KVEEPSIYESVRVHT	VDLACTPTDVRDVNI	CNDSTNEYMDMKPGV
TDNLLPMSPEEFDEV	LTQMGSPSIRCSSVS	RTPSLALTPPQAEQE	RYVLDDEYTSSVGSK	AGFGGGLLSPGPEAT	MLRRRMASMQRTGVV	EEANYHLYGSRMDRR
DGPKGTGYIKTELIS	DAGSPNLSPNPMSPT	RGEPNVSYICSRYYR	LKKVVALYDYMPMNA	DYFLLSHSLLPALCD	SELLRSGSSPNLNMG	HIGLDSSSIGSGPGD
PAMLHVPSEQGTPET	ELSPTTLSPVNHSLD	SGRPRTTSFAESCKP	RFVLDDQYTSSTGTK	AVPEGHEYYCVREDG	PGPTRRHYQPYAPAR	EMRERLGTGGFGNVC
QDMLGEESSLGKPAM	MSSILPFTPPVVKRL	ISVDGFSTPVVLSPG	TTPETDDYAEIIDEE	PPSGTKKSKRGRGRP	MVQEAEKYKAEDEVQ	PPGSTKRSPYEEVSA
QAHSLPLSPASTRQQ	LTQMGSPHNPISSVS	LSPIAPRSLAKLSFQ	HMTNNKGSAAWMAPE	LLAEKVVYVGVWLPA	RALSRQLSSGVSEIQ	PGESDGGYMDMSKDE
FVQLRRKSDLETSEP	SRGSPNKSLLSPGAL	GGLPEAATPESEEAF	GTACDIQTHMTNNKG	EAPERVSSVYTRSTG	EDDPEATYTTSGGKI	VSSDGHEYIYVDPMQ
SGDEDFSSIADVDFS	IVADQTPTPTRFLKN	FTGLKCPSLIGKPKI	EEEEIRVSINEKCGK	ILLTIDRYLAIVHAV	TYVDPHTYEDPNQAV	DIMNDSNYIVKGNAR
RTYETFKSIMKKSPF	FGPARNDSVIVADQT	FRGDYCRSLTGKPKL	RVKGRTWTLCGTPEY	GSSQEEAYVTMSSFY	QLKPLKTYVDPHTYE	ESYEGNSYTFIDPTQ
SMQLRRPSDRELSEP	FSGELSWSADSIRLQ	WQPLAAPSGASAQAA	TAQTITITPPEKYDE	ILKKRRLSLNQFITD	LDNFDGTYETQGGKI	RGEPHVTRRTPDYFL
DSAYGSQSVEQEAEK	NSDPLSLTPDQYMAC	RTRTVRGTLAYLPEE	EEERMNCSPTSQIDN	SSIKQRISSFETFSS	PAVPPRPSADLILHR	RNRYRDVSPFDHSRI
STEVKEDSAYGSQSV	NTVDLHISNSDPLSL	GSSPSQSSMVARTQT	EVLEDNDYGRAVDWW	LGNGIIYSALTCHLC	LRRLRPRTRRVKSES	TGDYIPGTETHMAPE

		Fold						
Protein		Chan	ge	p value	•	Upstream		
Name	Target	LPS	CpG	LPS	CpG	kinase	Phosphorylation effects	
FADD								
(human)	S194	0.8	0.6	0.01	0.01			
p53	S215	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01			
p53	S6/9	1.0	0.9	0.01	0.01	ATM(S6/9)	Activation (S6), regulates apoptosis (S6/9), and more (S6/9)	
IFNAR1	S535	1.8	8.5	0.01	0.01		Regulates association with cellular proteins , protein degradation	
IFNAR1	Y466	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01	Tyk2	Regulates association with cellular proteins	
JNK1	Y185	0.7	0.7	0.01	0.01			
Akt1	S173	0.7	0.9	0.15	0.12			
Akt1	T310	1.1	1.0	0.01	0.01			
smad2	S405	1.3	1.3	0.01	0.01			
IKKA	T180	0.9	0.4	0.06	0.49			
MKK3	S98	0.9	0.7	0.01	0.01			
РКСА	T323	1.8	1.7	0.01	0.01			
Cdc42	Y64	0.2	0.4	0.03	0.09	Src	Regulates cell growth	
iNOS	S909	0.8	0.7	0.01	0.01			
iNOS	S739	0.4	1.0	0.50	0.01			
iNOS	Y151	0.5	1.0	0.73	0.01	Src	Altered intracellular location , enzymatic inhibition	
IL-8R-B	3 3	1.2	1.6	0.01	0.01			
IL-8R-B	S347	0.4	1.2	0.01	0.01		Receptor internalization , protein degradation , altered receptor desensitization	
CCD7	T372/3/	0.2	0.1	0.01	0.01			
CCR7	4	0.2	0.1	0.01	0.01			
	5550/7 T210	0.3	0.3	0.18	0.10	DVCT	Altered intro cellular la coti en	
PKCT	1219 V00	0.8	0.7	0.01	0.01	Lak	Regulates transcription,	
PKCA	T637	1.1	0.7	0.01	0.01	LAK		
PKCA	\$657	1.2	1.0	0.74	0.17		Altered intracellular location	
PKCE	\$720	0.0	0.7	0.01	0.01	PKCE	Activation	
PKCE	T710	0.9	1.0	0.01	0.01	TKCL	Activation	
PKCB	T323	0.9	0.8	0.01	0.01			
TKCD	\$15/T1	0.9	0.0	0.01	0.02			
PKCB	6	0.9	11	0.30	0.01			
ASK1	\$1033	1.1	1.1	0.30	0.01			
ASK1	S83	1.1	1.1	0.01	0.10	Akt	Inhibition	
1 10111	505	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	2 INU	Altered intracellular	
							location(S668), regulates	
	S668/7						association with cellular	
Daxx	1	0.9	0.7	0.57	0.18		proteins(S668)	
Fas	Y291	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		Regulates apoptosis, altered	

Table A3. Complete set of data for the peptide arrays with CpG and LPS treated monocytes.

							intracellular location, regulates
							association with cellular proteins
							Regulates apoptosis, altered
							intracellular location, regulates
Fas	Y232	0.8	0.7	0.01	0.01		association with cellular proteins
TNFRSF							Regulates association with
5	T254	0.2	0.4	0.08	0.26		cellular proteins, activation
TNF-R1	S274	0.6	0.7	0.48	0.46		
DAPK1	S735	0.3	0.3	0.06	0.07	ERK2	Enzymatic activation
							Regulates cell growth, regulates
							apoptosis, regulates association
DADK1	6200	1.2	1.0	0.01	0.01	DADK1	with cellular proteins, enzymatic
DAPKI	S308	1.3	1.0	0.01	0.01	DAPKI	inhibition
Bid	159	1.8	3.4	0.01	0.01	CK2-A1	
Cntrll(-)		0.4	1.1	0.05	0.33		
Cntrl(-)		0.0	0.0	0.01	0.01	GWA	
GDE	0.000	0.0		0.01	0.04	CK2-	
SRF	S7///9	0.9	1.1	0.31	0.94	AI(\$7/79)	Regulates transcription(S77)
CDED	G100	0 4		0.01	0.05	GGUAD	Regulates transcription,
CREB	\$129	0.4	2.3	0.01	0.05	GSK3B	transcription
							Inhibition(S111),
							phosphorylation(S114),
CDED	G111/4	0.6	~ .	0.01	0.01	ATM, CK2-	regulates transcription and
CREB	S111/4	0.6	5.1	0.01	0.01	Al	more(S111)
MSK2	S347	0.9	0.8	0.01	0.01		Activation
MSK2	S196	0.8	0.2	0.31	0.03	p38-α	Enzymatic activation, activation
MOLT	T 5 0 1	0.0	0.0	0.01	0.01	p38-α, ERK2,	En anna dia antiana dia m
MSKI	1381	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01	EKKI	Enzymatic activation
PPARG	\$112	03	0.9	0.02	0.05	ERK2	degradation
Rafl	S259	1.0	1.0	0.02	0.03	PKACa	Inhibition
Rafl	S499	1.0	2.3	0.01	0.01	PKACa	Activation
H-Ras-1	T35	0.9	1.0	0.01	0.01	Titrica	
RasGAP	V460	0.7	0.8	0.01	0.01		
RasOAI	1400	0.4	0.0	0.01	0.01		Enzymatic activation regulates
Fes	V713	1.0	15	0.01	0.01	Fes	association with cellular proteins
PKG1	T 715	1.0	1.5	0.01	0.01	PKCA	Enzymatic activation
TPH1	\$58	0.8	0.7	0.01	0.01	ТКСА	
IIIII IkB	550	0.0	0.7	0.01	0.01		
ensilon	\$18	0.5	0.6	0.01	0.01		Protein degradation
	T10	0.5	0.0	0.01	0.01		Protein degradation
ікв-р	\$212/1	0.8	0.8	0.01	0.01		
IVBB	5	0.7	0.8	0.67	0.82		Regulates transcription(\$313/5)
ткр-р	5	0.7	0.0	0.07	0.02	IKK ensilon	Activation protein degradation
IkB a	V42	1 1	0.5	0.80	0.21		transcription
IKD-u	142	1.1	0.5	0.80	0.21	CK2 A1	
						$(S22/6)$ IKK α	
						(S32/0),IKK-0 (S32/6) Nil	Activation (S22) protain
IkB a	\$32/26	0.8	0.5	0.06	0.62	(332/0), INIK (332/6)	degradation and more(\$32/6)
	T420	0.0	0.3	0.00	0.02	(002/0)	
	1427 T83	0.0	0.1	0.01	0.01		
	105 T217	0.1	0.1	0.01	0.01		
	T 101/	0.4	0.3	0.08	0.01		
IKAFO	1489	0.9	0.8	0.01	0.01		
	\$49	00	0.4	0.01	0.01		
ΙΝΑΓΟ	0+0	0.0	0.4	0.01	0.01		

	\$07	0.0	0.0	0.01	0.01		
TRAF6	S97	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01		
MEK5	\$12 \$311	0.0	1.2	0.02	0.01		
INK3	T131	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01	CDK5	
JINKS	1151	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		
						(T404/7)	
						(1404 <i>///)</i> , MKK7	
JNK2	T404/7	0.7	1.2	0.01	0.01	(T404/7)	Activation(T404/7)
JNK2	S129	2.3	1.5	0.11	0.02	(110)	
ASK1	S966	0.2	0.4	0.01	0.01	PKD	Inhibition
MEKK1	T1383	0.8	0.7	0.01	0.01	MEKK1	Activation
Ρ38 γ	T183/5	0.4	1.1	0.16	0.32		
DAPK3	T225	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01	DAPK4	Activation
DAPK3	T180	1.0	0.8	0.01	0.01	DAPK3	Activation
MLK3	T278	1.2	1.1	0.01	0.01		
MEK1	S217	1.3	1.4	0.01	0.01	Raf1 and Cot	Activation
Mos	S25	0.5	1.2	0.32	0.29		
B-Raf	T598	6.0	2.3	0.54	0.05	Ras	Activation
A-Raf	Y301	0.9	2.2	0.01	0.06		
							Regulates association with
JIP1	T103	1.1	1.8	0.92	0.01	JNK2, JNK1	cellular proteins
							Cytoskeletal reorganization,
							altered intracellular location,
						GRK2, Akt2,	regulates association with
Ezrin	T566	1.0	1.2	0.01	0.03	ROCK1	cellular proteins, activation
VASP	S156	1.0	0.7	0.01	0.01	PKG1, PKACa	regulates transcription
Calmodul							
in	Y99	2.2	3.4	0.01	0.01		
Src	S96	0.9	0.9	0.71	0.93		
Src	S74	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	COL	
Lyn	Y507	0.6	0.6	0.03	0.02	CSK	
						COVAD	Regulates cell cycle, regulates
						GSK3B,	association with cellular
avalin E1	T205	16	1.2	0.01	0.01	CDK2, CSK2A	proteins, protein degradation,
Cyclin E1	1 393	1.0	1.3	0.01	0.01	USKJA	
Cdo25A	666	0.0	11	0.01	0.01		degradation
Cuc25A	300	0.9	1.1	0.01	0.01		Regulates cell cycle association
							with cellular proteins protein
Cdc25A	S82	14	13	0.01	0.01		degradation
LRRFIP1	S690	1.1	2.1	0.01	0.01		
LRRFIP1	S497	1.1	1.0	0.01	0.01		
TNIK	T987	1.1	1.1	0.13	0.08		
TNIK	\$764	0.6	0.8	0.03	0.01		
				0.00			Regulates apoptosis(Y349/50).
							regulates association with
Shc1	Y349/0	0.9	0.8	0.01	0.01	Src(Y349/50)	cellular proteins(Y349/50)
						<u> </u>	Enzymatic activation, regulates
							association with cellular
IGF1R	Y1166	0.7	0.6	0.01	0.01		proteins.
							Regulates association with
FRS2	Y435	0.6	0.5	0.33	0.21		cellular proteins.
FRS2	Y195	0.9	0.8	0.03	0.05		Regulates association with

							cellular proteins (mouse)
							Enzymatic activation, regulates
FGFR3	Y760	1.4	0.9	0.01	0.01		association with cellular proteins
							enzymatic activation, regulates
							association with cellular
FGFR3	Y724	1.4	1.4	0.04	0.02	FGFR3	proteins, not reported
FGFR4	Y754	0.9	0.7	0.01	0.01	FGFR4	
							Cytoskeletal reorganization,
							receptor internalization, protein
							degradation, altered receptor
FGFR1	Y154	0.7	1.4	0.34	0.72	FGFR1	desensitization
						FGFR1(Y653/	
FGFR1	Y653/4	5.7	6.4	0.05	0.01	4)	Activation(Y653/4)
							Regulates cell cycle, regulates
FGFR1	Y463	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		transcription
		1.0			0.01		Regulates cell growth, regulates
Met	Y1349	1.0	0.9	0.01	0.01	Met, Abl	association with cellular proteins
	T/100.44						Enzymatic activation (Y1234/5),
	Y1234/	1.0			0.01		phosphorylation (Y1234/5),
Met	5	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	Met(Y1234/5)	activation (Y1234/5)
RhoA	S188	1.1	0.9	0.02	0.26		
							Regulates cell cycle, inhibition,
DL	0705	1.2	0.0	0.02	0.07	CDV(CDV5	regulates association with
KD	5795	1.3	0.9	0.02	0.07	CDK0, CDK5	cellular proteins
							Regulates cell cycle, regulates
DL	0700	0.0	07	0.01	0.01	CDV(CDV4	apoptosis, infibition, regulates
KD DCAD	5/80	0.8	0.7	0.01	0.01	CDK0, CDK4	association with cellular proteins
BCAP	y439 V105	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01		
BCAF RAC1	\$71	1.0	0.8	0.81	0.07	Abt1	Inhibition
KACI	\$257/6	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	$\Delta SK1(S261)$	
МКК4	1	41	29	0.01	0.01	MI K3(S261)	Enzymatic activation(\$261)
MKK4	S80	1 1	0.8	0.01	0.01	Akt	Inhibition
	500	1.1	0.0	0.01	0.11	7110	Inhibition regulates association
							with cellular proteins, regulates
4E-BP1	T45	0.6	0.9	0.04	0.23	mTOR	translation
4E-BP1	T36	2.5	1.6	0.01	0.01	mTOR	Inhibition, regulation translation
				0.02			Activation, regulates association
CD45	Y1216	1.0	1.0	0.67	0.69	CSK	with cellular proteins
	S999/0					CK2-A1	Enzymatic
CD45	2/03	0.9	1.0	0.05	0.01	(\$999/02/03)	activation(\$999/02/03)
							Regulates apoptosis, altered
							intracellular location, association
Bad	S118	1.9	0.3	0.54	0.03	PPP2CB	with cellular proteins
							Enzymatic activation,
							cytoskeletal reorganization,
Etk	Y40	7.2	1.6	0.01	0.01	FAK	altered intracellular location
							Regulates association with
							cellular proteins, altered
CTLA-4	Y201	0.4	2.8	0.01	0.01	jak2, fyn, lck	intracellular location
							Regulates association with
PXN	Y31	3.0	3.7	0.01	0.01	Brk	cellular proteins
CSK	Y184	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01		
<u></u>				0.01			Regulates cell adhesion and
Crk	Y221	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	Abl	interaction with other cellular

							proteins
NGFR	Y336	0.8	0.9	0.01	0.01		
FRS3	Y416	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01		
TrkC	Y516	0.6	1.0	0.41	0.66		
TrkB	Y705/6	0.8	0.3	0.01	0.82		
VEGFR3	Y1265	0.4	0.4	0.01	0.01		
VEGFR3	Y130/1	0.7	0.9	0.98	0.19		
VEGFR2	Y1214	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	VEGFR2	Enzymatic activation
VEGFR1	Y1169	1.3	0.7	0.01	0.11		Regulates association with cellular proteins
	11109	1.0	0.7	0.01	0.11		Regulates association with
DI CC1	V792	20	57	0.01	0.01	Sult ECED	motility
PLCOI	1765 V771	2.0	3.7	0.01	0.01	Syk, EGFR	mounty
PLCG1	1//1 V/72	1.0	0.9	0.01	0.01	Syk, LOFK	
DVD	T472	1.5	1.3	0.17	0.03	DVD	Activation
FKK	1431	0.0	0.2	0.24	0.05	F KK	Activation Pequiptes association with
FI T3	¥597/9	12	0.8	0.01	0.42	FI T3(Y599)	cellular proteins(Y599), activation(Y599)
TL15	139119	1.2	0.0	0.01	0.42	TLI3(1399)	Inhibition(V580) regulates
							association with cellular
	Y589/9						proteins(Y589)
FLT3	1	09	11	0 78	0.14	FLT3(Y589)	activation(Y591)
1210	1	0.9		0.70	0.11	1215(150))	Regulates cell cycle, regulates
gp130	Y814	1.1	1.4	0.02	0.03		transcription
	-						Receptor internalization, protein
gp130	S782	1.1	0.7	0.02	0.01		degradation
							Regulates cell cycle, regulates
gp130	Y767	0.4	1.3	0.01	0.04		transcription
MEK2	Y216	0.4	0.7	0.11	0.29		Inhibition
						InsR (S607),	
	a (0 = 10		o 7			PIK3CA	
PIK3R1	S607/8	1.1	0.5	0.27	0.05	(S608)	Activation(S608)
Kit	S821	1.2	1.4	0.06	0.01	kit	Phosphorylation, activation
Kit	Y721	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01		Regulates cell growth , regulates apoptosis
	Y384/7						
RIPK1	/9	0.2	1.1	0.04	0.83		
ROCK2	\$1133/ 4/7	0.9	0.4	0.03	0.63		
ΙΚΚ-α	T23	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	Akt2	Regulate apoptosis, enzymatic activation
						GSK3B	
	T1227/					(T1227),	Regulates association with
mucin 1	9	0.5	0.4	0.19	0.07	Src(T1229)	cellular proteins(T1227/9)
							Regulates association with
PDGFRb	Y740	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01	PDGFRb	cellular proteins, activation
							Enzymatic activation(Y579/81),
	Y579/8					PDGFRb	regulates association with
PDGFRb	1	0.9	0.8	0.01	0.01	(Y579/81)	cellular proteins (Y579/81)
CSFR	Y809	0.7	0.7	0.01	0.01	CSFR	Regulates cell cycle, activation
							Activation, regulates association
CSFR	Y561	0.8	0.7	0.01	0.04	CSFR	with cellular proteins
							Regulates cell growth,
PPP2CA	T304	0.7	0.8	0.01	0.01		inhibition

							Enzymatic activation, inhibition
							, regulates association with
PTP1B	S50	1.3	1.1	0.01	0.01	CLK1, Akt1	cellular proteins
Nik	T559	1.0	0.9	0.01	0.01		
eNOS	S1176	0.9	1.3	0.46	0.71	AMPK1, Akt1	Enzymatic activation, activation
Grb10	S150	0.4	0.5	0.01	0.01	ERK2, ERK1	Inhibition
IFNGRI	Y479	0.9	0.6	0.85	0.06		
IENCD 1	V/57	()	2.4	0.01	0.01		Regulates association with
IFNGRI	145/ 872	0.3	3.4	0.01	0.01	INIZ 1	cellular proteins
Jun	5/5	0.9	1.1	0.04	0.01	JINKI INIKI and INIK2	
Juli	303	1.9	1.0	0.01	0.01	JINKI aliu JINKZ	Degulates coll avala regulates
							apoptosis cytoskeletal
							reorganization inhibition
							regulates association with
STMN1	S62	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	PKACa	cellular proteins
	~ ~ ~						Regulates cell cycle, regulates
							apoptosis, cytoskeletal
						PAK1,	reorganization, inhibition,
						PKACa,	regulates association with
STMN1	S15	1.1	0.9	0.01	0.02	CaMK4	cellular proteins
							Regulates cell cycle, enzymatic
CDK2	T160	0.9	0.6	0.15	0.01	CCRK	activation, activation
	T14/Y1						Inhibition (T14/Y15), regulates
CDK2	5	1.0	0.9	0.01	0.01	wee1(Y15)	cell cycle(Y15)
							Regulates cell cycle, enzymatic
							activation, altered intracellular
D-1-2	X402	1.0	0.0	0.01	0.01		location. Induce interaction with:
Pyk2	Y 402	1.0	0.9	0.01	0.01	CDV2 C4-2	SFC A stimution
CDK/	T11/U T296/9	0.7	0.9	0.10	0.01	UDK2, CdC2	Activation Drotain degradation(T286)
Cyclin D1	1200/0	1.0	0.9	0.01	0.01	IKK-0(1280)	Protein degradation(1280)
							regulates association with
p300	\$1834	0.9	11	0.01	0.01	Akt1	cellular proteins
p500	51054	0.7	1.1	0.01	0.01	7 Kt1	Regulates cell growth
							inhibition, regulates
						PKCA.	transcription, regulates
						AMPK1,	association with cellular
p300	S89	0.6	4.1	0.01	0.36	PKCD	proteins, activation
CD28	Y206/9	0.7	0.4	0.82	0.37		
HSP70	Y525	1.1	0.4	0.01	0.39		Altered intracellular location
						MAPKAPK2	
						(S82),	
	A A A A					Akt1(S82),	Activation, altered intracellular
HSP27	S82/83	0.5	0.9	0.39	0.34	PKD1(S82)	location, and more(S82/83)
EphA2	Y772	0.9	1.8	0.28	0.45		
EphA2	Y594	8.6	7.6	0.01	0.01		
EphA2	Y 388	0.9	1.3	0.50	0.39		
EpnAl	1/81	1.7	1.4	0.08	0.04	DVCA	Engranatio estimation alternal
n/7nhow	\$270	16	2.1	0.01	0.01	PKCA,	Enzymatic activation, altered
p4/pnox	5570 T154	4.0	3.1 0.4	0.01	0.01	PKCA	
рнорнох	1154	1./	0.4	0.01	0.01	INCA Hok Ivn Abl	Enzymatic activation regulates
WASP	Y291	12	03	0.45	0.05	Lek Ack	association with cellular protein
111101	14/1	1.4	0.5	0.75	0.05	LON, TON	association with contain protein

Syk	Y525/6	0.9	0.5	0.62	0.24	Syk(Y525/6)	Enzymatic activation(Y525/6)
Cot	S400	0.6	3.1	0.01	0.19	Akt1	regulates transcription
CaMK2a	T286	1.2	1.5	0.32	0.78	CaMK2-a	Enzymatic activation
smMLC							
K	S1773	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01		
MKP-1	S359	0.3	0.7	0.01	0.01		Protein stabilization
							Regulates association with
							cellular proteins, protein
MKP-1	S323	0.3	0.5	0.06	0.32	ERK3	degradation
							Regulates association with
MKD 1	5207	0.0	1.2	0.40	0.02	EDV2	cellular proteins, protein
MKP-1	S296	0.9	1.3	0.40	0.02	EKK2	degradation
PLCBI	5887	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01	PKCA(rat)	Innibition(rat)
DI CP1	1333/4/	0.8	1.2	0.01	0.01		
PLCDI	0	0.8	1.2	0.01	0.01		Pagulatas transcription
							regulates association with
BI NK	V96	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01	Syk	cellular proteins
DLIVIX	170	0.7	0.7	0.01	0.01	бук	Regulates transcription
							regulates association with
BLNK	Y72	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01	Svk	cellular proteins.
				0.02		~	Altered intracellular location,
							regulates association with
DAPP1	Y139	1.1	4.0	0.01	0.01		cellular proteins, activation.
RelB	S573	1.0	1.5	0.01	0.01		• · · · ·
APE1	S289	1.2	0.8	0.01	0.24		
	Y1054/					Tyk2	
Tyk2	5	1.2	0.5	0.10	0.07	(Y1054/5)	Enzymatic activation(Y1054/5)
						РКСВ, РКСА,	
						PKCI, PKCG,	
						PKCE, PKCZ,	
p70S6Kb	S473	1.1	0.9	0.02	0.11	PKCD	altered intracellular location
					0.01		Regulates transcription,
CXCR4	Y157	6.1	2.3	0.01	0.01		phosphorylation
CCR5	\$336/7	1.7	9.4	0.01	0.01	GRK3(S336/7)	receptor internalization(\$336/7)
CCDO	N/120	1.4	1.0	0.01	0.01	. 10	Regulates association with
CCR2	¥139	1.4	1.9	0.01	0.01	jak2	cellular proteins.
и 7р	V440	1.0	0.0	0.62	0.26		Regulates association with
	1449 697	1.0	0.0	0.03	0.20		
ILIA II 16	S07 S1/3//	1.2	0.9	0.01	0.01	EDK2(\$144) I	$\mathbf{D}\mathbf{K}1(\mathbf{S}144)$
1L-10	5145/4	1.2	0.4	0.00	0.00	EKK2(5144), 1	RRI(5144) Regulates cell growth regulates
II 4R	Y713	07	0.8	0 24	0.03		association with cellular proteins
IL 2RB	Y536	0.7	1.0	0.24	0.03	Lck	association with centular proteins
ILZIO	1550	0.7	1.0	0.20	0.02	Lek	Regulates association with
IL2RB	Y364	0.8	0.9	0.01	0.01		cellular proteins
IL-10R-	100.	010	017	0101	0101		
A	Y496	0.2	0.7	0.01	0.01		
	-						Regulates transcription and
ΙΚΚ-β	Y199	0.7	0.7	0.27	0.44	Src	activation
							Regulates transcription and
ΙΚΚ-β	Y188	0.4	1.1	0.56	0.01	Src	activation
HMGA1	T52	0.8	0.9	0.01	0.01		Regulates apoptosis
Lef1	S166	1.3	1.0	0.01	0.01		

Lef1	T155	1.0	12	0.01	0.01		
Lett	V200/2	1.0	1.2	0.01	0.01		
DOCK2	120912	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		
CPD CPD	12 \$2062	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		
CDP	52005	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		
DILL DI	TTA (20)	1.0	0.7	0.07	0.11	AIM, DNA-	
DNA-PK	12638	1.0	0.7	0.07	0.11	pk	Enzymatic inhibition
						ATM, DNA-	
DNA-PK	T2609	1.3	1.1	0.01	0.01	pk	enzymatic inhibition
							Regulates cell growth, regulates
							cell cycle, enzymatic activation,
PKR	T446	1.4	0.7	0.01	0.71	PKR	activation
Btk	Y550	2.7	1.1	0.54	0.10	syk, lyn, btk	Activation
Btk	Y222	1.0	1.8	0.01	0.01	syk, lyn, btk	Activation
ITK	Y512	0.8	0.4	0.01	0.01	Lck	Activation
	_						Regulates apontosis cytoskeletal
							reorganization altered
							intracellular location regulates
							cell adhesion regulates
							cell addression, regulates
EAV	V207	2.0	2.5	0.14	0.01	EAV	association with centural proteins
	1397	2.9	2.3	0.14	0.01		, protein degradation, activation
TAKI	5192	15.0	22.9	0.15	0.09		Activation
TAKI	1184	1.3	1.0	0.01	0.01	TABI	Activation
РКАСа	S338	3.9	2.5	0.02	0.02		
PKACa	T195/7	7.7	1.9	0.02	0.01		
Akt3	T447	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		
Akt3	S120	1.4	1.2	0.82	0.74		
							Regulates apoptosis,
Akt1	Y326	0.5	1.3	0.01	0.06	Src	transcription. Activation
Akt1	S129	1.1	0.5	0.60	0.25	CK2-A1	Enzymatic activation
ERK3	S189	13	2.1	0.05	0.21	ERK3	
ERK2	Y204	1.2	1.0	0.01	0.01	MFK1	
LINKZ	1204	1.2	1.0	0.01	0.01	Cot(T202/4)	
						COL(1202/4), MEV 1/2	
						(T202/4)	
						(1202/4), L sl-(T204)	A stimution (T202/4) an arrestic
EDK1	T202/4	1.0	1 1	0.01	0.01	LCK(1204),	Activation $(1202/4)$, enzymatic
EKKI	1202/4	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01	EKKI(1204)	activation (1202/4)
TBKI	S172	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01		Enzymatic activation
Jak3	Y981	1.0	3.5	0.01	0.01	Jak3	Enzymatic inhibition
	Y1007/						
Jak2	8	1.5	2.0	0.78	0.04	Jak2	Activation(Y1007/8)
	Y1022/						
Jak1	3	0.3	0.6	0.01	0.01	Jak3 (Y1022/3)	
JNK1	S377	1.1	1.2	0.01	0.01		
						Fyn, Lck,	Enzymatic activation,
p38-a	Y323	1.2	1.0	0.01	0.01	ZAP70	phosphorylation
1							Activation Enzymatic
	T179/Y					MKK3/6(T179	activation and more
n38-a	181	13	14	0.88	0.76	/Y181)	(T179/Y181)
P20 0	101	1.5	1.7	0.00	0.70	CSK3P	
ovin 1	\$186	3.0	20	0.02	0.01	(mouse)	Activation(mouse)
AAIII-1 Notob 2	5400	3.9	J.0	0.02	0.01	(mouse)	Activation(illouse)
Noten 2	52070	1.3	1.0	0.01	0.01		
Notch 2	11808	0.8	1.0	0.02	0.01		
GSK3-β	Y216	1.1	1.0	0.01	0.01	MEK1, GSK3B	
GSK3-β	S9	0.8	0.6	0.01	0.14	PKACa	Regulates apoptosis, inhibition,

	1				1	1	
							regulates cell adhesion,
							enzymatic inhibition
Elk-1	T417	0.9	0.9	0.01	0.01	PRP4	transcription
							Activation, regulates
Elk-1	S389	1.2	1.2	0.01	0.01	ERK1	transcription
							Altered intracellular location.
Fos	T232	0.2	0.2	0.05	0.01	ERK5. ERK2	activation
Casp8	\$347	3.4	2.8	0.01	0.01	p38-α	Regulates apoptosis inhibition
Casp3	S150	1.2	1.0	0.01	0.01	p38-a	Regulates apoptosis, inhibition
	\$568	0.2	0.2	0.01	0.01	p50 u	
IRAK-1	T397	1.0	0.2	0.01	0.01		
IIXAX-1	1307	1.0	1.1	0.01	0.01		Activation and require often
	0276	1 1	7.2	0.01	0.22		Activation and results after
IKAK-I	5370	1.1	7.3	0.01	0.22	IKAK-4	phosphorylation of 1209
	T2 00			0.01	0.01		Required for \$376
IRAK-1	1209	3.2	3.7	0.01	0.01	IRAK-1	phosphorylation
IRAK-1	T100	1.3	1.2	0.01	0.01	Akt1	regulates transcription
						CK1-A,	Altered intracellular location,
						MEKK1,	regulates apoptosis, regulates
FADD	S194	10.6	5.9	0.08	0.01	MKK7	cell cycle
							Regulates transcription,
HIF2A	T840	1.0	1.0	0.01	0.01		activation(mouse)
HIF1A	T796	3.0	9.2	0.01	0.01		
							Regulates apoptosis, protein
XIAP	S87	0.9	0.8	0.03	0.18	Akt2, Akt1	stabilization
BATF	T48	1.0	2.0	0.01	0.01	,	
							Altered intracellular
							location(\$163/5) regulates
NFAT4	\$163/5	0.2	0.5	0.01	0.01	INK2(\$163/5)	transcription(\$163/5)
111711+	5105/5	0.2	0.5	0.01	0.01	JIII 2(5105/5)	Inhibition altered intracellular
NEAT2	\$204	24	10	0.01	0.01	PKACa	location
INFAT2	5294	2.4	1.9	0.01	0.01	TRACa	Inhibition altered intracellular
NEAT2	\$245	0.0	1 1	0.01	0.01	DVACa	
NFAT2	5245	0.9	1.1	0.01	0.01	FRACa	location
NFAT1	S320	0.9	0.8	0.01	0.01		
NFATI	5168	0.9	0.8	0.01	0.01		
Smad4	1277	1.6	1.0	0.01	0.01		
	S422/3/						Regulates
Smad3	5	11.3	8.2	0.01	0.01		transcription(\$422/3/5)
							Inhibition, altered intracellular
Smad3	S208	2.8	4.2	0.22	0.38	ERK2	location, regulates transcription
							Regulates transcription, protein
							stabilization, regulates
							association with cellular
							proteins, activation. Induce
Smad2	S255	1.2	1.1	0.88	0.75	ERK2, ERK1	interaction with: Smad4
							Regulates transcription, protein
							stabilization, regulates
							association with cellular proteins
							, activation .Induce interaction
Smad2	T8	2.9	1.4	0.01	0.01	ERK1	with:Smad4
	S462/3/				0.01	BMPR1B	Activation, altered intracellular
Smad1	5	75	1.0	0.01	0.01	(\$462/3/5)	location, and more(\$462/3/5)
ATE-4	S245	1.0	0.8	0.01	0.01	RSK2	activation regulates cell growth
	0210	1.0	0.0	0.01	0.01	VRK1(T55)	Regulates transcription(T55)
						$n_{38-\alpha}(T_{51/3})$	protein stabilization (T51/3/5)
	T51/2/5	0.7	1.0	0.20	0.01	INK1(T51/2)	activation(T55)
ATT-2	1311313	0.7	1.0	0.29	0.01	JINIXI (15115)	